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Executive Summary 
 
This document is the Annual Report of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern 
¢ƛŜǊ 9ȄǘŜƴǎƛƻƴ wŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ όƘŜǊŜƛƴ ά{ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ 9ȄǘŜƴǎƛƻƴ wŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΣέ ά{¢9w!Σέ ƻǊ άǘƘŜ 
!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅέύΣ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎŀƭŜƴŘŀǊ ŀƴŘ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ŦƛǎŎŀƭ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘƛƴƎ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ омΣ нлм6. 
 
This Annual Report is prepared to ǎŀǘƛǎŦȅ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŜƴŀōƭƛƴƎ ƭŜƎƛǎƭŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ tǳōƭƛŎ 
Authorities Law, the Public Authorities Accountability Act, the Public Authorities Reform Act, and other 
relevant laws.  In all matters and in all of its corporate operations, STERA has attempted to operate in 
compliance with the requirements of these statutes.  
 
STERA intends that this Annual Report will be a public informational document providing information 
ŀōƻǳǘ {¢9w! ŀƴŘ {¢9w!Ωǎ activities during 2016.  This report is submitted to New York State, to the four 
affected New York State counties (Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Counties of New 
York State), to the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board, and to the Seneca 
Nation of Indians.  It also is publƛǎƘŜŘ ƻƴ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜ όwww.ccasstera.org), and is available directly 
from STERA.  
 
Corporate Operations 
 
In 2016, STERA continued its corporate operations, holding an active meeting calendar with all Board 
and committee meetings open to the public and properly noticed.  STERA held its annual meeting on 
June 6, 2016, with the election of Board Officers and Corporate Officers taking place at that meeting.  
The Board Officers (the Chairman, the Vice Chairman, and the Second Vice Chairman) and Corporate 
Officers (the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and the Secretary) elected at that annual 
meeting will hold office until the next annual meeting.  Board Officers and Corporate Officers are not 
employees of STERA and do not draw a salary from STERA.  (STERA Board members also do not draw a 
salary from STERA for their function as Board members.)  Board Officers are members of the STERA 
Board of Directors.  The Chief Executive Officer and the Secretary are not members of the STERA Board 
of Directors.  The Chief Financial Officer is a member of the STERA Board of Directors. 
 
During 2016, STERA experienced some leadership transition, as the Chief Financial Officer, who had left 
the Board as of December 31, 2015, was replaced by a successor elected in June 2016. 
 
STERAΩǎ Financial Condition 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜ ŀ decrease in net assets in 2016, primarily as a result of 
depreciation exceeding property improvements made to the rail lines owned by STERA.  Over time, 
when ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ƴƻƴπŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŦŀŎǘǎ, increases or decreases in net assets (the difference between 
assets and liabilities) are one indicator of the improvement or erosion, respectively, of an organizaǘƛƻƴΩǎ 
overall financial health.  During 2016, STERA had a negative net income, owing primarily to reduced 
capital project grant revenue.  However, cash flow was positive for 2016, reflecting timing differences 
related to revenues and expenditures on capital rehabilitation projects.  For additional detail, please see 
the Audited Financial Statements, included herein, beginning on page 17. 
 
In March 2017, STERA received a clean audit (unqualified opinion indicating no deficiencies in internal 
control) for the year ending December 31, 2016.  Please refer to the Audited Financial Statements, 
included herein, beginning on page 17. 

http://www.ccasstera.org/
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Railroad Operating Activity 
 
In 2016, railroad operating activity continued on both the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line and 
Buffalo Line, the two railroad lines with which STERA was actively involved during 2016.  During 2016, 
STERA was in title to the real estate assets on certain portions of both of these lines.  Norfolk Southern 
Corporation continued to operate on both lines under a lease arrangement with STERA, and Western 
New York & Pennsylvania Railroad, LLC continued to operate on both lines under a subπlease 
arrangement with Norfolk Southern Corporation.  In 2016, freight carload volumes decreased 16% from 
2015, in synch with the national depression in railroad volumes.  Of particular note is a reduction of 668 
carloads of petroleum distillates and a reduction of over 700 carloads of fracking sand in Pennsylvania.  
Carload volumes remained below historical maxima (both pre-STERA and duǊƛƴƎ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƻǿƴŜǊǎƘƛǇ 
periods).  STERA believes its overall goal of increased rail carload shipping volumes by all indications will 
be restored in 2017.  The longer term decrease in total system carload shipping volumes from historical 
maximums is a shortcoming that STERA hopes can be addressed in coming years. 

 
STERA Capital Project Activity 
 
The two railroad lineǎ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎƛƴƎ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ continue to experience ongoing deterioration as a 
result of the passage of time, freight traffic on the lines, and exposure to weather.  Additionally, a prior 
owner (Conrail) had deferred any maintenance on the line (and in fact had removed line assets for use 
elsewhere in its system) for over 25 years.  Accordingly, STERA has pursued a strategy of ongoing repair 
/ maintenance / mitigation / improvement of the railroad lines that it owns.  The cumulative effect of 
these STERA and Western New York & Pennsylvania Railroad, LLC (herein WNYP) improvement 
programs has been to restore all segments of the two railroad lines to service, to make needed repairs 
to enable the two lines to carry commercial freight in a safe and commercially viable fashion, to work 
toward increasing (and maintaining) traffic speeds toward 25 miles per hour on all of both lines (with 
some sections at 40 miles per hour, and also with exceptions being areas that occasionally are flagged 
for 10 mile service until repairs can be made), and to work toward developing a standard car weight 
capacity of the line at 286,000 pounds (i.e., the federal standard). 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ railroad line rehabilitation and improvement activities and other capital investment projects are 
limited by funding constraints at the state and federal government levels, and by matching funds 
availability.  (Matching funds for state/federal funds for construction projects typically are provided to 
STERA by the WNYP.) 
 
During calendar year 2016, STERA completed four rehabilitation projects that had been funded in a prior 
year, as follows: 
 

Capital Construction Projects Completed as of December 31, 2016 
 

A. FEMA Project 
 

As a result of a May 2014 storm event. STERA sustained storm damage at 47 locations in four 
New York State counties on the Southern Tier Extension railroad line. FEMA had declared a 
disaster in these counties (FEMA- 4180-DR-NY), which made STERA eligible for funding from 
FEMA and the NYS Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Services (DHSES) to assist 
in the repair of these damages, and to assist in the mitigation of additional damages that might 
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be caused by future storm events at certain specific locations. WNYP provided the remaining 
required matching funds. The project began in 2014, and all work was completed in 2015. As of 
December 31, 2016, STERA is in the process of closing this project out with FEMA. 

 
B. Bridge Rehab and Track Realignment Project 

 
STERA had received NYS DOT 2005 Bond Act funds for the realignment of track from a bridge 
that in recent years had been in service to an adjacent bridge that in recent years had not been 
in service. WNYP provided the required matching funds. This project is located in the Falconer 
area in Chautauqua County on the Southern Tier Extension line. The goal of the project was to 
improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. 
Further, the project was part of an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad line to a 286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The project replaced a 
bridge in need of major repair that had only a 273,000 pound per carload weight capacity with a 
bridge (the bridge placed back into service) that has a 315,000 pound per carload weight 
capacity (above the industry standard of 286,000 pounds); it was the last remaining 273,000 
pound-per-ŎŀǊƭƻŀŘ ōǊƛŘƎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƛƴŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ōŜƎŀƴ ƛƴ нлмоΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘΩǎ ǇǊƛƳŀǊȅ 
objectives have been completed; the realigned route and bridge crossing were placed back in 
service in November 2013. Secondary goals of installation of additional welded rail and 1,200 
ties and the improvement of a switch serving the RHI Monofrax siding in 2 Falconer also 
subsequently have been completed. Installation of 5,000 ties and ballast has been completed.  
STERA utilized all of the funds remaining that could be used within the geographic bounds of the 
original project scope.  As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 

 
C. Tie Installation and Grade Crossing Repair Project 

 
STERA had received NYS DOT PFRAP funds for the installation of 8,000 ties and the repair of four 
grade crossings on a section of the Buffalo line located between Olean and Portville 
(Cattaraugus County). WNYP provided the required matching funds. The goal of the project was 
to improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail 
service. Further, the project was part of an overall strategy to maintain the Buffalo line at a 
286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The project also will serve customers 
located on the Buffalo line in Pennsylvania. WNYP provided engineering, construction, and 
construction inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and 
inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP engaged one or more third party private sector 
construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction services under sub-contract to WNYP. 
All of the work on this project had been completed as of the end of 2015; however, additional 
project funds remained, and STERA received approval from NYS DOT to extend the project 
deadline through the end of 2016 so as to complete additional project work elements to better 
serve rail shippers on the line.  STERA used the extension and unspent funds to rehab four 
additional grade crossings on the Buffalo line north in the Olean area (Back Hinsdale Road, 
Oregon road, Haskell Road, and Promised Land Road), and install (approximately $25,000 of) 
additional ties.  As of the end of 2016, all work has been completed, and there should be less 
than $15,000 remaining of project funds.  As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout 
by NYS DOT. 

 
D. Cattaraugus County Rail Rehabilitation Project 

 



 

Page 4 

STERA had received NYS DOT PFRAP Act funds for tie replacement, track alignment, and grade 
crossing and turnout rehabilitation between Olean and Killbuck in Cattaraugus County, NY on 
the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line. WNYP provided the required matching funds. The 
project involved the replacement of 10,000 ties, the installation of approximately 12,000 tons of 
ballast, the raising/surfacing/aligning of track and turnouts, the rehabilitation of three at-grade 
crossings, and the rehabilitation of eleven turnouts along 12 linear miles of railroad line 
between Olean and Killbuck. The goal of the project was to improve safety and track speeds, 
which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. Further, the project was part of an 
overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension Railroad line to a 286,000 lb. capacity 
specification for 4- axle rail cars. WNYP provided engineering, construction, and construction 
inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and inspection review by 
NYS DOT). WNYP engaged one or more third party private sector construction contractor(s) to 
provide certain construction services under subcontract to WNYP. All project work has been 
completed. As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, STERA had one active rehabilitation project, as follows: 
 

Capital Construction Projects Active as of December 31, 2016 
 

A. Track and Bridge Rehabilitation Project 
 

In August 2015, STERA had submitted an application to NYS DOT for PFRAP grant funds, with 
matching funds to be provided by WNYP. The project would involve replacing 8,000 linear feet 
of welded rail in Carrolton in Cattaraugus County, and repairing three bridges in Jamestown, one 
bridge in Salamanca, and one bridge in Olean. All work except the Olean bridge is to be done on 
the Southern Tier Extension; the Olean bridge is on the Buffalo line. The goal of the project is to 
improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. 
Further, the project is part of an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad and Buffalo lines to a 286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The bridge 
repairs specifically are intended to improve safety related to bridge integrity (reducing impacts 
ƻƴ ǇŜŘŜǎǘǊƛŀƴǎκƘƛƎƘǿŀȅ ǾŜƘƛŎƭŜǎύΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǿƛǘƘ ²b¸t ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
provision of engineering, construction, and construction inspection services on this contract 
(augmented by engineering review and inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP may engage one 
or more third party private sector construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction 
services under sub-contract to WNYP; interested potential subcontractors may contact STERA 
and/or WNYP directly. In late 2016, STERA received a contract from NYS DOT funding a portion 
of the project. The proposed timeline for the project is that the project will begin in 2017, and 
be completed in 2017. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, STERA had two proposed capital projects, including one rehabilitation project 
and one new construction project, as follows: 
 

Capital Construction Projects Currently Proposed as of December 31, 2015 
 

A. Olean Enginehouse and Yard Improvement Project 
 

In late 2016, STERA submitted a grant application to NYS DOT for the 2016 PFRAP funding cycle. 
The project would involve improvements to the enginehouse in the Olean yard, installation of a 
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yard video security system, the installation of 6,000 6x8 ties in the Olean yard, and the 
replacement of 8 switches in the Olean yard.  The work would be done on the Southern Tier 
Extension Line. The goal of the project is to improve safety and track speeds within the Olean 
Yard, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. Further, the project is part of 
an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension Railroad and Buffalo lines to a 
286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The enginehouse improvements specifically 
are intended to improve safety and productivity related to operations within the enginehouse. 
¢ƘŜ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘȅ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ƛǎ ƛƴǘŜƴŘŜŘ ǘƻ ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ǎŀŦŜǘȅ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŘǳŎŜ ǾŀƴŘŀƭƛǎƳΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ 
intention is to contract directly with WNYP for the provision of engineering, construction, and 
construction inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and 
inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP may engage one or more third party private sector 
construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction services under sub-contract to WNYP; 
interested potential subcontractors may contact STERA and/or WNYP directly. If funded, the 
proposed timeline for the project is that the project will begin in 2017, and be completed in 
2017. 

 
B. Proposed Transload Facility Project 

 
In March, 2006, the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board, using 
funding provided by NYSDOT, USDOC EDA, and WNYP, began a feasibility and site selection 
study relating to the phased construction and operation of rail-highway freight transfer facility 
to be located somewhere along the NYS 3 portion of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line. 
The first phase was to involve construction of a transload facility, with potential future phases if 
justified by freight volume and market demand, to involve satellite marine terminal/inland port 
designation, intermodal container operations, and a nearby business or industrial park 
development. The study demonstrated commercial viability for the first phase transload facility 
and also recommended location of the transload facility at the WNYP rail yard in Allegany, New 
York (Cattaraugus County). This study report is available at 
www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm. In January 2009, the Southern Tier West 
RP&DB, as part of the feasibility and site selection study project, undertook a preliminary 
engineering study for the construction of the proposed transload facility at the Allegany NY rail 
yard site. This engineering report, along with technical appendices, is available at 
www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm. Based upon these studies and the express 
indication by NYS DOT that it would encourage and help fund the construction of the first phase 
transload facility, STERA would like to undertake the project, either by (a) constructing and 
owning the facility, with operation to be leased to a third party private sector company to be 
selected at a later date, or by (b) work with a private developer that would construct and either 
ƻǿƴκƻǇŜǊŀǘŜ ƻǊ ƻǿƴκƭŜŀǎŜ ǘƘŜ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ǎŜŎǘƻǊ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƻǊΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ƛǎ ǘƻ 
build the transload facility in phases, as construction funds became available. STERA is currently 
in the process of seeking funding to undertake the construction of the first phase transload 
facility. When STERA obtains construction funds, it will procure engineering consulting services, 
undertake environmental analysis, secure site control, undertake engineering/design, and begin 
ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴΦ {¢9w! ǿƛƭƭ ƴƻǘ ƛǎǎǳŜ wCtΩǎ ŦƻǊ ŀƴȅ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ-related services until funding is in hand 
for this project. 

 
 

http://www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm
http://www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm
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Description of the Authority 
 
STERA is a local public authority created by the State of New York in 2000 in response to home rule 
resolutions passed by the Legislatures of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Counties of 
New York State.  STERA is comprised of a 14 person Board of Directors.  Three directors are appointed 
by each of the four counties, one director is appointed by the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and 
Development Board, and one director is appointed by the Seneca Nation of Indians.  The director 
appointed by the Seneca Nation of Indians is a non-voting member, the only such non-voting member. 
 
This Annual Report contains extensive information about the AuthorityΣ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Board of 
Directors, the Authority Board officers and corporate officers (including biographical information), the 
structure of the organization (including committees, subsidiaries and affiliates), and the programs and 
projects of the Authority.  STERA has no subsidiaries or affiliates. 
 
Copies of the STERA enabling legislation, corporate bylaws, press releases, meeting agendas and 
minutes, corporate policies, financial statements and reports, and other relevant documents may be 
ŦƻǳƴŘ ŀǘ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ http://www.ccasstera.org.  These documents also are available 
directly from STERA.  Certain of these documents also are included in this Annual Report. 
 
The mission of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad 

Authority is to fulfill the purpose for which it was created by the New York State Legislature and to 

achieve its self-prescribed goals.  

A. The purpose of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad Authority, as indicated by the New York State Legislature in creating it, is "to preserve 
and enhance the system of railroads serving Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 
Counties in NYS and Warren and Erie Counties in the Commonwealth of PA, so as to insure a 
healthy economy for these counties." 

B. The goals of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad Authority are to encourage an operating railroad that provides adequate rail service, to 
increase rail shipping carload volumes, to catalyze opportunities for additional business 
expansion and development based on rail service, to achieve improved functional performance 
of the rail lines through rehabilitation efforts, to encourage safe railroad operations, and to 
achieve a clean audit report and NYS ABO compliance report.  

 
This Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Ǝƻŀƭǎ ŀƴŘ also provides standards for future 
performance measurement and evaluation.  This Annual Report contains a more detailed discussion in 
this area, including a formal statement of the mission (purpose and goals), a list of stakeholders and 
their expectations, and a statement of measurement standards for self-evaluation of performance by 
STERA.  This Annual Report also includes a Self-Evaluation Report for the year ending December 31, 
2016, prepared by STERA using these measurements standards. 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ currently focus on two short line railroads:  the Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad Line and the Buffalo Line.  In the future, however, STERA hopes to broaden its perspective 
toward, if not its active involvement with, the other short lines and main lines operating in the 
southwestern New York region. 
 

http://www.ccasstera.org/
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¢ƘŜ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ 9ȄǘŜƴǎƛƻƴ wŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ [ƛƴŜ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƛƴ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƴŀƳŜ ƛǎ ŀ мпр-mile long rail line ï the 
former Erie Lackawanna mainline ï that runs between Corry, Pennsylvania and Hornell, New York.  The 
Southern Tier Extension has interconnections with other rail lines at each end and at various points 
along the line.  The Southern Tier Extension provides direct service to the Cities of Corry, Jamestown, 
Salamanca, Olean, and Hornell, and the Village of Wellsville and other smaller villages and towns along 
the line. 
 
The Buffalo Line is a 40-mile long rail line that runs between Machias Junction in Cattaraugus County, 
New York and the Pennsylvania State line at Portville, New York.  The Buffalo Line also has 
interconnections with other rail lines at each end.  The Buffalo Line serves the City of Olean and other 
smaller villages and towns along the line in New York. 
 
The Southern Tier Extension Line and the Buffalo Line interchange in Olean. 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴ ǿŀǎ predicated on a memorandum of agreement executed in June 1998 by Southern Tier 
West Regional Planning and Development Board, New York State Department of Transportation, Norfolk 
Southern Corporation, and Pennsylvania Lines LLC.  This agreement was the product of years of study 
and evaluation of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line by the four New York State counties, 
followed by approval of the strategy embodied in the agreement by the property taxing jurisdictions 
(counties, cities, villages, towns, school districts) in New York State in which the railroad right of way is 
located.  The line was mostly dormant in the years immediately prior to 1998, with only 40 miles in 
service, one customer, and less than 75 carloads of traffic per year.  At that time, and for years before 
1998, the line had been expected to be formally abandoned by its then-owner Conrail soon after 
/ƻƴǊŀƛƭΩǎ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ b¸{ 5h¢ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ŀǎ-needed service on the line expired in 1998.  It was further 
expected that upon formal abandonment, Conrail would remove the rail, ties, switches, ballast, and 
other physical assets and salvage them for scrap.  Should this have come to pass, simple economics 
dictated that an operating railroad line never would be re-installed on the Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad right of way. 
 
The June 1998 memorandum of understanding was intended to provide a framework that not only 
allowed for the salvation of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad line from abandonment, but also 
guaranteed a minimum level of operating service and catalyzed the return of the line to active local and 
mainline through service.  To summarize certain salient features of the June 1998 agreement, the 
agreement provides that the ownership of the physical real estate capital assets of the railroad ς the 
land, track, ballast, switches, sidings, grade crossings, etc. ς would be transferred by Norfolk Southern 
Corporation to an entity to be created (i.e., what eventually would become STERA) for a term of years, 
after which ownership would revert to Norfolk Southern.  During the period of ownership by STERA, 
Norfolk Southern would lease operating rights from STERA, in order to be able to operate trains on the 
railroad line.  Further, the agreement provided that during this period of years, Norfolk Southern agreed 
to provide service on the line and undertake certain maintenance duties on the line.  Ownership by 
STERA (a tax exempt local public authority) would mean that there would be no property taxes paid on 
the line ς this element was agreed to by all of the affected taxing jurisdictions ς but Norfolk Southern 
agreed to pay an escalating payment in lieu of taxes (i.e., a PILOT payment) to STERA in the last several 
ȅŜŀǊǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƻǿƴŜǊǎƘƛǇΦ  ¢ƘŜ ŀōŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǊŜŀƭ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ǘŀȄŜǎ ǿŀǎ a necessary inducement to Norfolk 
Southern to keep the line in place as a functioning railroad line, and the primary reason for creating and 
involving STERA.  The rationale was that the abatement of taxes would ƭƻǿŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǊŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƻǊΩǎ 
operating costs, providing an incentive for the railroad operator to operate the line and build traffic on 
the line.  The former owner of the railroad line, Conrail, had considered the line redundant to its 
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Pennsylvania mainline, and when Norfolk Southern obtained ownership of both lines, Norfolk Southern 
faced this same redundancy.  This was the reason that the four counties expected Norfolk Southern to 
formally abandon the line when it was to become legally empowered to do so in 1998, after acquiring 
/ƻƴǊŀƛƭΩǎ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ.  By removing the property tax burden to Norfolk Southern, total ownership costs were 
low enough that it was possible to conceive of operating advantages, including new freight traffic, which 
could be obtained by aggressively operating the line. 
 
A secondary reason for involving STERA in the strategy to save and resuscitate the Southern Tier 
Extension Railroad line ǿŀǎ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŜƭƛƎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ǊŜŎŜƛǾƛƴƎ {ǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ CŜŘŜǊŀƭ ƎǊŀƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ ƭƛƴŜΦ  ¢ƘŜ ǊŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ ƭƛƴŜΩǎ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ ƻǿƴŜǊΣ /ƻƴǊŀƛƭΣ ƘŀŘ not done any maintenance on the line 
for 25 years, and in fact, at certain locations on the line Conrail actually had removed assets from the 
line (e.g., switches, signals, etc.), using them elsewhere in its system.  Conrail had effectively shut down 
service and operations on other sections of the line, and those sections then fell into a state of disrepair 
so significant that service could not be offered on those sections even if Conrail had wanted to offer it.  
So another rationale for the 1998 agreement was the ability to utilize the public-private partnership 
between Norfolk Southern and STERA to rehabilitate the railroad line so that it was in good operating 
condition. 
 
As was indicated above, STERA was created by the State of New York in 2000 to implement the intent of 
the 1998 memorandum of understanding.  The transfer of ownership from Norfolk Southern to STERA 
and the lease of operating rights to Norfolk Southern by STERA both were consummated in February 
2001, and in April 2001, Norfolk Southern sub-leased its operating rights to the Western New York & 
Pennsylvania Railroad Company LLC (WNYP), retaining the authority to operate trains on the line itself.  
Under the terms of the sub-lease, the obligation to provide service and maintenance and to make 
operating payments was transferred to WNYP.  Per the terms of the original 1998 agreement, the ability 
to sell or lease any portion of the real estate assets was retained by Norfolk Southern (and a limited 
form of this right was transferred to WNYP in the sub-lease agreement).  Accordingly, STERA does not 
have any rights to undertake real property transfers of any part of the line. 
 
In February 2007, STERA approved the extension of the east-west line abatement through 2016, with 
the PILOT due in 2009, 2010 and 2011 being shifted to 2014, 2015, and 2016, at 33%, 66%, and 100% of 
taxes due per New York State wŜŀƭ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ¢ŀȄ [ŀǿΣ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ пΣ ¢ƛǘƭŜǎ нπ! ŀƴŘ нπ., which had become law 
since the execution of the 1998 memorandum of understanding, and which reduced real estate taxes on 
all rail lines in New York State through a series of adjustments to the statutory formula for calculating 
railroad tax ceilings.  At the same time, STERA approved entering into a similar sale and leaseback 
transaction with Norfolk Southern Corporation on the north-south Buffalo Line between Machias 
Junction and the Pennsylvania state line, with an abatement through 2016, with a PILOT in 2014, 2015, 
and 2016 at 33%, 66%, and 100% of taxes, under the condition that Norfolk Southern enter into a long 
term sub-lease of that line with WNYP.  This arrangement on the Buffalo Line was implemented as an 
amendment of the 1998 MOU.  An additional provision contained in this amendment agreement was an 
increase in the annual administrative fee paid by Norfolk Southern Corporation to STERA from $20,000 
to $40,000.  The federal Surface Transportation Board approved the north-south line arrangement, and 
WNYP began operating trains on the north-south line in early August 2007.  The Buffalo Line serves the 
City of Olean and the Villages of Franklinville and Portville and the various towns that it traverses.  The 
line continues south into Pennsylvania, where it serves a substantial customer base.  Norfolk Southern 
leases operation of the Pennsylvania section ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǳŦŦŀƭƻ ƭƛƴŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǘƻ ²b¸tΦ  {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜƳŜƴǘ 
in ownership of the Pennsylvania section of the Buffalo line was not needed since railroad real estate is 
not taxed in Pennsylvania.  Since WNYP began operations of the Buffalo Line, the Pennsylvania section 
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of the line has been the source and/or destination of most of the freight traffic on the two lines under 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ŀǳǎǇƛŎŜǎΦ   
 
In May 2013, STERA approved an extension of the real estate property tax abatement term on both the 
Southern Tier Extension line and the Buffalo line for an additional 15 years, to expire in 2028.  The 
abatement extension agreement provides for no (i.e., $0) Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) payments, 
but does continue the $40,000 annual administrative fee paid by Norfolk Southern Railway Company 
(the successor party to the 1998 MOU) to STERA.  (Norfolk Southern Railway CompanyΩǎ ǎǳō-lease with 
the Western New York & Pennsylvania Railroad, LLC, or WNYP, transfers the obligation for this $40,000 
annual payment from Norfolk Southern Railway Company to WNYP.)  The abatement extension 
agreement was executed by both STERA and Norfolk Southern Railway Company and became effective 
on June 17, 2013.  One implication of this action is that STERA projects to be in title to the railroad real 
estate on both lines at least through 2028. 
 
STERA essentially is a financially self-supporting public corporation that receives no tax revenues from 
any state or local jurisdiction and has no legal authority to tax.  For its operating revenue, STERA relies 
for its operating revenue almost entirely on administrative revenue generated from capital 
rehabilitation grants from State and Federal sources, plus the ongoing $40,000 annual administrative fee 
paid by WNYP for the Southern Tier Extension and Buffalo lines. 
 

{¢9w!Ωǎ .ƻŀǊŘ elects Board Officers and Corporate Officers.  Board Officers include the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman, and Second Vice Chairman.  Corporate Officers include the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief 
Financial Officer (the Treasurer), and the Secretary.  The Corporate Officers are responsible for carrying 
out {¢9w!Ωǎ policies and managing {¢9w!Ωǎ day-to-day operations.  Neither the Board nor the Corporate 
Officers are STERA employees, and the Board Officers and Corporate Officers receive no direct salary 
from STERA.  In fact, STERA does not have any direct employees, and contracts with the Southern Tier 
West Regional Planning and Development Board for staffing, administrative services, and meeting space.  
{¢9w!Ωǎ ǇƭŀŎŜ ƻŦ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ has the same address as that of the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and 
Development Board in Salamanca, New York, and STERA normally meets in the offices of the Southern 
Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board. 
 
The following is the legal address of the Rail Authority: 
 

Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany & Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 
Center for Regional Excellence 
4039 Route 219, Suite 200 
Salamanca, New York 14779 

 
STERA maintains a web site located at http://www.ccasstera.org.  The web site is a resource for 
information regarding the Authority. 
 
STERA may be contacted by telephone at 716-945-5301.  Ask the switchboard operator for STERA, or for 
one of the contact people listed below, or dial their extensions (indicated below) directlyΦ  {¢9w!Ωǎ ŦŀȄ 
number is 716-945-5550. 
 
Those wishing to contact the Rail Authority are encouraged to contact the railroad contacts on staff at 
the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board.  As noted above, Southern Tier West 
provides staffing and administrative services to the Rail Authority.  {¢9w!Ωǎ /9h ŀƴŘ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ {ŜŎǊŜǘŀǊȅ 

http://www.ccasstera.org/
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currently are Southern Tier West employees.  Primary contact information for the Southern Tier West 
staff that work with STERA is as follows: 
 

Richard T. Zink, STERA Chief Executive Officer, Contracts Officer, Records Management Officer, and 
Records Access Officer 
rzink@southerntierwest.org 
716-945-5301 x 2203 
 
Thomas M. Barnes, STERA Corporate Secretary 
tbarnes@southerntierwest.org 
716-945-5301 x 2209 
 
Contractual Administrative Services Affiliate Organization: 
 

Southern Tier West Regional Planning & Development Board 
Center for Regional Excellence 
4039 Route 219, Suite 200 
Salamanca, New York 14779 

 

mailto:rzink@southerntierwest.org
mailto:tbarnes@southerntierwest.org
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Operations and Accomplishments  
 
Operations 
 
In 2016, STERA continued its corporate operations, holding an active meeting calendar with all Board 
and committee meetings open to the public and properly noticed.  The Authority held four (4) scheduled 
meetings of its Board of Directors during 2016.  The full STERA Board met on March 7, 2016; June 6, 
2016; October 3, 2016; and December 5, 2016.  Minutes of these meetings may be found on the 
!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜΦ  Documents to be discussed at these meetings were made available to the public in 
ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜΦ 
 
STERA held its annual meeting on June 6, 2016, with the election of Board Officers and Corporate 
Officers taking place at that meeting. 
 
The STERA Audit Committee was scheduled to meet on three occasions.  Two (2) of these meetings, 
scheduled to be held on March 7, 2016 and December 5, 2016, were not held due to a lack of a quorum; 
it were not re-scheduled.  As a consequence, the Committee met on one occasion (June 6, 2016). 
 
The STERA Governance Committee was scheduled to meet on two occasions, and met on these two 
dates (March 7, 2016 and June 6, 2016). 
 
The STERA Executive Committee also was scheduled to meet on one occasion (March 7, 2016), but this 
meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum, and was not re-scheduled. 
 
All of these committee meetings were properly noticed and open to the public.  Agendas and minutes of 
these meetings Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ŦƻǳƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜΦ  Documents to be discussed at these 
ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ǿŜǊŜ ƳŀŘŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ƛƴ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜΦ 
 
STERA has not created a Finance Committee inasmuch as it has not issued any debt since inception in 
2000. 
 
 
Following are highlights of the various Board and committee meetings held during 2016, listed 
chronologically: 
 
March 7, 2016 Governance Committee meeting 

The Committee: 

¶ Reviewed ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ policies, and recommended to the Board that it (a) approve all current 
policies as is and (b) make a finding that the Authority was in compliance with each policy. 

¶ Reviewed and discussed certain operating reports, and recommended to the Board that it approve 
the reviewed reports. 

¶ Reviewed and discussed Authority structural, governance and operating policies and activities, and 
ƳŀŘŜ ŀ ŦƛƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ōŜƛƴƎ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ 
ŀǊŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴ ƎǳƛŘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴŀƴce and operations, and 
recommended to the Board that it make no changes to the Authorities governance and operating 
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policies and procedures, but should consider addressing the results of the annual Board Self 
Evaluation process. 

 
March 7, 2016 Board of Directors meeting 

The Board: 

¶ Received a presentation by the independent auditor of the draft audit and accompanying 
management letter for the year ending December 31, 2015.  The audit indicated an unqualified 
opinion and did not indicate the presence of any deficiencies ƛƴ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ 
or any compliance issues for the year ending December 31, 2015.  After discussion, the Board 
accepted and approved the audit for the year ending December 31, 2015 and the accompanying 
management letter. 

¶ ApǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘΦ 

¶ Reviewed ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ policies, and (a) approved all current policies as is and (b) made a finding 
that the Authority was in compliance with each policy. 

¶ Reviewed and approved certain operating reports. 

¶ Reviewed and discussed Authority structural, governance and operating policies and activities, and 
ƳŀŘŜ ŀ ŦƛƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ōŜƛƴƎ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ 
ŀǊŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴ ƎǳƛŘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜǊŀǘions, and made no 
changes to the Authorities governance and operating policies and procedures. 

¶ Heard a detailed Management Report on WNYP RR operations provided by Carl Belke, President and 
Chief Operating Officer of the WNYP RR.  Specific elements of the reports included discussion of the 
status of certain municipal projects, freight flow and traffic levels, WNYP projects, and STERA 
projects. 

¶ Noted that the litigation status has not changed. 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŦƛǾŜ όрύ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ Ǌŀƛƭ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘion construction projects. 

¶ Appointed a nominating committee to prepare a slate of Board and Corporate Officers for election 
at the June 2016 Annual Meeting. 

 
June 6, 2016 Audit Committee meeting 

The Committee: 

¶ wŜǾƛŜǿŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘΣ ƛƴǘŜǊƛƳ Ŧƛƴŀƴcial statements, and bank statements, and 
recommended that the Board approve them. 

 
June 6, 2016 Governance Committee meeting 

The Committee: 

¶ Reviewed and discussed the annual Financial Disclosure and Ethics Report, and made a finding that 
the Authority had no ethics issues during 2015, and recommended that the Board make a finding 
that the Authority had no ethics issues during 2015 and adopt the report. 

 
June 6, 2016 Board of Directors meeting 

This was the Annual Meeting.  The Board: 
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¶ Elected Board and Corporate Officers. 

¶ !ǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘΦ 

¶ Reviewed and discussed the annual Financial Disclosure and Ethics Report, and made a finding that 
the Authority had no ethics issues during 2015, and adopted the report. 

¶ Heard a detailed Management Report on WNYP RR operations provided by Carl Belke, President and 
Chief Operating Officer of the WNYP RR.  Specific elements of the reports included discussion of the 
status of certain municipal projects, freight flow and traffic levels, WNYP projects, and STERA 
projects. 

¶ Noted that the litigation status has not changed. 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŦƛǾŜ όрύ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ Ǌŀƛƭ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎΦ 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ ¢ǊŀŎƪ ŀƴŘ .ǊƛŘƎŜ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ tǊƻƧŜŎǘΦ  b¸{ 5h¢ ƘŀŘ ƴƻǘ 
yet made funding decisions on the projects submitted requesting these funds. 

¶ Discussed a proposed Olean Yard project, undertaking SEQRA review and issuing a negative 
declaration, naming WNYP as prime contractor for the project, and authorizing submission of an 
application to NYS DOT for funding for the project.  NYS DOT funds would be matched by WNYP 
funds. 

 
October 3, 2016 Board of Directors meeting 

The Board: 

¶ !ǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ. 

¶ Approved the budget for 2017. 

¶ Approved the four year financial plan for 2017 to 2020. 

¶ Heard a detailed Management Report on WNYP RR operations provided by Carl Belke, President and 
Chief Operating Officer of the WNYP RR.  Specific elements of the reports included discussion of the 
status of certain municipal projects, freight flow and traffic levels, WNYP projects, and STERA 
projects. 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŦƛǾŜ όрύ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ Ǌŀƛƭ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎΦ 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ ¢ǊŀŎƪ ŀƴŘ .ǊƛŘƎŜ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ tǊƻƧŜŎǘΦ  b¸{ 5h¢ ƘŀŘ 
recently provided STERA a contract for the project. 

¶ Discussed the proposed Olean Yard project, revising the scope of the project, undertaking a SEQRA 
review for the revised project and issuing a negative declaration, naming WNYP as prime contractor 
for the project, and authorizing submission of an application to NYS DOT for funding for the project.  
NYS DOT funds would be matched by WNYP funds. 

 
December 5, 2016 Board of Directors meeting 

The Board: 

¶ !ǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘΣ ŀƴŘ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ǇŀȅƛƴƎ for D&O insurance. 

¶ Heard a detailed Management Report on WNYP RR operations provided by Carl Belke, President and 
Chief Operating Officer of the WNYP RR.  Specific elements of the reports included discussion of the 
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status of certain municipal projects, freight flow and traffic levels, WNYP projects, and STERA 
projects. 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ six (6) current rail rehabilitation construction projects. 

¶ 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ Olean Yard Project.  NYS DOT had not yet made a funding 
award decision for the project. 

¶ Set meeting dates for 2017. 
 
Compliance 
 
During the year, STERA continued the ongoing process of compliance with the Public Authorities Law, 
the Public Authorities Accountability Act, the 2009 Public Authorities Reform Act, and other relevant 
laws and regulations. 
 
Rail Freight Traffic Volume 
 

With respect to rail operations on the two lines with which STERA is actively involved, mainline 
(through) and local freight volume on the Southern Tier Extension line in 2016 each continued 
to be down from their historical maxima (combined maximum of 54,000 carloads per year 
experienced several years prior, which was up from 75 carloads per year prior to takeover in 
2001).  Coal and other overhead traffic have been eliminated by Norfolk Southern Corporation.  
bƻǊŦƻƭƪ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴΩǎ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŜƭƛƳƛƴŀǘŜ ƻǾŜǊƘŜŀŘ Ŏƻŀƭ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎ Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ 
factors, including national economic conditions, the closure of coal-fired power plants, and the 
relative price disadvantage that coal occupies relative to natural gas.  Freight volume decreased 
16% from 2015 to 2016 across the STERA system in synch with the national depression in railroad 
volumes.  Of particular note is a reduction of 668 carloads of petroleum distillates destined to the 
ǊŀƛƭǊƻŀŘΩǎ ƭŀǊƎŜǎǘ Ŏustomer, International Wax Group.  ¢Ƙƛǎ ǿŀǎ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊΩǎ ƛƴŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ 
source needed feed stock due to a large reduction of refining activity in early 2016.  Additionally, 
fracking sand activity was reduced by over 700 carloads due to a pullback of oil and gas well activity in 
northern Pennsylvania.  For 2017, local freight traffic is projected to be somewhat above the 6,956 
carloads in 2016, attributable to increased aggregate shipping, increased frack sand unloading activity, 
and an already realized rebound of wax refinery traffic along the Buffalo Line.  Both Monofrax and Bush 
Industries in the Jamestown area are projecting strong rail activity in 2017.  The carrier is changing 
routing of certain segments of traffic enroute to Meadville, PA so that it will now traverse the Southern 
Tier Extension Line.  This is caused by a weight restricted bridge on the Norfolk Southern system near 
Ohio and the need to provide Meadville customers with 286K gross carloadings.  This should add 
approximately 500 car loads across the Extension Line. 
 

Total carloads for the entire system: 
 
2015    Carloads  Notes      
Overhead Freight       116  όŀƭƭ {¢9 9ŀǎǘπ²Ŝǎǘ ƳŀƛƴƭƛƴŜ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎύ  
Local Freight   3,524    Southern Tier Extension line  
    4,682    Buffalo line  
      8.206  Total local freight  
Total      8,322  Total system  
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2016    Carloads  Notes      
Overhead Freight       156  όŀƭƭ {¢9 9ŀǎǘπ²Ŝǎǘ ƳŀƛƴƭƛƴŜ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎύ  
Local Freight   1,598    Southern Tier Extension line  
    5,202    Buffalo line  
      6,800  Total local freight  
Total      6,956  Total system  
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Projects Underway and Undertaken in the Past Year (Completed and Active Projects) 
 
During calendar year 2016, STERA continued or completed several rehabilitation projects that had been 
funded in a prior year. 
 

Capital Construction Projects Completed as of December 31, 2016 
 

A. FEMA Project 
 

As a result of a May 2014 storm event. STERA sustained storm damage at 47 locations in four 
New York State counties on the Southern Tier Extension railroad line. FEMA had declared a 
disaster in these counties (FEMA- 4180-DR-NY), which made STERA eligible for funding from 
FEMA and the NYS Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Services (DHSES) to assist 
in the repair of these damages, and to assist in the mitigation of additional damages that might 
be caused by future storm events at certain specific locations. WNYP provided the remaining 
required matching funds. The project began in 2014, and all work was completed in 2015. As of 
December 31, 2016, STERA is in the process of closing this project out with FEMA. 

 
B. Bridge Rehab and Track Realignment Project 

 
STERA had received NYS DOT 2005 Bond Act funds for the realignment of track from a bridge 
that in recent years had been in service to an adjacent bridge that in recent years had not been 
in service. WNYP provided the required matching funds. This project is located in the Falconer 
area in Chautauqua County on the Southern Tier Extension line. The goal of the project was to 
improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. 
Further, the project was part of an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad line to a 286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The project replaced a 
bridge in need of major repair that had only a 273,000 pound per carload weight capacity with a 
bridge (the bridge placed back into service) that has a 315,000 pound per carload weight 
capacity (above the industry standard of 286,000 pounds); it was the last remaining 273,000 
pound-per-ŎŀǊƭƻŀŘ ōǊƛŘƎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƛƴŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ōŜƎŀƴ ƛƴ нлмоΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘΩǎ ǇǊƛƳŀǊȅ 
objectives have been completed; the realigned route and bridge crossing were placed back in 
service in November 2013. Secondary goals of installation of additional welded rail and 1,200 
ties and the improvement of a switch serving the RHI Monofrax siding in 2 Falconer also 
subsequently have been completed. Installation of 5,000 ties and ballast has been completed.  
STERA utilized all of the funds remaining that could be used within the geographic bounds of the 
original project scope.  As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 

 
C. Tie Installation and Grade Crossing Repair Project 

 
STERA had received NYS DOT PFRAP funds for the installation of 8,000 ties and the repair of four 
grade crossings on a section of the Buffalo line located between Olean and Portville 
(Cattaraugus County). WNYP provided the required matching funds. The goal of the project was 
to improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail 
service. Further, the project was part of an overall strategy to maintain the Buffalo line at a 
286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The project also will serve customers 
located on the Buffalo line in Pennsylvania. WNYP provided engineering, construction, and 
construction inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and 
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inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP engaged one or more third party private sector 
construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction services under sub-contract to WNYP. 
All of the work on this project had been completed as of the end of 2015; however, additional 
project funds remained, and STERA received approval from NYS DOT to extend the project 
deadline through the end of 2016 so as to complete additional project work elements to better 
serve rail shippers on the line.  STERA used the extension and unspent funds to rehab four 
additional grade crossings on the Buffalo line north in the Olean area (Back Hinsdale Road, 
Oregon road, Haskell Road, and Promised Land Road), and install (approximately $25,000 of) 
additional ties.  As of the end of 2016, all work has been completed, and there should be less 
than $15,000 remaining of project funds.  As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout 
by NYS DOT. 

 
D. Cattaraugus County Rail Rehabilitation Project 

 
STERA had received NYS DOT PFRAP Act funds for tie replacement, track alignment, and grade 
crossing and turnout rehabilitation between Olean and Killbuck in Cattaraugus County, NY on 
the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line. WNYP provided the required matching funds. The 
project involved the replacement of 10,000 ties, the installation of approximately 12,000 tons of 
ballast, the raising/surfacing/aligning of track and turnouts, the rehabilitation of three at-grade 
crossings, and the rehabilitation of eleven turnouts along 12 linear miles of railroad line 
between Olean and Killbuck. The goal of the project was to improve safety and track speeds, 
which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. Further, the project was part of an 
overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension Railroad line to a 286,000 lb. capacity 
specification for 4- axle rail cars. WNYP provided engineering, construction, and construction 
inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and inspection review by 
NYS DOT). WNYP engaged one or more third party private sector construction contractor(s) to 
provide certain construction services under subcontract to WNYP. All project work has been 
completed. As of December 31, 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 

 
Capital Construction Projects Active as of December 31, 2016 

 
A. Track and Bridge Rehabilitation Project 

 
In August 2015, STERA had submitted an application to NYS DOT for PFRAP grant funds, with 
matching funds to be provided by WNYP. The project would involve replacing 8,000 linear feet 
of welded rail in Carrolton in Cattaraugus County, and repairing three bridges in Jamestown, one 
bridge in Salamanca, and one bridge in Olean. All work except the Olean bridge is to be done on 
the Southern Tier Extension; the Olean bridge is on the Buffalo line. The goal of the project is to 
improve safety and track speeds, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. 
Further, the project is part of an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad and Buffalo lines to a 286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The bridge 
repairs specifically are intended to improve safety related to bridge integrity (reducing impacts 
ƻƴ ǇŜŘŜǎǘǊƛŀƴǎκƘƛƎƘǿŀȅ ǾŜƘƛŎƭŜǎύΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǿƛǘƘ ²b¸t ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
provision of engineering, construction, and construction inspection services on this contract 
(augmented by engineering review and inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP may engage one 
or more third party private sector construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction 
services under sub-contract to WNYP; interested potential subcontractors may contact STERA 
and/or WNYP directly. In late 2016, STERA received a contract from NYS DOT funding a portion 
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of the project. The proposed timeline for the project is that the project will begin in 2017, and 
be completed in 2017. 

 
Capital Construction Projects Currently Proposed as of December 31, 2015 

 
A. Olean Enginehouse and Yard Improvement Project 

 
In late 2016, STERA submitted a grant application to NYS DOT for the 2016 PFRAP funding cycle. 
The project would involve improvements to the enginehouse in the Olean yard, installation of a 
yard video security system, the installation of 6,000 6x8 ties in the Olean yard, and the 
replacement of 8 switches in the Olean yard.  The work would be done on the Southern Tier 
Extension Line. The goal of the project is to improve safety and track speeds within the Olean 
Yard, which would further improve competitiveness of rail service. Further, the project is part of 
an overall strategy to raise the entire Southern Tier Extension Railroad and Buffalo lines to a 
286,000 lb. capacity specification for 4-axle rail cars. The enginehouse improvements specifically 
are intended to improve safety and productivity related to operations within the enginehouse. 
The security system is intended to improve public safety and reduce vŀƴŘŀƭƛǎƳΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ 
intention is to contract directly with WNYP for the provision of engineering, construction, and 
construction inspection services on this contract (augmented by engineering review and 
inspection review by NYS DOT). WNYP may engage one or more third party private sector 
construction contractor(s) to provide certain construction services under sub-contract to WNYP; 
interested potential subcontractors may contact STERA and/or WNYP directly. If funded, the 
proposed timeline for the project is that the project will begin in 2017, and be completed in 
2017. 

 
B. Proposed Transload Facility Project 

 
In March, 2006, the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board, using 
funding provided by NYSDOT, USDOC EDA, and WNYP, began a feasibility and site selection 
study relating to the phased construction and operation of rail-highway freight transfer facility 
to be located somewhere along the NYS 3 portion of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line. 
The first phase was to involve construction of a transload facility, with potential future phases if 
justified by freight volume and market demand, to involve satellite marine terminal/inland port 
designation, intermodal container operations, and a nearby business or industrial park 
development. The study demonstrated commercial viability for the first phase transload facility 
and also recommended location of the transload facility at the WNYP rail yard in Allegany, New 
York (Cattaraugus County). This study report is available at 
www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm. In January 2009, the Southern Tier West 
RP&DB, as part of the feasibility and site selection study project, undertook a preliminary 
engineering study for the construction of the proposed transload facility at the Allegany NY rail 
yard site. This engineering report, along with technical appendices, is available at 
www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm. Based upon these studies and the express 
indication by NYS DOT that it would encourage and help fund the construction of the first phase 
transload facility, STERA would like to undertake the project, either by (a) constructing and 
owning the facility, with operation to be leased to a third party private sector company to be 
selected at a later date, or by (b) work with a private developer that would construct and either 
own/operate or own/lease the facility to another private sector operatoǊΦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ƛǎ ǘƻ 
build the transload facility in phases, as construction funds became available. STERA is currently 

http://www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm
http://www.southerntierwest.org/html/publications.htm
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in the process of seeking funding to undertake the construction of the first phase transload 
facility. When STERA obtains construction funds, it will procure engineering consulting services, 
undertake environmental analysis, secure site control, undertake engineering/design, and begin 
ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴΦ {¢9w! ǿƛƭƭ ƴƻǘ ƛǎǎǳŜ wCtΩǎ ŦƻǊ ŀƴȅ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ-related services until funding is in hand 
for this project. 

 
Material Changes in Authority Operations and Programs 
 
Other than capital rehabilitation projects either commenced or completed in 2016 (discussed above), 
there were no material changes in STERA operations and programs during 2016. 
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Financial Summary 
 
This section of the Annual Report contains financial summary information for the Southern Tier 
Extension Railroad Authority for the year ending December 31, 2016.  Included in this section are the 
following: 
 

¶ Audited Financial Statements for the year ending December 31, 2016, including  
o !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ report 
o aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ discussion and analysis 
o Balance sheet 
o Income statement 
o Cash flow statement 
o Notes to financial statements 
o Management letter (report on internal controls) 

¶ Grants and subsidy programs  

¶ Identification of operating and financial risks 

¶ Current bond ratings 

¶ Bond and note schedule 

¶ Long-term liabilities, including leases and employee benefit plans 

¶ Listing of material changes in operations and programs 

¶ Description of any material pending litigation 

¶ Compensation schedule 

¶ Four-year financial plan 
 
 
Audited Financial Statements  
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŀǊŜ {¢9w!Ωǎ !ǳŘƛǘŜŘ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘƛƴƎ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ омΣ 2016. 
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See independent auditor's report and accompanying notes to the financial statements  
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Grants and Subsidy Programs 
 
The Authority has four completed construction projects as of December 31, 2016 that involve grants, as 
follows: 
 

Storm Damage Repair and Mitigation Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project was funded by FEMA, NYS DHSES, 
and WNYP.  The project is in closeout with FEMA as of December 31, 2016. 
 

Summary:  Repair of storm damage and mitigation of future damage at 47 locations in 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Counties. 

 
Bridge Repair and Track Realignment Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT Bond Act   $   786,850 
WNYP           700,000 
Total     $1,486,850 

 
Summary:  Bridge repair and track realignment project in Chautauqua County. 

 
Tie Installation and Grade Crossing Repair Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $1,076,504 
WNYP           269,126 
Total     $1,345,630 

 
Summary:  Tie replacement and grade crossing repair project in Cattaraugus County. 

 
Cattaraugus County Rail Rehabilitation Project 

 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 
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Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $1,983,174 
WNYP           495,793 
Total     $2,478,967 

 
Summary:  tie replacement, track alignment, and grade crossing and turnout rehabilitation 
between Olean and Killbuck in Cattaraugus County. 

 
The Authority also has been awarded grant funds for one additional rehabilitation project during 2016, 
as follows: 
 

Track and Bridge Rehabilitation Project 
 
This project was funded in 2016; work will begin and be completed in 2017.  The following is a 
summary of funding for this project, based on agreements from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $ 1,600,000 
WNYP            400,000 
Total     $ 2,000,000 

 
Summary:  Installation of curve patch welded rail & repair 5 concrete bridge structures in 
Cattaraugus and Chautauqua Counties. 

  
In August 2016, STERA applied for funding from NYS DOT, with matching funds provided by WNYP, for 
improvements to the Olean yard and enginehouse, including replacement of 6,000 ties and 8 switches, 
interior enginehouse construction, installation of reel stations, and installation of a video security 
system. The project will increase operating efficiencies, security, safety, and control.  As of December 
31, 2016, funding approval had not yet been received.  If it is funded, this project should start and be 
completed in 2017. 
 
During 2016, the Authority also received its annual $40,000 fee from the Western New York & 
Pennsylvania Railroad, LLC for administrative purposes, contractually stipulated in the 1998 
Memorandum of Understanding, as amended.  These funds were used for the corporate operations of 
the Authority. 
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Operating and Financial Risks 
 
The Authority has identified the following operating and financial risks associated with its operations, 
and has assigned a degree of risk level to each of these risks, as follows: 
 

Risks         Risk Level 

Financial insolvency ς external causes     Low 

Financial insolvency ς internal causes     Low 

Liability for event occurring from railroad operations   Low 

Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership   Low 

Liability for event occurring during construction    Low 
 
Methods for Minimizing or Avoiding Risks 
 
Additionally, the Authority has set forth the methods it uses for minimizing or avoiding the risks 
identified above, as follows: 
 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς external causes 

o Method:  Avoiding activities that are not self-liquidating from external funding 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς internal causes 

o Method:  Involvement of Board in preparation and presentation of internal financial 
statements, review of financial statements by full Authority Board, double signature 
requirement for all checks (CEO does not have signature authority), annual audits in 
which all financial transactions are reviewed, ethics filings by Board and contract staff; 
additionally, a CFO position separate from the CEO who provides Board oversight of 
financial transactions, and separation of duties with respect to internal cash 
handling/transaction entry/reconciliation of bank balances/preparation of interim 
financial statements 

¶ Liability for event occurring from railroad operations 

o Method:  Indemnification agreement with operating railroads, directors and officers 
insurance 

¶ Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership 

o Method:  Indemnification agreement with operating railroads, directors and officers 
insurance 

¶ Liability for event occurring during construction 

o Method:  Indemnification agreement with construction agents and engineering 
consultants, requiring construction agents and engineering consultants to have 
adequate insurance, directors and officers insurance 
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Risk Controls 
 
Additionally, the Authority reviews the risk controls for the risks identified above at the following 
intervals: 
 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς external causes 

o This is an ongoing procedure.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς internal causes 

o This is an ongoing procedure.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring from railroad operations 

o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreement in place and 
insurance in place.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership 

o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreement in place and 
insurance in place.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring during construction 

o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreements and insurance 
requirements for construction agents and engineering consultants required of all such 
contracts.  Insurance is in place on an ongoing basis.  This policy is reviewed annually. 

 
¢ƘŜ ŀōƻǾŜ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ Ǌƛǎƪǎ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǘŀƪŜƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ά!ǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
Effectiveness of Internal CƻƴǘǊƻƭǎΣέ Ƴƻǎǘ ǊŜŎŜƴǘƭȅ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘƛƴƎ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ омΣ 2016, and 
which is included in its entirety elsewhere in this Annual Report. 
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Current Bond Ratings 
 
The Authority has never issued any bonds since its inception, and has no immediate plans to issue 
bonds.  Accordingly, the Authority never has obtained a bond rating for any bond issues. 
 
Bond and Note Schedule  
 
Since its inception in 2000, STERA has not issued any bonds or notes.  Consequently, as of December 31, 
2016Σ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ Ŧƛǎcal year, STERA had no bonds or notes outstanding.  Accordingly, in the year 
ending December 31, 2016, STERA did not redeem or incur any bonds or notes. 
 
 

Schedule of Bonds and Notes Outstanding 
As of December 31, 2016 

 
Total Bonds Outstanding   $   0.00 
Total Notes Outstanding        0.00 
Total Obligations Outstanding   $   0.00 
 
 

Statement of the Amounts of Obligations Redeemed and Incurred 
For the Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2016 

 
Total Amounts of Obligations Redeemed $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Obligations Incurred  $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Refinancings   $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Calls    $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Refundings   $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Defeasements  $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Interest Rate Exchanges $   0.00 
 
Total Amounts of Other Such Agreements $   0.00 

 
Long-Term Liabilities (including leases and employee benefit plans) 
 
The Authority has no long term liabilities.  The Authority has no leases for which it is the lessee.  The 
Authority has no employees. 
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Listing of Material Changes in Operations and Programs for the year ending Dceember 31, 2016 
 
There have been no material changes in operations and programs for the year ending December 31, 
2016, other than the capital projects completed, funded, and/or commenced in 2015, discussed 
elsewhere herein. 
 
Description of Any Material Pending Litigation 
 
During 2014, STERA was named as a party in a suit by an individual who was involved in a collision with a 
moving WNYP train at a grade crossing in Friendship (Allegany County).  STER!Ωǎ ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ bƻǊŦƻƭƪ 
Southern Corporation requires Norfolk Southern Corporation to indemnify STERA for any liability that 
may arise from this litigation.  As of the end of 2016, this litigation is still pending. 
 
Compensation Schedule 
 
STERA has no dƛǊŜŎǘ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎΦ  {¢9w!Ωǎ .ƻŀǊŘ elects and appoints a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief 
Financial Officer (i.e., a Treasurer), and a Corporate Secretary to carry out the organization's policies and 
manage the day-to-day operations.  However, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and 
Corporate Secretary are not STERA employees and receive no direct salary from STERA.  Accordingly, 
STERA has no compensation schedule. 
 
STERA contracts with the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board for staffing, 
administrative services, and meeting space.  The Chief Executive Officer and the Corporate Secretary are 
employees of the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer is a STERA Board member. 
 
Four-Year Financial Plan 
 
¢ƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ CƻǳǊ-Year Financial Plan for 2017 to 2020, approved by the STERA Board 
in October 2016.  The Plan includes projected (2017 to 2020) capital and operating budget components. 
 
{ƛƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ funded exclusively through revenue from the annual contractual 
fees provided by the Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad and revenue from grant funding for 
railroad rehabilitation and other capital and non-capital projects, the projections necessarily are limited 
to these sources of funds and the activities associated with them.  When grant funds are obtained, the 
Authority expends all grant funds obtained for contractually required uses as specified in the specific 
grant contracts.  
 
The Authority does not include capital projects (including railroad rehabilitation projects) and non-
capital projects in its four-year financial plan for any project that it does not have approved grants in 
hand, as the Authority will not implement any such projects without grant funding. 
 
As noted previously herein, the Authority had been awarded grant funding for five railroad 
rehabilitation projects (i.e., capital projects) that are completed or underway as of December 31, 2016, 
as follows: 
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Storm Damage Repair and Mitigation Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project was funded by FEMA, NYS DHSES, 
and WNYP.  The project is in closeout with FEMA as of December 31, 2016. 
 

Summary:  Repair of storm damage and mitigation of future damage at 47 locations in 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Counties. 

 
Bridge Repair and Track Realignment Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT Bond Act   $   786,850 
WNYP           700,000 
Total     $1,486,850 

 
Summary:  Bridge repair and track realignment project in Chautauqua County. 

 
Tie Installation and Grade Crossing Repair Project 
 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $1,076,504 
WNYP           269,126 
Total     $1,345,630 

 
Summary:  Tie replacement and grade crossing repair project in Cattaraugus County. 

 
Cattaraugus County Rail Rehabilitation Project 

 
This project is completed as of December 31, 2016.  The project is in closeout with NYS DOT as of 
December 31, 2016.  The following is a summary of funding for this project, based on agreements 
from the participating funding sources: 

 
Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $1,983,174 
WNYP           495,793 
Total     $2,478,967 
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Summary:  tie replacement, track alignment, and grade crossing and turnout rehabilitation 
between Olean and Killbuck in Cattaraugus County. 

 
The Authority also has been awarded grant funds for one additional rehabilitation project during 2016, 
as follows: 
 

Track and Bridge Rehabilitation Project 
 
This project was funded in 2016; work will begin and be completed in 2017.  The following is a 
summary of funding for this project, based on agreements from the participating funding sources: 
 

Funding Source        Amount  
NYS DOT PFRAP    $ 1,600,000 
WNYP            400,000 
Total     $ 2,000,000 

 
Summary:  Installation of curve patch welded rail & repair 5 concrete bridge structures in 
Cattaraugus and Chautauqua Counties. 

 
When STERA approved the Four Year Financial Plan in October 2016, there was uncertainty as to the 
completion dates and final project costs for the above projects.  Accordingly, the Four Year Financial 
Plan, as approved in October 2016, had been developed using best projections as to what would occur 
over the following four years.  The Authority has included in its 2017 capital budget an estimate for the 
projects that it anticipated in October 2016 that would be underway in 2017. 
 
Also, since there are no firm projections for obtaining any other capital or non-capital project grant 
funds in the succeeding three years of the four year budget horizon, the four-year financial plan 
necessarily shows no other capital or non-capital revenues or expenses in the last three years of the four 
year budget horizon. 
 
!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Four-Year Financial Plan for 2017 through 2020, provided on the next page, 
is limited to specifying the budget relating to financial flows from the NYS DOT rehabilitation grants and 
ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ annual contractual fee revenue provided by the Western New York and Pennsylvania 
Railroad. 
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Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 
 

Four Year Financial Plan 
 

Revenue           2017     2018     2019     2020  
WNYPRR    $     40,000  $     40,000 $40,000 $40,000 
Federal                      0                   0             0              0 
State      1,800,000    1,500,000             0              0 
Local                      0                    0             0              0 
Total    $1,840,000  $1,540,000 $40,000 $40,000 

 
 
Expenses 

Administration - Contractual $    17,500  $     17,500 $17,500 $17,500 
Contractual                     0                   0             0              0 
Construction     1,764,000    1,470,000             0               0 
Insurance              6,500           6,500      6,000      6,000 
Administration - Construction         36,000         30,000              0              0 
Legal/Audit              4,000           4,000      4,500      4,500 

Total     $1,828,000  $1,528,000  $ 28,000 $ 28,000 
 
Net Income    $      12,000  $     12,000  $ 12,000 $ 12,000 
 

Note 1: The capital construction component of the !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ōǳŘƎŜǘ ƛǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜƭȅ ƻƴ ƎǊŀƴǘ 
funding in hand for railroad rehabilitation and other capital projects.  The 2017 and 2018 
budgets include projected grant revenue and construction expenditures.  However, since 
there are no firm projections for obtaining rehab grant funds in the succeeding two years of 
the four year budget horizon, the projected capital budget no capital revenues or expenses 
in the last two years. 

 
Note 3: ¢ƘŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ŎƻƳǇƻƴŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ōǳŘƎŜǘ ƛǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜƭȅ ƻƴ ƛǘǎ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ 

contractual fees provided by the Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad and 
administrative revenue attendant from grant funding for railroad rehabilitation and other 
capital and non-capital projects.  Since there are no firm projections for obtaining any of 
these funds in the four year budget horizon (excepting the annual contractual fees provided 
by the Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad), the projected operating budget 
necessarily shows no revenues other than these annual contractual fees provided by the 
Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad, and no expenses other than those projected 
to occur as a consequence of those revenues.  Operating expenses necessarily are limited to 
these sources of funds available. 
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Measurement Report for the Year Ending December 31, 2016 
 
Mission Statement, Goals, and List of Stakeholders and their Expectations as of December 31, 2016 
 
The Mission of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad 
Authority is to fulfill the purpose for which it was created by the New York State Legislature and to 
achieve its self-prescribed goals.  
 

A. The purpose of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad Authority, as indicated by the New York State Legislature in creating it, is "to preserve 
and enhance the system of railroads serving Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 
Counties in NYS and Warren and Erie Counties in the Commonwealth of PA, so as to insure a 
healthy economy for these counties". 

 
B. The goals of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern Tier Extension 

Railroad Authority are to encourage an operating railroad that provides adequate rail service, to 
increase rail shipping carload volumes, to catalyze opportunities for additional business 
expansion and development based on rail service, to achieve improved functional performance 
of the rail lines through rehabilitation efforts, to encourage safe railroad operations, and to 
achieve a clean audit report and NYS ABO compliance report.  Stakeholders interested in the 
performance of the Authority and their expectations are as follows: 

 
The list of stakeholders interested in the performance of the Authority, and their expectations are as 
follows: 
 

Stakeholder     Expectations       
Participating Counties   Operating railroad providing adequate rail service, 

increased rail shipping carload volumes, opportunities 
for additional business expansion and development 
based on rail service, operation of authority as fiduciary 
for its interests, improvement of the physical assets of 
the railroad system to so as to insure a commercially 
viable system 

Affected municipalities 
(Cities, Villages, Towns)  Same as above 

Affected school districts   Same as above 
Actual and potential rail-shipping 

business community  Operating railroad providing adequate rail service, 
opportunities for additional business expansion based 
on rail service 

 
¢ƘŜ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜ ŀƴŘ ƎƻŀƭǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŦƻǊ 
future performance measurement and evaluation. 
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Statement of Measurement Standards for Self-Evaluation 
 
The Authority's measurement standards for self-evaluation are based upon the goals of the Authority.  
These measurement standards were approved by the Authority Board of Directors at the February 16, 
2010 Meeting and revised at the March 9, 2015 Meeting. 
 
The following are the Authority's measurement standards for self-evaluation: 
 
¶ Operating railroad providing adequate rail service 
¶ Increased rail shipping carload volumes 
¶ Opportunities for additional business expansion and development based on rail service 
¶ Documentation of rehabilitation efforts and functional performance railroad line 
¶ Encouragement of safe railroad operations 
¶ Clean audit report and NYS ABO compliance report 

 
On March 27, 2017, the Authority Board undertook a Self-Evaluation for the year ending December 31, 
2016, evaluating performance during 2016 based on the above measurement standards.  A copy of the 
Self Evaluation Report for the year ending December 31, 2016, that was approved by the Authority 
Board on March 27, 2017, follows.  The overall self-evaluation determined by the Authority Board is that 
the Authority is achieving its purpose and meeting its goals.  The deficiencies that exist in the freight 
volume and rehabilitation efforts are a function of the macro-economy and the availability of state and 
federal rehabilitation funding, and not in any way a function of the performance of the Authority. 
 
¢Ƙƛǎ {ŜƭŦ 9Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ wŜǇƻǊǘ ŀƭǎƻ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ aŜŀǎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ wŜǇƻǊǘ for the year ending December 
31, 2016Σ ŀǎ ƛǘ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ нлм6 in achieving its goals according to the 
mission statement in place on December 31, 2016 and the measurement standards adopted by the 
Authority Board. 
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Self-Evaluation for STERA for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
 
1. Operating railroad providing adequate rail service 

 
Evaluation:  The Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad, LLC.  (WNYP) is providing adequate 
rail service on a cost-effective, as-needed basis on both the Southern Tier Extension (STE) and 
Buffalo rail lines.  STERA is meeting this goal. 

 
2. Increased rail shipping carload volumes 

 
Evaluation:  The Southern Tier Extension freight volume in 2016 continued to be down from the 

historical maximum of 54,000 carloads per year experienced several years prior due to the 

presumed permanent loss of overhead unit coal train traffic.  Freight volume decreased 16% from 
2015 to 2016 across the system in synch with the national depression in railroad volumes.  Of 
ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊ ƴƻǘŜ ƛǎ ŀ ǊŜŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ссу ŎŀǊƭƻŀŘǎ ƻŦ ǇŜǘǊƻƭŜǳƳ ŘƛǎǘƛƭƭŀǘŜǎ ŘŜǎǘƛƴŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŀƛƭǊƻŀŘΩǎ 
largest customer, International Wax Group.  This was caused by the ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊΩǎ inability to source 
needed feed stock due to a large reduction of refining activity in early 2016.  Additionally, fracking 
sand activity was reduced by over 700 carloads due to a pullback of oil and gas well activity in 
northern Pennsylvania. 
 

Total carloads for the entire system: 
 
2015    Carloads  Notes      
Overhead Freight       116  όŀƭƭ {¢9 9ŀǎǘπ²Ŝǎǘ ƳŀƛƴƭƛƴŜ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎύ  
Local Freight   3,524    Southern Tier Extension line  
    4,682    Buffalo line  
      8.206  Total local freight  
Total      8,322  Total system  
 
2016    Carloads  Notes      
Overhead Freight       156  όŀƭƭ {¢9 9ŀǎǘπ²Ŝǎǘ ƳŀƛƴƭƛƴŜ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎύ  
Local Freight   1,598    Southern Tier Extension line  
    5,202    Buffalo line  
      6,800  Total local freight  
Total      6,956  Total system  

 
Conclusions ς Coal and other overhead traffic has been eliminated by Norfolk Southern Corporation.  

Local freight traffic has decreased on both the Southern Tier Extension and on the Buffalo Line. 
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For 2017, local freight traffic is projected to be somewhat above the 6,956 carloads in 2016, 

attributable to increased aggregate shipping, increased frack sand unloading activity, and an already 
realized rebound of wax refinery traffic along the Buffalo Line.  Both Monofrax and Bush Industries 
in the Jamestown area are projecting strong rail activity in 2017.  The carrier is changing routing of 
certain segments of traffic enroute to Meadville, PA so that it will now traverse the Southern Tier 
Extension Line.  This is caused by a weight restricted bridge on the Norfolk Southern system near 
Ohio and the need to provide Meadville customers with 286K gross carloadings.  This should add 
approximately 500 car loads across the Extension Line. 
 
While a reduction of carloads was realized between 2015 and 2016, it was in proportionate relation 
to a national reduction of rail activity.  STERA believes its overall goal of increased rail carload 

shipping volumes by all indications will be restored in 2017.  The longer term decrease in total 
system carload shipping volumes from historical maximums is a shortcoming that STERA hopes can 
be addressed in coming years. 
 

3. Opportunities for additional business expansion and development based on rail service 
 
Evaluation:  There are five types of opportunities for additional business expansion and 
development based on rail service, as follows: 
 

1) Ongoing WNYP marketing efforts 
2) Economic development community (state and local) marketing and development efforts 
3) Reutilization of vacant or underutilized rail-served facilities and sites 
4) Transload facility project - STERA has proposed construction and operation of a transload 

facility in the Olean railroad yards, which should assist businesses throughout the region 
(especially those not located along the railroad lines) with obtaining rail service at 
competitive pricing.  This should facilitate the retention and expansion of these businesses. 

5) Site development project - STERA also has worked with the counties to develop an inventory 
of developable sites along the railroad lines, and in 2016 will continue to work toward 
encouraging the counties to make these sites shovel-ready and market the sites for business 
development. 

 
These efforts all are long-term strategies, dependent upon (a) financial resources available to STERA 
and its local partners and (b) successful identification of a developer or company desiring to locate 
or expand operations in part as a consequence of rail service availability.   
 

4. Documentation of rehabilitation efforts and functional performance of the railroad line 
 
Evaluation:  Rehabilitation projects on the STERA railroad system are either STERA-sponsored or 
WNYP sponsored. 
 
STERA-Sponsored Rehabilitation Projects 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ƭƛƴŜ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ ŀǊŜ 
limited by funding constraints at the state and federal government levels, and by matching funds 
availability.  Matching funds for construction projects typically are provided to STERA by WNYP. 
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During calendar year 2016, STERA continued closeout activities on a project that had been 
completed in a prior year, completed three rehabilitation projects that had been funded in a prior 
year, received funding for a project that will commence in 2017, and submitted a funding 
application for a project that is projected to commence in 2017. 
 
The project that had been completed in a prior year, but for which STERA continued closeout 
activities in 2016 was a FEMA-funded project.  STERA anticipates final closeout in 2017.  This project 
involved the repair and remediation / mitigation of forty-seven (47) locations in Allegany, 
Cattaraugus, Chautauqua, and Steuben Counties where the Southern Tier Extension Line had 
suffered storm damage in April and May of 2014.  This project had been funded by FEMA (federal) 
grant funding, New York State Emergency Management Office (NYS EMO) grant funding, New York 
State Division of Homeland Security & Emergency Services (NYS DHSES) grant funding, and local 
share grant funding from WNYP. 
 
The first rehabilitation project that STERA completed in 2016 was a track realignment and bridge 
repair project in Chautauqua County, on the Southern Tier Extension line.  This project was funded 
by NYS DOT, with matching funds provided by WNYP.  All of the work on this project has been 
completed as of the end of 2015; however, additional project funds remained, and STERA received 
approval to extend the project deadline through the end of 2016 and complete additional project 
work elements to better serve rail shippers on the line.  STERA utilized all of the funds remaining 
that could be used within the geographic bounds of the original project scope.  At the end of 2016, 
STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 
 
The second rehabilitation project that STERA completed in 2016 was a project that involved the 
repair of four grade crossings and the installation of 8,000 railroad ties on the Buffalo Rail Line.  All 
of the work on this project had been completed as of the end of 2015; however, additional project 
funds remained, and STERA received approval to extend the project deadline through the end of 
2016 and complete additional project work elements to better serve rail shippers on the line.  STERA 
used the extension and unspent funds to rehab four additional grade crossings on the Buffalo line 
north in the Olean area (Back Hinsdale Road, Oregon road, Haskell Road, and Promised Land Road), 
and install (approximately $25,000 of) additional ties.  As of the end of 2016, all work has been 
completed, and there should be less than $15,000 remaining of project funds.  At the end of 2016, 
STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 
 
The third rehabilitation project that STERA completed in 2016 was a project that involved the repair 
of track on the Southern Tier Extension Rail Line in Cattaraugus County between Killbuck and Olean, 
plus additional work in the Olean Yard.  Local match funding will be provided by WNYP.  The project 
involved the installation of 10,000 rail ties between Olean and Killbuck (Cattaraugus County), the 
repair of 11 rail switches, the installation of 12,000 tons of ballast, surfacing and alignment of track 
and turnouts, the rehabilitation of three at-grade crossings, and the rehabilitation of 11 turnouts.  
All project work has been completed.  At the end of 2016, STERA is awaiting closeout by NYS DOT. 
 
In August 2015, STERA submitted an application to NYS DOT for $1,600,000 of PFRAP grant funds, to 
be matched by $400,000 of WNYP funds.  The project would involve replacing 8,000 linear feet of 
welded rail in Carrolton in Cattaraugus County, and repairing three bridges in Jamestown, one 
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bridge in Salamanca, and one bridge in Olean.  All work except the Olean bridge is to be done on the 
Southern Tier Extension; the Olean bridge is on the Buffalo line.  STERA received a contract from NYS 
DOT for the project in late 2016, and will commence work on the project in 2017. 
 
In late 2016, STERA submitted a grant application to NYS DOT for the 2016 PFRAP funding cycle.  The 
project, STERA Olean Enginehouse and Yard Improvement Project, would involve improvements to 
the enginehouse in the Olean yard, installation of a yard video security system, the installation of 
6,000 6x8 ties in the Olean yard, and the replacement of 8 switches in the Olean yard.  The work 
would be done on the Southern Tier Extension Line.  If funded, work would commence in 2017. 
 
WNYP-Sponsored Rehabilitation Projects 
 
WNYP has participated financially in State-funded and Federally-funded projects over the years and 
has self-funded a limited number of rehabilitation projects when State and Federal funds have not 
been available.  Penn DOT has funded a number of rehabilitation projects in Pennsylvania in 
combination with WNYP with no STERA involvement. 
 
Conclusions ς Although the railroad line continues to experience ongoing deterioration with the 
passage of time and exposure to weather, and especially as the prior owner Conrail had deferred 
any maintenance on the line (and in fact had removed line assets for use elsewhere in its system) for 
over 25 years, the cumulative effect ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŀƴŘ ²b¸tΩǎ ƻƴƎƻƛƴƎ ǊŜǇŀƛǊ κ ƳŀƛƴǘŜƴŀƴŎŜ κ 
mitigation / improvement program has been to restore all of the Southern Tier Railroad Line to 
service, to make needed repairs to enable the two lines to carry commercial freight in a safe and 
commercially viable fashion, to work toward increasing (and maintaining) traffic speeds toward 25 
miles per hour on all of the line (with some sections at 40 miles per hour, and also with exceptions 
being areas that occasionally are flagged for 10 mile service until repairs can be made), and working 
toward developing a standard car weight capacity of the line at 286,000 pounds, the federal 
standard. 
 
STERA is meeting this goal. 
 

5. Encouragement of safe railroad operations 
 
Evaluation:  During 2016Σ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎ ƻƴ Ǌŀƛƭ ǊŜƘŀōƛƭƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ ƘŜƭǇŜŘ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘǊƛōǳǘŜ ǘƻ 
safe railroad operations on the two rail lines that STERA owns.  {¢9w!Ωǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ŦǳƴŘǎ ŦƻǊ 
another rail rehabilitation project also is intended to encourage safe railroad operations.  STERA also 
encouraged Operation Lifesaver training in communities in which it owns rail lines.  STERA also is 
working with WNYP and the Emergency Management Offices of Chautauqua and Cattaraugus 
Counties to schedule railroad safety for emergency responder trainings in Jamestown and Olean in 
the spring of 2017. 
 
STERA is meeting this goal. 
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6. Clean audit report and NYS ABO compliance report 
 
Evaluation:  On March 27, 2017, STERA received a clean audit report for the year ending December 
31, 2016.  The auditor found no instances of significant or material internal control deficiencies. 
 
STERAΩǎ ǎŜƭŦ-evaluation is that it remains in compliance with the PAAA, the PARA, the Public 
Authorities Law, and other laws and regulations.  STERA has not undergone a NYS ABO compliance 
and performance field audit since its inception in 2000. 
 
STERA is meeting this goal. 
 
 

Summary:  Overall Self-Evaluation 
 
On the whole, STERA is achieving its purpose and meeting its goals.  Although rail traffic is down 
somewhat, once macroeconomic conditions improve, STERA expects rail traffic volumes to 
grow once again.  As additional NYS DOT funds become available, STERA anticipates 
undertaking ongoing rehabilitation activities. 
 
 

Adopted by the STERA  
Board of Directors on  

March 27, 2017 
 

 

Thomas M. Barnes 
STERA Corporate Secretary 
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Personal and Real Property Transactions  
 
STERA owns no personal property.  STERA contracts with the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and 
Development Board for administrative services, including the use of traditional business assets (e.g., 
office machines, furniture, telephones, etc.) classified as personal property. 
 
STERA is in title to certain real estate assets transferred to it by Norfolk Southern Corporation in 
February 2001 and February 2007, which comprise the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Line (or the 
east-west line) and the Buffalo Line (or the north-south line), respectively.  Pursuant to the agreement 
between STERA and Norfolk Southern Corporation, STERA retains title to these assets for a period of 
years, after which time, these real estates assets, and the improvements thereto, revert to Norfolk 
Southern Corporation. 
 
Pursuant to the agreement between STERA and Norfolk Southern Corporation, Norfolk Southern retains 
the exclusive right to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of these real estate assets.  STERA does not 
have the right to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of these real estate assets.  The agreement between 
STERA and Norfolk Southern Corporation also provides that upon any abandonment by Norfolk 
Southern Corporation of any or all of the real estate assets, STERA has the right of first refusal to acquire 
the abandoned assets at a price set through a formula stipulated in the agreement.  Norfolk Southern 
Corporation subsequently has transferred its right to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of these real 
estate assets to the Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad Company.  This transfer does not 
modify {¢9w!Ωǎ rights or circumstances with respect to selling, transferring, or otherwise disposing of 
railroad real estate assets on these two railroad lines; that it, STERA lacks any authority to sell, transfer, 
or otherwise dispose of these real estate assets.  STERA does not own any real estate other than that 
subject to this agreement with Norfolk Southern. 
 
Accordingly, STERA does not own any personal property or real property that it has legal authority to 
sell. 
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ƛǎ {¢9w!Ωǎ άtǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ 5ƛǎǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ tƻƭƛŎȅ.έ 
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PROPERTY DISPOSITION POLICY 
 
 
This policy is adopted pursuant to Sections 2595, 2896, AND 2597 of the NYS Public Authorities Law. 
 
1. Definitions 
 

A. "Contracting officer" shall mean the officer or employee of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, 
Allegany and Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority (hereinafter, the 
"Corporation") who shall be appointed by resolution to be responsible for the disposition of 
property. 

B. "Dispose" or "disposal" shall mean transfer of title or any other beneficial interest in personal or 
real property in accordance with Section 2897 of the Public Authorities Law.  

C. "Property" shall mean personal property in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000) in value, and 
real property, and any inchoate or other interest in such property, to the extent that such 
interest may be conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an interest securing a 
loan or other financial obligation of another party. 

 
2. Duties 
 

A. The Corporation shall:  

1. maintain adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all property owned by 
the Corporation and under its control; 

2. periodically inventory such property to determine which property shall be disposed of; 

3. produce a written report of such property in accordance with subsection B herewith; and 

4. transfer or dispose of such property as promptly and practicably as possible in accordance 
with Section 3 below. 

B. The Corporation shall: 

1. publish, not less frequently than annually, a report that (a) lists all real property owned and 
that (b) provides a full description of all real and personal property disposed of during the 
year, the price received for that property, and the name of the purchaser for all the 
property sold during the year. 

2. transmit copies of such report to the Comptroller of the State of New York, the Director of 
the Budget of State of New York, the Commissioner of the New York State Office of General 
Services, the New York State Legislature (via distribution to the majority leader of the senate 
and the speaker of the assembly), and the New York State Authority Budget Office. 
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3. Transfer or Disposition of Property 
 

A. Supervision and Direction.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the Contracting Officer shall 
have supervision and direction over the disposition and sale of property of the Corporation.  The 
Corporation shall have the right to dispose of its property for any valid corporate purpose. 

B. Custody and Control.  The custody and control of Corporation property, pending its disposition, 
and the disposal of such property, shall be performed by the Corporation or by the 
Commissioner of General Services when so authorized under this section. 

C. Method of Disposition.  Unless otherwise permitted, the Corporation shall dispose of property 
for not less than its fair market value by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit, or other 
property, with or without warranty, and upon such other terms and conditions as the 
Corporation and/or contracting officer deems proper.  The Corporation may execute such 
documents for the transfer of title or other interest in property and take such other action as it 
deems necessary or proper to dispose of such property under the provisions of this section.  
Provided, however, except in compliance with all applicable law, no disposition of real property 
or any interest in real property shall be made unless an appraisal of the value of such property 
has been made by an independent appraiser and included in the record of the transaction, and, 
provided further, that no disposition of any other property, which because of its unique nature 
or the unique circumstances of the proposed transaction is not readily valued by reference to an 
active market for similar property, shall be made without a similar appraisal. 

D. Sales by the Commissioner of General Services (the "Commissioner").  When the Corporation 
shall have deemed that transfer of property by the Commissioner will be advantageous to the 
State of New York, the Corporation may enter into an agreement with the Commissioner of 
pursuant to which Commissioner may dispose of property of the Corporation under terms and 
conditions agreed to by the Corporation and the Commissioner.  In disposing of any such 
property, the Commissioner shall be bound by the terms hereof and references to the 
contracting officer shall be deemed to refer to such Commissioner. 

E. Validity of Deed, Bill of Sale, Lease, or Other Instrument.  A deed, bill of sale, lease, or other 
instrument executed by or on behalf of the Corporation, purporting to transfer title or any other 
interest in property of the Corporation in accordance herewith shall be conclusive evidence of 
compliance with the provisions of these guidelines and all applicable law insofar as concerns 
title or other interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given valuable 
consideration for such title or other interest and has not received actual or constructive notice 
of lack of such compliance prior to the closing. 

F. Bids for Disposal; Advertising; Procedure; Disposal by Negotiation; Explanatory Statement. 

1. Except as permitted by all applicable law, all disposals or contracts for disposal of property 
made or authorized by the Corporation shall be made after publicly advertising for bids 
except as provided in paragraph 3 of this Subsection F. 

2. Whenever public advertising for bids is required under paragraph 1 of this Subsection F: 

a. the advertisement for bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract, 
through such methods, and on such terms and conditions as shall permit full and free 
competition consistent with the value and nature of the property proposed for 
disposition; 
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b. all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in the advertisement; and  

c. the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the responsible 
bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous to 
the Corporation, price and other factors considered; provided, that all bids may be 
rejected at the Corporation's discretion. 

3. Disposals and contracts for disposal of property may be negotiated or made by public 
auction without regard to paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Subsection F but subject to obtaining 
such competition as is feasible under the circumstances, if: 

a. the personal property involved is has qualities separate from the utilitarian purpose of 
such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity, historical significance, rarity, or other 
quality of similar effect, that would tend to increase its value, or if the personal property 
is to be sold in such quantity that, if it were disposed of under paragraphs 1 and 2 of this 
Subsection F, would adversely affect the state or local market for such property, and the 
estimated fair market value of such property and other satisfactory terms of disposal 
can be obtained by negotiation; 

b. the fair market value of the property does not exceed fifteen thousand dollars;  

c. bid prices after advertising therefore are not reasonable, either as to all or some part of 
the property, or have not been independently arrived at in open competition;  

d. the disposal will be to the state or any political subdivision, and the estimated fair 
market value of the property and other satisfactory terms of disposal are obtained by 
negotiation;  

e. under those circumstances permitted by paragraph 5 of this Subsection; or 

f. such action is otherwise authorized by law. 

4. Explanatory Statement 

a. An explanatory statement shall be prepared of the circumstances of each disposal by 
negotiation of: 

1. any personal property which has an estimated fair market value in excess of fifteen 
thousand dollars; 

2. any real property that has an estimated fair market value in excess of one hundred 
thousand dollars, except that any real property disposed of by lease or exchange 
shall only be subject to clauses 3 through 5 of this subparagraph; 

3. any real property disposed of by lease for a term of five years or less, if the 
estimated fair annual rent is in excess of one hundred thousand dollars for any of 
such years; 

4. any real property disposed of by lease for a term of more than five years, if the total 
estimated rent over the term of the lease is in excess of one hundred thousand 
dollars; or 
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5. any real property or real and related personal property disposed of by exchange, 
regardless of value, or any property any part of the consideration for which is real 
property. 

b. Each such statement shall be transmitted to the persons entitled to receive copies of 
the report required under all applicable law not less than ninety (90) days in advance of 
such disposal (namely the New York Office of the Comptroller, the New York State 
Director of the Budget, the Commissioner of the New York State Department of General 
Services, and the New York State Legislature via distribution to the majority leader of 
the senate and the speaker of the assembly), and a copy thereof shall be preserved in 
the files of the Corporation. 

5. Disposal of property for less than fair market value. 

a. No asset owned, leased or otherwise in the control of the Corporation may be sold, 
leased, or otherwise alienated for less than its fair market value except if: 

1. the transferee is a government or other public entity, and the terms and conditions 
of the transfer require that the ownership and use of the asset will remain with the 
government or any other public entity; 

2. the purpose of the transfer is within the purpose, mission or governing statute of 
the Corporation; or 

3. in the event the Corporation seeks to transfer an asset for less than its fair market 
value to other than a governmental entity, which disposal would not be consistent 
ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƳƛǎǎƛƻƴΣ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜ ƻǊ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ ǎǘŀǘǳǘŜǎΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǎƘŀƭƭ 
provide written notification thereof to the governor, the speaker of the assembly, 
and the temporary president of the senate, and such proposed transfer shall be 
subject to denial by the governor, the senate, or the assembly.  Denial by the 
governor shall take the form of a signed certification by the governor.  Denial by 
either house of the legislature shall take the form of a resolution by such house.  
The governor and each house of the legislature shall take any such action within 
sixty days of receiving notification of such proposed transfer during the months of 
January through June, provided that if the legislature receives notification of a 
proposed transfer during the months of July through December, the legislature may 
take any such action within sixty days of January first of the following year.  If no 
such resolution or certification is performed within sixty days of such notification of 
the proposed transfer to the governor, senate, and assembly, the Corporation may 
effectuate such transfer.  Provided, however, that with respect to a below market 
transfer by the Corporation that is not within the purpose, mission or governing 
statute of the Corporation, if the governing statute provides for the approval of such 
transfer by the executive and legislative branches of the political subdivision in 
which the Corporation resides, and the transfer is of property obtained by the 
Corporation from that political subdivision, then such approval shall be sufficient to 
permit the transfer. 

b. In the event a below fair market value asset transfer is proposed, the following 
information must be provided to the CorpƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎΥ 

1. a full description of the asset; 
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2. an appraisal of the fair market value of the asset and any other information 
establishing the fair market value sought by the Board of the Corporation; 

3. a description of the purpose of the transfer, and a reasonable statement of the kind 
and amount of the benefit to the public resulting from the transfer, including but 
not limited to the kind, number, location, wages or salaries of jobs created or 
preserved as required by the transfer, the benefits, if any, to the communities in 
which the asset is situated as are required by the transfer; 

4. a statement of the value to be received compared to the fair market value; 

5. the names of any private parties participating in the transfer, and if different than 
the statement required by subparagraph 4 of this paragraph, a statement of the 
value to the private party; and 

6. the names of other private parties who have made an offer for such asset, the value 
offered, and the purpose for which the asset was sought to be used. 

c. Before approving the disposal of any property for less than fair market value, the Board 
of the Corporation shall consider the information described in paragraph b of this 
subdivision and make a written determination that there is no reasonable alternative to 
the proposed below-market transfer that would achieve the same purpose of such 
transfer.  

 
4. Modification and Amendment 
 
This Property Disposition Policy is subject to modification and amendment at the discretion of the Board 
of Directors of the Corporation and shall be filed annually with all local and state agencies as required 
under all applicable law. 
 
5. Designated Contracting Officer of the Corporation 
 
The designated Contracting Officer for the Corporation is the Chief Executive Officer, unless provided for 
elsewhere in the policies of the Corporation. 
 
 
This Property Disposition Policy was approved and adopted by the Board of the Corporation and is 
effective immediately as approved and adopted this 30th day of March, 2010. 
 

Adopted by the STERA  
Board of Directors on  

March 30, 2010 

 
Thomas M. Barnes 

STERA Corporate Secretary 
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Listing of Real Property for the Year Ending December 31, 2016 
 
Following is the Real Property Report for the year ending December 31, 2016, which provides a listing of 
all real property owned by the Authority during the year ending on December 31, 2016, and a listing of 
all real property transactions (acquisitions or dispositions) during this reporting year.  As is indicated 
above, there were no real property transactions (acquisitions or dispositions) during the year ending 
December 31, 2016. 
 
tƭŜŀǎŜ ƴƻǘŜ ǘƘŜ άbƻǘŜǎ ƻƴ tŀǊŎŜƭ ±ŀƭǳŜ ŀƴŘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ ǘƻ 5ƛǎǇƻǎŜ ƻŦ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅέ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ 
listing. 
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Real Property Report for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
 
1.  Real property listτ§2896(3) of Public Authorities Law of the State of New York requires that each 
public authority must publish, at least annually, a report listing all real property of the authority.  At 
December 31, 2015, the Authority is in title to the real property indicated in the list below.  Parcels are 
listed first by rail line (i.e., first the Southern Tier Extension Line, followed by the Buffalo Line), then 
within each line by county (proceeding west to east on the Southern Tier Extension Line; all parcels 
comprising the Buffalo Line that are owned by the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority are 
located in Cattaraugus County), and then by municipality (proceeding in approximate west-to-east order 
on the Southern Tier Extension Line and in approximate north-to-south order on the Buffalo Line). 
 

Notes on Parcel Value and Authority to Dispose of Property:  All properties comprising the 
Southern Tier Extension Line were acquired in 2001 by the Authority for a total of $1.00 in a 
ǎƛƴƎƭŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ tŜƴƴǎȅƭǾŀƴƛŀ [ƛƴŜǎ [[/ όbƻǊŦƻƭƪ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ǊŜŀƭ 
property holding company).  The terms of this transaction provide that the Authority is in title to 
these parcels for a period of years, with the subsequent eventual reversion of the real estate 
parcels to Pennsylvania Lines LLC.  Additionally, the terms of this transaction vest the exclusive 
authority for real property transactions of these parcels in Norfolk Southern Corporation; the 
Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority has no legal authority to unilaterally dispose of or 
transfer property, or to set the price for property disposed of or transferred, without the 
approval and direction of Norfolk Southern Corporation. 
 
Additionally, all properties comprising the Buffalo Line were acquired in 2007 by the Authority 
for a total of $1.00 in a second single transaction from Pennsylvania Lines LLC (Norfolk Southern 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ǊŜŀƭ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅύΦ  ¢Ƙe terms of this transaction provide 
that the Authority is in title to these parcels for a period of years, with the subsequent eventual 
reversion of the real estate parcels to Pennsylvania Lines LLC; the Southern Tier Extension 
Railroad Authority has no legal authority to unilaterally dispose of or transfer property, or to set 
the price for property disposed of or transferred, without the approval and direction of Norfolk 
Southern Corporation. 
 
Accordingly, the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority does not have the ability to sell any 
of the real property listed in this report. 

 
Property listings were updated in 2010 and 2011 based on new information provided by each of the six 
counties. 
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Parcel Identification # Municipality  Property Description   
 
Southern Tier Extension Line 
 
Erie County (PA) 
 
5017000000000  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
6006000000000  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
6021000000000  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
5020000000000  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
08035118000300  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
08034117000100  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
07026085001401  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
07026085001400  City of Corry  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
 
Warren County (PA) 
 
yv-001-89615   Freehold Township  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
cy-002-8637   Columbus Township  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
cy-003-9396   Columbus Township  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
 
Chautauqua County (NY) (see Note 1 below) 
 
91-9-91..RR1   Town of Harmony Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Town of Harmony Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
107-1-1.1.S001   Town of Busti  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
385.00-1-21   Town of Busti  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
385.07-5-2   Town of Busti  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
401.00-2-5   Town of Busti  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.15-1-14   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Town of Ellicott  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.15-1-14   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Village of Celoron Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
107-1-1.1.S001   Village of Lakewood Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
385.00-1-21   Village of Lakewood Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
385.07-5-2   Village of Lakewood Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
401.00-2-5   Village of Lakewood Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
1-1-75.10   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
1-1-77   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
2-1-695   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
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Parcel Identification # Municipality  Property Description   
370.03-1-4   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
370.20-7-30   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
370.20-7-30..A   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
370.20-7-5   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.17-1-12   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.17-1-12..A   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.17-2-29   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
387.48-1-43   City of Jamestown Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
13-17-1..RR   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
371.15-1-14   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR1   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
91-9-91..RR2   Village of Falconer Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
339.15-2-2   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
339.15-2-41   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
340.00-1-15   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
340.00-1-17   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
356.00-2-52   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
372.00-1-2   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
92-9-92..RR1   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
92-9-92..RR2   Town of Poland  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
 
Cattaraugus County (NY) (see Note 2 below) 
 
69.002-1-48  Town of Conewango Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
69.004-1-47.2  Town of Randolph Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
70.071-4-6  Village of Randolph Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
79.002-1-30  Town of Randolph Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
80.003-1-35.2  Town of Cold Spring Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
70.000-1-.295  Town of Red House Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
70.000-1-.331  Town of Salamanca Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
73.071-1-11.1  City of Salamanca Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
73.004-1-46  Town of Great Valley Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
101.001-1-39./1  Town of Carrollton Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
101.001-1-39./2  Town of Carrollton Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.003-1-14.1  Town of Allegany Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.003-1-20  Town of Allegany Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
93.051-1-1  Village of Allegany Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.040-1-26  City of Olean  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.048-1-3./1  City of Olean  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.073-3-25.1  City of Olean  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
94.073-4-17  City of Olean  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
77.003-1-2  Town of Hinsdale Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
77.003-1-44  Town of Hinsdale Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
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Parcel Identification # Municipality  Property Description   
 
Allegany County (NY) 
 
181.-1-14.2   Town of Cuba  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
181.-1-16   Town of Cuba  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
179.6-1-20   Village of Cuba  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
157.-1-17   Town of Friendship Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
182.11-1-49   Town of Friendship Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
182.11-2-6   Town of Friendship Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
182.12-1-1   Town of Friendship Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
182.-1-86   Town of Friendship Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
158.-1-33   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
158.-1-33.202   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
185.-1-90   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
185.-1-90.202   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
199.-1-19.202   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
199.-1-20   Town of Amity  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
172.13-1-67   Village of Belmont Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
199.-3-36   Town of Scio  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
225.-1-29   Town of Scio  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
214.-1-65   Town of Wellsville Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
225.20-1-65   Village of Wellsville Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
238.8-3-89.1   Village of Wellsville Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
239.-1-57   Town of Wellsville Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
203.-1-40   Town of Andover Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
216.11-1-65   Village of Andover Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
152.-1-44   Town of Alfred  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
177.-1-37   Town of Alfred  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
126.-1-50   Town of Almond  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
126.11-1-21   Village of Almond Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
 
Steuben County (NY) 
 
149.20-01-006.000  Village of Almond Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
150.00-01-066.000  Town of Hornellsville  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
150.00-01-025.000  Town of Hornellsville  Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
151.13-01-091.000  City of Hornell   Southern Tier Extension Right of Way 
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Parcel Identification # Municipality  Property Description   
 
Buffalo Line 
 
Cattaraugus County (NY) 
 
31.001-1-48.2  Town of Machias Buffalo Line Right of Way 
31.003-1-22  Town of Machias Buffalo Line Right of Way 
40.001-2-24  Town of Farmersville Buffalo Line Right of Way 
40.003-1-22  Town of Franklinville Buffalo Line Right of Way 
40.078-1-2  Village of Franklinville Buffalo Line Right of Way 
49.003-1-27  Town of Franklinville Buffalo Line Right of Way 
58.004-1-31  Town of Ischua  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
58.004-1-31./1  Town of Ischua  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
76.004-2-22  Town of Hinsdale Buffalo Line Right of Way 
85.004-1-27  Town of Olean  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
94.048-1-3  City of Olean  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
94.056-2-57  City of Olean  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
94.076-1-77  Town of Olean  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
104.002-1-57  Town of Portville  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
104.002-1-57./1  Town of Portville  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
104.058-1-1  Village of Portville  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
113.002-1-50  Town of Portville  Buffalo Line Right of Way 
 
 

Note 1:  In 2010, Chautauqua County stopped using two sets of parcel identification numbers, an old 
numbering convention and a new numbering convention.  STERA has included only the new 
numbering convention herein. 
 
Note 2:  In prior years, Cattaraugus County had indicated that it did not report separate parcel 
numbers for the Southern Tier Extension Railroad line in the towns of Cold Spring, Red House, and 
Carrollton; accordingly, in prior years, these real estate interests (which apparently were classified 
as and grouped together as single rights of way on the Allegany Territory of the Seneca Nation of 
Indians, as opposed to being separate parcels) were not listed herein.  However, in 2010, 
Cattaraugus County did report separate parcel numbers for one parcel in the Town of Cold Spring, 
two parcels in the Town of Carrollton, and in 2011, Cattaraugus County did report one parcel in the 
Town of Red House.  There also continues to be one parcel number listed for all acreage in the Town 
of Salamanca. 

 
2. Real property acquisitions τThe Authority did not make any real property acquisitions during the 
year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
3. Real property dispositions τ Per the notes to Item #1 above on the first page of this Report, the 
Authority did not sell or otherwise dispose of any real property during the year ended December 31, 
2016. 
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Schedule of Personal and Real Property Transactions 
 
Following is the Schedule of Personal and Real Property Transactions for the year ending December 31, 
2016. 
 
As regards personal property, this schedule indicates that: 

¶ STERA owned no personal property during 2065, and 

¶ STERA undertook no personal property transactions (i.e., acquisitions or dispositions) during 2016. 
 
As regards real property, this schedule indicates that: 

¶ STERA undertook no real property transactions (i.e., acquisitions or dispositions) during 2016. 

¶ As of December 31, 2016, STERA owned no real property with fair market value in excess of $15,000 
that it intended to dispose of. 

 
 

Schedule of Personal and Real Property Transactions 
For the Year Ending December 31, 2016 

 
Personal Property 

 
Fair market value of all personal property owned 

by STERA, December 31, 2016    $0 (0 items) 

Total number of personal property transactions, 
year ending December 31, 2016    0 

Total value of all personal property transactions, 
year ending December 31, 2016    $0 

 
 

Real Estate 
 

Total number of real property transactions,  
year ending December 31, 2016    0 

Fair market value of all real property having an 
estimated fair market value in excess of 
$15,000 that STERA intends to dispose of, 
held by STERA at December 31, 2016   $0 (0 such parcels) 

Fair market value of all real property having an  
estimated fair market value in excess of 
$15,000 that STERA disposed of during 
the year ending December 31, 2016   $0 (0 such parcels) 
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Property Disposition Report for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
Following is a Property Disposition Report for the Year Ending December 31, 2016, covering both real 
and personal property. 
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Property Disposition Report for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
 
1. Notes on Authority to Dispose of Real Property and Setting Parcel Value and Sale Price: 
 
All real property parcels comprising the Southern Tier Extension Line were acquired in 2001 by the 
Authority for a total of $1.00 in a single transaction from Pennsylvania Lines LLC (Norfolk Southern 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ǊŜŀƭ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ, which has since been absorbed by Norfolk 
Southern Corporation).  The terms of this transaction provide that the Authority is in title to these 
parcels for a period of years, with the subsequent eventual reversion of the real estate parcels to 
Pennsylvania Lines LLC.  Additionally, the terms of this transaction vest the exclusive authority for real 
property transactions involving these parcels in Norfolk Southern Corporation; the Southern Tier 
Extension Railroad Authority has no legal authority to unilaterally dispose of or transfer property, or to 
set the price for property disposed of or transferred, without the approval and direction of Norfolk 
Southern Corporation. 
 
Additionally, all real property parcels comprising the Buffalo Line were acquired in 2007 by the Authority 
for a total of $1.00 in a second single transaction from Pennsylvania Lines LLC (Norfolk Southern 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ ǊŜŀƭ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅύΦ  ¢ƘŜ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ 
Authority is in title to these parcels for a period of years, with the subsequent eventual reversion of the 
real estate parcels to Pennsylvania Lines LLC.  Additionally, the terms of this transaction vest the 
exclusive authority for real property transactions involving these parcels in Norfolk Southern 
Corporation; the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority has no legal authority to unilaterally 
dispose of or transfer property, or to set the price for property disposed of or transferred, without the 
approval and direction of Norfolk Southern Corporation. 
 
Accordingly, the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority does not have the legal authority or ability 

to sell any of the real property to which it is title or to unilaterally set the price or terms for any parcel 

sold. 

 
2. Real Property Dispositions during the year ended December 31, 2016 
 
Per item #1 above, the Authority did not sell or otherwise dispose of any real property during the year 
ended December 31, 2016. 
 
3. Personal Property 
 
STERA owned no personal property during 2016.  Additionally, STERA undertook no personal property 
transactions (i.e., procurements or dispositions) during the year ended December 31, 2016. 
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Description of the Total Amounts of Assets, Services or Both Assets and Services Bought or Sold 
Without Competitive Bidding During the Year Ending December 31, 2016 
 
The Public Authorities Accountability Act and the 2009 Public Authorities Reform Act do not have 
specific requirements for local public authorities for competitive bidding for purchase or sale 
transactions.  Section 2879 of the Public Authorities Accountability Act is specifically limited to state 
authorities, and does not include requirements for local public authorities. 
 
However, Section 103 of the New York State General Municipal Law requires that all local public 
authorities use the competitive bid process for all of contracts for public work involving an expenditure 
of more than twenty thousand dollars and for all purchase contracts involving an expenditure of more 
than ten thousand dollars.  Further, Section 104-b of the New York State General Municipal Law requires 
authorities such as STERA to develop procurement guidelines, and specifies their content. 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ /ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŀƴŘ tǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ tƻƭƛŎȅ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜǎ ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ New York State 
General Municipal Law, New York State Public Authorities Law, Title 28-AA, Section 2642 and U.S. Code 
of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Volume 15, Chapter 30, Part 3019, Subpart C, Sec. 3019.44. 
 
In 2016, STERA was not involved in any public works contracts and did not enter into any purchase 
contracts involving an expenditure of more than ten thousand dollars. 
 
By the certification of this Annual Report by the Chief Executive Officer of STERA, he certifies that he has 
reviewed all purchases of assets, services, or both assets and services that were purchased by STERA 
during 2016 for more than fair market value, and all sales of assets, services, or both assets and services 
that were sold by STERA during 2016 for less than fair market value, and he has determined that STERA 
complies with applicable law and procurement guidelines, inŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ {¢9w!Ωǎ Contract and Procurement 
Policy, Section 103 of the New York State General Municipal Law, the Public Authorities Accountability 
Act, and the 2009 Public Authorities Reform Act.  STERA undertook no such purchases or sales during 
2016. 
 
Procurement Report 
 
All Procurement Contracts entered into during 2016: 
 
Vendor     Subject    Value  
Edward Bysiek CPA, PLLC   Audit Services  $       3,000.00 
Hayes Corporation    Directors and Officers Insurance $       5,182.00 
RONY     Membership Fee  $       1,000.00 
Southern Tier West RPDB   Administrative Services $     17,500.00 
Western New York and Pennsylvania  
 Railroad, LLC.   Railroad Rehabilitation Services 
     Buffalo Line 71.301 $   148,322.53 
     STE Rehab 17.301 $   282,868.10 
     FEMA  $   161,022.98 
     Total WNYP  $   592,213.81 
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Procurement contract entered into during 2016 with New York State businesses and governmental 
entities: 
 
Vendor     Subject   Value 
Edward Bysiek CPA, PLLC   Audit Services  $       3,000.00 
RONY     Membership Fee  $       1,000.00 
Southern Tier West RPDB   Administrative Services $     17,500.00 
Western New York and Pennsylvania  
 Railroad, LLC.   Railroad Rehabilitation Services 
     Buffalo Line 71.301 $   148,322.53 
     STE Rehab 17.301 $   282,868.10 
     FEMA  $   161,022.98 
     Total WNYP  $   592,213.81 
 
Procurement contract entered into during 2016 with foreign business enterprises: 
None 
 
 
Report Details: 
 
1. In 2016, STERA was not involved with any public works contracts or construction contracts, as these 

types of contracts are defined. 

2. During 2016, STERA engaged in a number of procurements of services from WNYP made with 
federal (FEMA) funds.  Each procurement was less than $100,000, and thus did not require 
competitive procurement, although cumulatively these payments to WNYP totaled $161,022.98 in 
2016.  Nonetheless, for these procurements, STERA utilized a Best Value procurement practice to 
select the contractor. 

3. During 2016, STERA procured directors and officers insurance through competitive procurement and 
bid processes, and selected the low price quotation.  {¢9w!Ωǎ ōǊƻƪŜǊ ŘƛŘ ǎŜŜƪ ǇǊƛŎŜ ǉǳƻǘŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŦƻǊ 
the directors and officers insurance and STERA selected the low price quotation.  STERA has certified 
that the fees paid for this service represents fair market value for this service. 

4. STERA has procured independent auditing services through a competitive procurement process, 
resulting in a multi-year (five year) contract, the last year of which will be the audit for the year 
ending December 31, 2019.  In any event, as was indicated above, STERA is not required to procure 
professional services (such as auditing services) through a competitive procurement process.  
Contracts for professional services involve contracting for the application of specialized expertise, 
the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity.  Professional services also may 
include services which require special education and/or training, license to practice, or that are 
creative in nature. 

5. During 2016, STERA utilized no legal services.  If STERA had utilized legal services in 2016, it would 
have procured them from its longstanding legal counsel, which was selected owing to its expertise 
relating to public authorities.  STERA has certified that the fees paid for these services represent fair 
market value for these services, especially given the specialized nature of the services provided and 
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the expertise required.  In any event, as was indicated above, STERA is not required to procure 
professional services (such as legal counsel services) through a competitive procurement process.  
Contracts for professional services involve contracting for the application of specialized expertise, 
the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity.  Professional services also may 
include services which require special education and/or training, license to practice, or that are 
creative in nature. 

6. During 2016, STERA procured administrative and staffing services, including construction contract 
administration services, from its longstanding vendor Southern Tier West Regional Planning and 
Development Board.  STERA continues to procure these services from this entity because of its 
expertise and experience relevant to STERA; because of its position of providing services to the 
counties, municipalities and private sector in the southern tier counties of New York State; because 
ƻŦ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ ²ŜǎǘΩǎ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ŎƻƴǎŜǉǳŜƴǘ ōŀǎƛǎ ŦƻǊ ǇǊƛŎƛƴƎ 
contracts of this nature as cost-based contracts as opposed to profit-based contracts; and because 
ƻŦ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ ²ŜǎǘΩǎ ǊŜŎƻǊŘ ƻŦ ƛƳǇŀǊǘƛŀƭƛǘȅ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ōŜŦƻǊŜ ǘƘŜ 
authority.  STERA did not procure these administrative services through a competitive procurement 
process.  Nonetheless, STERA certifies that this procurement is a Best Value procurement of 
services, that it could not procure services of equal quality from any source, and that it could not 
procure satisfactory substitute services at a lower or even equal price.  Furthermore, STERA certifies 
that the fees paid for all of these services represent fair market value for these services, especially 
given the specialized nature of the services provided and the expertise required.  STERA feels that 
this relationship allows it to obtain these services necessary to its operation at a fair price that does 
not exceed their market value. 

7. During 2017, STERA continued its annual procurement of membership in the Railroads of New York 
(RONY) industry group.  STERA feels that this membership provides STERA with access to 
information essential to its operations and ability to effect its mission.  RONY sets membership fees, 
so competitive procurement is impossible. 

 
Certifications:  The Chief Executive Officer of STERA certifies that he has reviewed the terms of these 
purchases of services and has determined that they comply with applicable law and procurement 
guidelines, including {¢9w!Ωǎ /ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŀƴŘ tǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ tƻƭƛŎȅΣ and also certifies that none of these 
contracts involved a contract price for services purchased that exceeded fair market value. 

On March 27, 2017, the STERA Board of Directors reviewed the terms of these purchases of services and 
determined that they comply with applicable law and procurement guidelines, including {¢9w!Ωǎ 
Contract and Procurement Policy, and also certifies that none of these contracts involved a contract 
price for services purchased that exceeded fair market value. 
 
 

   
RICHARD T. ZINK 

Chief Executive Officer 
 

 March 27, 2017   
Date 

 



 

68 

Procurement Guidelines 
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŀǊŜ {¢9w!Ωǎ ǇǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ά/ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŀƴŘ tǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ tƻƭƛŎȅΦέ 
 

 



 

69 

 

 
 
 

CONTRACT AND PROCUREMENT POLICY 
 
 
1. The Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority (hereinafter 
ά!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅέύ Ƙŀǎ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ǘƘƛǎ /ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŀƴŘ tǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ tƻƭƛŎȅ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ŎƻƳǇƭȅ ǿƛǘƘΥ 

A. NYS Public Authorities Law (PAL), Title 28-AA, Section 2642-Ƴ όǇǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ {¢9w!Ωǎ ŜƴŀōƭƛƴƎ 
legislation). 

B. NYS Public Authorities Law (PAL), Section 2824 (general procurement requirements for public authorities in NYS). 

C. NYS Labor Law, Section 2нл όǘƘŜ άǎǘŀǘŜ ǇǊŜǾŀƛƭƛƴƎ ǿŀƎŜ ƭŀǿέύΣ ƻƴƭȅ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ 
construction contracts undertaken by the Authority. 

D. b¸{ {ǘŀǘŜ CƛƴŀƴŎŜ [ŀǿ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ мор όǘƘŜ ά²ƛŎƪǎ [ŀǿέύΣ ƻƴƭȅ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ 
contracts undertaken by the Authority. 

E. NYS State Finance Law, Sections 139-j and 139-ƪ όǘƘŜ άtǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ [ƻōōȅƛƴƎ [ŀǿέύΦ 

F. NYS Executive Law Article 15-A (MWBE requirements), applicable to all procurement contracts undertaken by the 
Authority. 

G. US Code of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Volume 15, Chapter 30, Part 3019, section 3019.44, only applicable for 
purchase contracts using federal funds of $100,000 or more. 

Any conflicts between this Contract and Procurement Policy and those laws shall be resolved in favor of those laws. 

2. General procurement procedures with respect to competitive procurement: 

A. The Authority may procure commodities, equipment, goods or services not otherwise subject to the provisions of 
either paragraph 2.B or paragraph 2.C herein through a Best Value standard, which takes into consideration other 
factors than just price, per the following procedures: 

1. Up to $5,000 per instance ς Purchases may be made without competitive procurement at the discretion of the 
Chairperson or chief executive officer of the Authority or other authorized designee. 

2. Greater than $5,000 to $50,000 per instance ς Purchases may be made based upon documented verbal 
quotations or written/fax/email quotations from at least three vendors. 

3. Greater than $50,000 per instance ς Purchases may be made based upon Written Request for Proposal. 

4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Authority is not required to procure professional services through a 
competitive procurement process.  Contracts for professional services involve the application of specialized 
expertise, the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity.  Professional services also may 
include services which require special education and/or training, license to practice or are creative in nature.  
Examples include: lawyers, accountants, and engineers.  Additionally, professional service contracts often 
involve a relationship of trust and confidence in the vendor.  Procurement of professional services is not 
subject to the solicitation procedures contained herein. 

5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should the Authority make a determination that the public interest is best 
served by making a purchase of commodities, equipment, goods or services without competitive 



 

70 

procurement, finding: 

a. that the proposed vendor is qualified to perform the work required or provide the commodities, 
equipment, goods or services required,  

b. that the proposed vendor is responsible and reliable,  

c. that the price to be set for the procurement is likely to be either the lowest price if a competitive 
procurement were followed or a fair market price for the commodities, equipment, goods or services 
required, that is, the price is likely to be a Best Value, and  

d. that there is some valid public purpose for not undertaking a competitive procurement process, to include 
but not be limited to public safety, public health, and timeliness,  

then the Authority may procure those commodities, equipment, goods or services without competitive 
procurement, regardless of the dollar value involved, provided that the procurement does not involve either: 

a. a procurement involving an expenditure of more than $5,000 that is related to a new construction 
project, per paragraph 2.B, or 

b. a purchase involving federal funds of $100,000 or more, per paragraph 2.C. 

6. Notwithstanding the foregoing, should cumulative procurements pursuant to paragraphs 2.A.1 or 2.A.2 above 
exceed $100,000 per calendar year for a single vendor, the Authority shall consider preparing a Written 
Request for Proposal for such procurements. 

B. Competitive procurement is required by NYS Public Authorities Law Section 2642-m for any construction contract 
involving an expenditure of more than $5,000.  The contract must be awarded to the lowest bidder who, in 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴΣ ƛǎ ǉǳŀƭƛŦƛŜŘ ǘƻ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ and who is responsible and reliable.  However, this 
competitive procurement requirement applies only to new construction projects and not to contracts for 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, improvements, maintenance, or repair work, which are considered to be non-
construction projects. 

C. Competitive procurement is required by US Code of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Volume 15, Chapter 30, Part 3019, 
section 3019.44 for any procurements made with federal funds involving a contract of $100,000 or more.  See 
paragraph 5 herein for specific requirements.  However, when utilizing federal funds, competitive bidding is not 
required for procurements of less than $100,000.   

3. Other specific procurement requirements not related to competitive procurement: 

A. Construction contracts involving the reconstruction of, rehabilitation of, and improvements to buildings are 
required to conform to state prevailing wage law (NYS Labor Law Section 220) and Wicks Law (NYS Finance Law 
Section 135). 

B. The Authority must conform to the requirements of NYS Executive Law Article 15-A relating to MWBE 
requirements with respect to all procurements.  This Article 15-A requirement does not require a competitive 
procurement procedure. 

C. The Authority must conform to the requirements of the Procurement Lobbying Law contained in NYS Finance Law 
Sections 139-j and 139-k, which relate to ensuring that only permissible contacts occur during the restricted period 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ŦƻǊ ǇǊƻŎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴǾƻƭǾƛƴƎ ŀƴ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ŀƴƴǳŀƭƛȊŜŘ ŜȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊe in excess 
of $15,000.  The Sections 139-j and 139-k requirements do not require a competitive procurement procedure. 

4. Miscellaneous procurement provisions: 

A. Any contract awarded by the Authority shall contain such terms and conditions as the Authority may deem 
desirable, consistent with the provisions of this Policy and all applicable law. 
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B. The Authority may reject any or all bids or waive any informality in a bid if it believes that the public interest will be 
promoted thereby.  The Authority may reject any bid, if, in its judgment, the business and technical organization, 
plant, resources, financial standing, or experience of the bidder justifies such rejection in view of the work to be 
performed. 

C. The Authority is not subject to the NYS General Municipal Law. 

D. The Authority is not subject to NYS Finance Law Section 136-a. 

5. For purchase contracts involving federal funds of $100,000 or more, the Authority must adhere to the competitive 
procurement provisions of U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Volume 15, Chapter 30, Part 3019, Subpart C, 
Section 3019.44.  The requirements shall include the following: 

A. Normally, purchases shall be made by competitive procurement using a sealed bid or other bidding process in 
which the opportunity for collusion can be expected to be avoided or minimized.  The selected bidder normally 
shall be the apparent low bidder who meets the requirements or standards of paragraph 5.B herein. 

B. Contracts shall be made only with responsible contractors who possess the potential ability to perform successfully 
under the term and conditions of the proposed procurement.  Consideration shall be given to such matters as 
contractor integrity, record of past performance, financial and technical resources or accessibility to other 
necessary resources.  In certain circumstances, contracts with certain parties are restricted by agencies' 
ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ¦Φ{Φ 9ΦhΦΩǎ мнрпф ŀƴŘ мнсуфΣ ά5ŜōŀǊƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ {ǳǎǇŜƴǎƛƻƴΦέ 

C. The Authority shall make positive efforts to utilize small businesses, minority-owned firms, and women's business 
enterprises, whenever possible.  In this regard, the Authority shall consider in the contract process whether firms 
competing for larger contracts intend to subcontract with small businesses, minority-owned firms, and women's 
business enterprises. 

D. The Authority shall determine the type of contract used (e.g., fixed price contracts, cost reimbursable contracts, 
purchase orders, and incentive contracts), but in any event the contract used shall be appropriate for the particular 
procuremŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƳƻǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ōŜǎǘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳ ƻǊ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜŘΦ  ¢ƘŜ άŎƻǎǘ-plus-a-
percentage-of-Ŏƻǎǘέ ƻǊ άǇŜǊŎŜƴǘŀƎŜ ƻŦ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ Ŏƻǎǘέ ƳŜǘƘƻŘǎ ƻŦ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘƛƴƎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ƴƻǘ ōŜ ǳǎŜŘΦ 

E. The Authority shall keep records of and, on request, make available for the Federal awarding agency, any and all 
pre-award review and procurement documents, such as requests for proposals or invitations for bids, independent 
cost estimates, etc., when any of the following conditions apply: 

1. ¢ƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇǊƻŎǳrement procedures or operation fails to comply with the procurement requirements of 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 7, Volume 15, Chapter 30, Part 3019, Subpart C, Section 3019.44 and 
the standards and requirements of the Federal funding program used to fund the procurement. 

2. The procurement is expected to exceed the small purchase threshold of $100,000 and is to be awarded 
without competition or is to be awarded when only one bid or offer is received in response to a solicitation or 
is to be awarded to other than the apparent low bidder under a sealed bid procurement. 

3. The procurement, which is expected to exceed the small purchase threshold, specifies a ``brand name'' 
product. 

4. A proposed contract modification changes the scope of a contract or increases the contract amount by more 
than the amount of the small purchase threshold. 
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This Policy was approved and adopted on March 8, 2012 
by the Board of Directors of the  

Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority. 
 

  
Name   

 
 Corporate Secretary  

Office   
 

 March 7, 2016   
Date   
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Investment Report 
 
After a review of the !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Investment Policy on March 27, 2017, the Authority Board made a finding that 
ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ tƻƭƛŎȅ ǿŀǎ ŀǇǇǊƻǇǊƛŀǘŜ ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ǊŜǾƛǎƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ƳŀŘŜ ŀ ŦƛƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘΣ ǇŜƴŘing any 
information to the contrary found in the audit process for the year ending December 31, 2016, the Authority 
was in compliance with applicable law and the !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Investment Policy. 
 
The Authority has no investments as of December 31, 2016, and had no investments at any time during 2016. 
 
 
Investment Policy 
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Investment Policy effective as of December 31, 2016. 
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INVESTMENT POLICY 
 
 
1. General Considerations 

A. Scope ς This investment and deposit policy applies to all monies and other financial resources available 
for investment and deposit. 

B. Objectives ς ¢ƘŜ ǇǊƛƳŀǊȅ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜΣ ƛƴ ǇǊƛƻǊƛǘȅ ƻǊŘŜǊΥ 

1. to conform with all applicable federal, state and other legal requirements (legal); 

2. to adequately safeguard principal (safety); 

3. to provide sufficient liquidity to meet all operating requirements (liquidity); and 

4. to obtain a reasonable rate of return (yield). 

C. Prudence ς All participants in the investment process and all participants responsible for depositing the 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŦǳƴŘǎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ǎŜŜƪ ǘƻ ŀŎǘ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭȅ ŀǎ ŎǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ǘǊǳǎǘ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ŀǾƻƛŘ ŀƴȅ 
transaction that might impair confidence in the Corporation to govern effectively. 

Investments and deposits shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, 
which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, 
not for speculation, but for investment, considering the safety of the principal as well as the probable 
income to be derived. 

All participants involved in the investment process and all participants responsible for depositing the 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŦǳƴŘǎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ǊŜŦǊŀƛƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŎƻƴŦlict with proper execution 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǇƻǎƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŦǳƴŘǎ ƻǊ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ƛƳǇŀƛǊ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ 
make impartial investment decisions. 

D. Diversification ς It is the policy of the Corporation to diversify its deposits and investments by financial 
institution, by investment instrument, and by maturity scheduling. 

E. Internal Controls 

1. !ƭƭ ƳƻƴŜȅΩǎ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀƴ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊ ƻǊ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜƭȅ ŘŜǇƻǎƛǘŜŘ ƛƴ 
such depositories and designated by the Corporation for the receipt of such funds. 

2. The Corporation shall maintain or cause to be maintained a proper record of all book, notes, 
securities or other evidences of indebtedness held by the Corporation for investment and deposit 
purposes. 

3. The Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that deposits and investments are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions are executed in accordance with 
management's authorization and recorded properly, and are managed in compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. 
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2. Investment Policy 

Permitted Investments ς Pursuant to Section 2642-l of the Public Authorities Law, all monies of the 
Corporation from whatever source derived shall be paid to the Treasurer of the Corporation and shall be 
deposited forthwith in an interest-bearing accounts a bank or banks designated by the Corporation.  The 
monies in such accounts shall be paid out or withdrawn on the order of such person or persons as the 
Corporation may authorize to make such requisitions.  All deposits of such monies shall be secured by 
obligations of the United States or of the state or any municipality of a market value equal at all times to the 
amount on deposit and all banks and trust companies are authorized to give such security for such deposits.  
To the extent practical, consistent with the cash requirements of the Corporation, all such monies shall be 
deposited in interest-bearing accounts.  Any monies of the Corporation not required for immediate use or 
disbursement may, be invested in accordance with Section ninety-eight or ninety-eight-a of the State Finance 
Law. 

 
 
 
 
 

This Policy was approved and adopted on April 30, 2007 
by the Board of Directors of the  

Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority. 
 

  
Name   

 
 Corporate Secretary  

Office   
 

 March 7, 2016   
Date   
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Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls  
 
In 2016, STERA had minimal financial transactions.  In fact, it is common for STERA to have few financial 
transactions other than those involved in (grant-funded) railroad rehabilitation contracts.  For railroad 
rehabilitation contract transactions, STERA and {¢9w!Ωǎ contracted engineer typically review all invoices 
prior to the invoicing of funding agencies, and the funding agency typically review all invoices prior to 
disbursing funds to STERA, after which STERA disburses funds to contractors.  Further, railroad 
rehabilitation projects typically are subject to a post-completion financial and compliance review and/or 
audit by the funding agencies. 
 
The Authority has conducted a formal, documented process to assess the effectiveness of its internal 
control structure and procedures, and has concluded that its internal control structure and procedures 
are adequate.  By the express authorization of the Authority Board of Directors, this assessment for the 
year ending December 31, 2016 was completed by the Authority Audit Committee, and was 
memorialized by resolution at the Board of Directors meeting held on March 27, 2017. 
 
In completing the assessment, the Audit Committee and the Authority Board of Directors took into 
account 2005 Public Authorities Accountability Act requirements for the annual assessment of the 
AuthoriǘȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎΣ ǘƘŜ b¸{ !.h ƎǳƛŘŀƴŎŜ ƻƴ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎΣ a set of questions prepared by 
ǎǘŀŦŦ ƛƴ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎΣ the 
recommendations of the independent auditor.  The STERA Board of Directors requires Board 
involvement in the preparation, review, and presentation of internal interim financial statements, and 
requires Board members and Corporate officers to complete Cattaraugus County Ethics filing 
documents.  On March 27, 2017, at the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Authority Board 
of Directors approved the Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls, and also made a finding 
that the internal controls are adequate without revision. 
 
The above statement certifies that STEw!Ωǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ Ƙŀǎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎŜǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 
control structure and procedures of STERA for the year ending December 31, 2016.  This assessment 
ŦƻǳƴŘ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ŀŘŜǉǳŀǘŜΣ ŀƴŘ as no deficiencies were identified during the 
indepenent audit process, no corrective action plans were necessary to reduce any corresponding risk. 
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘ ά{¢9w! !ǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 9ŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ /ƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ March 2017έ for 
the year ending December 31, 2016, approved on March 27, 2017 by the Authority Board of Directors. 
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STERA ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

Prepared for the Year Ending December 31, 2016 
 

March 27, 2017 
 
 
This assessment is prepared in conformity to the NY{ !.h tƻƭƛŎȅ DǳƛŘŀƴŎŜΣ άAssessment of the 
9ŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ /ƻƴǘǊƻƭǎΦέ 
 
A. Definition of the Authority's Major Business Functions 
 
Mission of the Authority - The mission of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority is to fulfill the 
intent of the New York State Legislature in creating it, which was "to preserve and enhance the system 
of railroads serving Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben counties in New York state and 
Warren and Erie counties in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, so as to insure a healthy economy for 
these counties." 
 
The goals of the Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority are (a) to encourage an operating railroad 
that provides adequate rail service, (b) to catalyze increased rail shipping carload volumes, (c) to create 
and seize opportunities for additional business expansion and development based on rail service, (d) to 
undertake and catalyze rehabilitation efforts and improved functional performance of the rail lines, (e) 
to encourage safe railroad operations, and (f) to achieve a clean audit report and NYS ABO compliance 
report 
 
!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ tǊƛƳŀǊȅ hǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ wŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ς The Authority is responsible for: 

¶ operating in conformity with all applicable laws and regulations,  

¶ the ownership of certain railroad assets for the benefit of the public good,  

¶ operating consistently with the public trust and best interests of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, 
Allegany and Steuben counties in New York state and Warren and Erie counties in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the municipalities and school districts therein, 

¶ the proper and appropriate use of public funds 

¶ the maintenance of good operating relationships with affected railroad operating companies, 
the business community, and certain public entities including but not limited to NYS DOT 

¶ undertaking certain capital projects, including rehabilitation of railroad assets and construction 
of assets that will further the mission of the Authority 
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Indication of responsibilities of various business units, operations and functions that have been put in 
place to achieve the goals of the Authority ς There are no other business units, operations and 
functions that have been put in place to achieve the goals of the Authority. 
 
Definition of the Objectives of the Authority ς The AuthorityΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜΥ 

¶ the promotion of the ongoing and permanent commercial viability of the railroad system 
operating in southwestern New York State and northwestern Pennsylvania 

¶ the increased utilization of railroad shipping by companies operating in southwestern New York 
State and northwestern Pennsylvania 

¶ growth in real property and sales tax bases of the affected counties in New York state and the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the municipalities and school districts therein 

 
Policies, procedures and guidelines in place to guide staff in the operations of each specific business 
function, communicate the objectives, and provide the methods and procedures used to assess the 
effectiveness of those functions ς STERA has in place the following policies: 
 

¶ Bylaws 

¶ Audit Committee Charter 

¶ Governance Committee Charter 
 

¶ Code of Ethics 

¶ Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy 

¶ Competencies and Personal Attributes Required of Board Members 

¶ Defense and Indemnification Policy 

¶ Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy 

¶ Internal Control Procedures 

¶ Investment Policy 

¶ Lobbying Policy 

¶ Management Performance Evaluation Standards 

¶ Measurement Standards for Performance Evaluation 

¶ Mission Statement 

¶ New Member Orientation Process 

¶ New Member Orientation Process Reference Document 

¶ Procurement Guidelines 

¶ Property Disposition Guidelines 

¶ Public Access to Records Policy 

¶ Public Access to Records - Subject Matter List 

¶ Records Management Program 

¶ Travel and Use of Discretionary Funds Policy 

¶ Uniform Tax Exemption Policy 

¶ Whistleblower Policy 
 
STERA also has the following policy in a state of preparation: 
 

¶ Personnel Policy 
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The Personnel Policy is not a priority inasmuch as STERA does not have, and does not foresee having, 
any personnel / employees. 
 
STERA also has in place the following three committees to help guide staff, implement business 
operations, and provide the methods and procedures used to assess the effectiveness of business 
functions: 
 

¶ Executive Committee 

¶ Audit Committee 

¶ Governance Committee 
 
The Authority has not created a Finance Committee inasmuch as it never has issued any debt. 
 
B. Determination of the Risks Associated with Authority Operations 
 
Risks        Risk Level 
Financial insolvency ς external causes    Low 
Financial insolvency ς internal causes    Low 
Liability for event occurring from railroad operations  Low (indemnified by Norfolk Southern) 
Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership  Low (indemnified by Norfolk Southern) 
Liability for event occurring during construction   Low (indemnified by contractors) 
 
Methods for Minimizing or Avoiding Risks 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς external causes 
o Method:  Avoiding activities that are not self-liquidating from external funding 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς internal causes 
o Method:  Separation of duties amongst contract staff with respect to cash handling, accounting 

transaction entry, preparation of interim internal financial statements, and review and 
reconciliation of bank statements and interim internal financial statements; involvement of 
Board (through the CFO, who is a Board member) in the review of interim internal financial 
statements and the review and reconciliation of bank statements and interim internal financial 
statements; review of interim internal financial statements by Audit Committee and full 
Authority Board; double signature requirement for all checks (CEO does not have signature 
authority); annual audits in which all financial transactions are reviewed; and ethics filings by 
Board and contract staff.  

¶ Liability for event occurring from railroad operations 
o Method:  Indemnification agreement with operating railroads, directors and officers insurance 

¶ Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership 
o Method:  Indemnification agreement with operating railroads, directors and officers insurance 

¶ Liability for event occurring during construction 
o Method:  Indemnification agreement with construction agents and engineering consultants, 

requiring construction agents and engineering consultants to have adequate insurance, 
directors and officers insurance 
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Frequency of Review of Risk Controls 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς external causes 
o This is an ongoing procedure.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Risk:  Financial insolvency ς internal causes 
o This is an ongoing procedure.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring from railroad operations 
o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreement in place and insurance in 

place.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring from real estate ownership 
o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreement in place and insurance in 

place.  It is reviewed annually. 

¶ Liability for event occurring during construction 
o This is an ongoing procedure, with the indemnification agreements and insurance requirements 

for construction agents and engineering consultants required of all such contracts.  Insurance is 
in place on an ongoing basis.  This policy is reviewed annually. 

 
C. Identification of the Internal Control Systems in Place 
 
The Authority has adopted a number of internal controls (policies, practices, attitudes, guidelines and 
other actions) that, when followed, provide reasonable assurance that the Board and staff understand 
and properly carry out their responsibilities, that appropriate professional and ethical conduct is 
observed, and that the Authority will honor its purpose and mission.  All Board members and 
management are aware of and understand the policies and practices that the Authority has adopted to 
ensure that the Authority is effective and to address the Ǌƛǎƪǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΦ  ¢ƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǇƻǎǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜō ǎƛǘŜ ŦƻǊ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ōȅ 
all Board members and management, and all Board members and management are given a copy of 
these policies and guidelines when they first become associated with the Authority. 
 
D. Assessment of the Extent to Which the Internal Control System is Effective 
 
¢ƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ ƛǎ ŀƴ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ƛƴǾƻƭǾƛƴƎ ŀ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ōȅ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
Governance Committee and Audit Committee, which identify and report any weaknesses of the internal 
control structure to the Authority Board of Directors and Management.  During this process, the 
Governance Committee and Audit Committee, using any recommendations from the independent 
auditor, evaluate the effectiveness of the existing control structure and determine whether current 
procedures are adequate with respect to mitigating risk, minimizing ineffectiveness and deterring 
opportunities that could lead to the abuse of corporate assets.  The Governance Committee and Audit 
Committee also evaluate whether the authority's policies and operating practices are understood and 
executed properly and whether these policies and practices are adequate to protect the organization 
from waste, abuse, misconduct, or inefficiency.  This assessment also is reported to the Authority Board 
of Directors and Management.  The primary vehicle for these assessments is inquiry and observation, 
supplemented by a review of documents and records as needed. 
 
E. Process for Corrective Action  
 
When a weakness is identified, the Governance Committee and/or Audit Committee recommend to the 
Authority Board of Directors and Management a corrective action plan.  The Board reviews any such 
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recommendation, modifies the proposed plan if necessary, and then adopts the corrective action plan, 
which is then monitored by Management, the Governance Committee, the Audit Committee, and the 
Authority Board of Directors. 
 
F. Internal Control Assessment and Certification 
 
As a local public authority, in order to satisfy the requirement of Section 2800 (2)(a)(8) of Public 
Authorities Law, STERA incorporates, either within its annual report or as a separate document, a 
statement explaining that the Authority has conducted a formal, documented process to assess the 
effectiveness of their internal control structure and procedures, and indicating whether or not the 
internal controls are adequate.  ¢Ƙƛǎ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ǇƻǎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜΦ  
 
Additionally, the Authority retains any documentation available to support the assessment of its internal 
controls.  If the Authority has found any deficiencies with the internal controls over its functions or 
operations, it retains additional documentation to demonstrate that it has adopted corrective action 
plans to address these weaknesses.  This documentation is available upon request to the Authority's 
independent auditor or to the NYS ABO compliance review staff.  
 
As part of the Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS) Annual Report process, STERA 
ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ƻǊ ƴƻǘ ƛǘ Ƙŀǎ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ǘƘƛǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ǘƘŜ ¦w[ ƭƛƴƪ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
website where STERA has posted the Annual Report, which includes the assessment and the required 
statement explaining that the Authority has conducted a formal, documented process to assess the 
effectiveness of their internal control structure and procedures, and indicating that the internal controls 
are adequate. 
 
This statement certifies that the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben Southern Tier 
Extension Railroad Authority followed a process that assessed and documented the adequacy of its 
internal control structure and policies for the year ending December 31, 2015.  To the extent that 
deficiencies were identified, the authority has developed corrective action plans to reduce any 
corresponding risk. 
 
 

   
RICHARD T. ZINK 

Executive Director (CEO) 
 

 March 27, 2017   
 Date 
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Legislation that Forms the Statutory Basis of the Authority 
 
Following is the legislation that forms the statutory basis of the Authority. 
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New York State Consolidated Laws 
Public Authorities 
 
 

TITLE 28-AA 
CHAUTAUQUA, CATTARAUGUS, ALLEGANY AND STEUBEN 

SOUTHERN TIER EXTENSION RAILROAD AUTHORITY 
 
Section 2642.   Short title. 

2642-a. Legislative findings and intent. 

2642-b. Definitions. 

2642-c. Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben southern tier extension railroad authority. 

2642-d. Purposes of the authority. 

2642-e. General powers of the authority. 

2642-f. Special powers of the authority. 

2642-g. Cooperation and assistance of other agencies. 

2642-h. Exemption from taxation. 

2642-i. Advances on behalf of authority; transfer of property to authority; acquisition of property for 
authority. 

2642-j. New York state and local  employees` retirement  system rights of employees; civil service. 

2642-k. Equal employment opportunity. 

2642-l. Monies of the authority. 

2642-m. Contracts. 

2642-n. Annual report and audit. 

2642-o. Defense and indemnification. 

2642-p. Action by or against the authority. 

2642-q. Track, bridge, signal, station and other facility operation and maintenance. 

2642-r. State, participating counties, and municipalities not liable for obligations of authority. 

2642-s. Effect of inconsistent provisions. 
 
 
S  2642.  Short title. This title may be cited as the "Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben 
southern tier extension railroad authority act". 
 
S  2642-a.  Legislative findings and intent. The legislature hereby finds and determines that: 

1.  The continued existence and strengthening of the system of railroads serving Chautauqua, 
Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben counties in New York state and Warren and Erie counties in the 
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Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is essential to the long term viability of the economies, municipalities, 
and ways of life in these counties. 

2.  The viability and existence of the system of railroads serving Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and 
Steuben counties in New York state and Warren and Erie counties in the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania is threatened by the dynamic economics of the railroad industry. 

3.  By creating the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben southern tier extension railroad 
authority, it is the intent of the legislature to preserve and enhance the system of railroads serving 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben counties in New York state and Warren and Erie 
counties in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, so as to insure a healthy economy for these counties. 
 
S  2642-b. Definitions. As used or referred to in this title, unless a different meaning appears from the 
context: 

1.  "Authority" shall mean the corporation created by section twenty-six hundred forty-two-c of this 
title. 

2.  "Authority facilities" shall mean the authority`s railroad facilities and operations pursuant to joint 
service arrangements as defined in subdivision eight of this section. 

3.  "Commonwealth" shall mean the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

4.  "Commonwealth agency" or "agency of the Commonwealth" shall mean any officer, department, 
board, commissioner, bureau, division, public benefit corporation, agency or instrumentality of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

5.  "Comptroller" shall mean the comptroller of the state of New York. 

6.  "Equipment" shall mean rolling stock, vehicles, motors, boilers, engines, wires, ways, conduits and 
mechanisms, machinery, tools, implements, materials, supplies, instruments and devices of every nature 
whatsoever used or useful for railroad and related transportation purposes or for the generation or 
transmission of motive power including but not limited to all power houses, and all apparatus and all 
devices for signaling, communications and ventilation as may be necessary, convenient or desirable  for  
the  operation  of a railroad or related transportation facility. 

7.  "Federal government" shall mean the United States of America, and any officer, department, board, 
commission, bureau, division, corporation, agency or instrumentality thereof. 

8.  "Joint service arrangements" shall mean agreements between or among the authority and any 
common carrier or freight forwarder, the state, the Commonwealth, any state agency or agency of the 
Commonwealth, the federal government, any other state or Commonwealth or agency or 
instrumentality thereof, any public authority of this or any other state, any participating county, or any 
political subdivision or municipality of this or any other state, relating to property, buildings, structures, 
facilities,  services,  rates, fares, classifications, divisions, allowances or charges, or rules or regulations 
pertaining thereto, for or  in connection with or incidental to transportation in part in or upon railroad  
facilities located within the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben and in part in or 
upon railroad facilities  located outside said counties. 

9.  "Legislative body" or "legislative bodies" shall mean any or all of the governing boards of the counties 
of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben. 
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10.  "Municipality" shall mean any county, including the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany 
and Steuben, city, town, village, school district, improvement district, any other such instrumentality, 
including an agency or public benefit corporation of the state, or any of the foregoing, or any 
combination thereof. 

11.  "Participating counties" shall mean those of the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and 
Steuben that shall have appointed members of the authority. 

12.  "Railroad facilities" shall mean right-of-way and related trackage, rails, cars, locomotives, other 
rolling stock, signal, power, fuel, communication and ventilation systems, power plants, stations, 
terminals, parking lots, garages, warehouses, storage yards, intermodal facilities, repair and 
maintenance shops, yards, equipment and parts, offices and other real estate or personalty used or held 
for or incidental to the operation, rehabilitation or improvement of any railroad operating or to operate 
between points within the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany  and Steuben or pursuant to 
joint service arrangements, including but not limited to buildings, structures, and areas notwithstanding 
that portions thereof may not be devoted to any railroad purpose other than the production of 
revenues available for the costs and expenses of all or any facilities of the authority. 

13.  "Real property" shall mean lands, structures, franchises and interests in land, waters, lands under 
water, riparian rights and air rights and any and all things and rights included within said term and 
includes not only fees simple absolute but also any and all lesser interests including but not limited to 
easements, rights-of-way, uses, leases, licenses and all other incorporeal hereditaments and every 
estate, interest or right, legal or equitable, including terms for years and liens thereon by way of 
judgments, mortgages or otherwise. 

14. "State" shall mean the state of New York. 

15.  "State agency" shall mean any officer, department, board, commissioner, bureau, division, public 
benefit corporation, agency or instrumentality of the state of New York. 

16.  "Southern tier extension railroad line" shall mean the railroad line generally described as located 
between the city of Hornell, New York (Cass street interlocking, at approximately milepost 331.8) and 
the New York-Pennsylvania state line in the county of Chautauqua. 
 
S  2642-c. Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben southern tier extension railroad authority.  

1.  There is hereby created the "Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben southern tier extension 
railroad authority" which shall be a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation. 

2.  The authority shall continue for thirty years from the effective date of this title, or so long as it shall 
have bonds or other obligations outstanding or until its existence shall otherwise be terminated by law.  
Upon the termination of the existence of the authority, all its rights and properties shall pass to and be 
vested in the participating counties pursuant to any agreements among the participating counties and 
the authority. 

3.  The authority shall adopt by-laws governing its operation and keep a record of its resolutions, 
transactions, findings and determinations, which record shall be a public record. 

4.  The authority shall consist of the following fourteen members: 

(a) The county legislative bodies of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben counties each shall 
appoint three voting members of the authority who shall be residents of such county, upon the 
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recommendation of the chief executive (county executive or chair of the county legislative body) of each 
such county; and 

(b) The southern tier west regional planning and development board, upon the recommendation of the 
chairperson of such board, shall appoint one member of the authority, who shall be a resident of one of 
the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany or Steuben. 

(c) The Seneca Nation of Indians may appoint a member of such Nation to serve in an advisory non-
voting capacity. 

5.  The term of office of members of the authority shall be three years.  Four of the initial members of 
the authority shall serve a one year term, four shall serve a two year term and six, including the 
members appointed by the southern tier west regional planning and development board, and the 
Seneca Nation of Indians shall serve a three year term, provided that at the inception of the authority, 
each county shall appoint one member to hold office for three years, one for two years and one for one 
year. 

6.  All members shall continue to hold office until their successors are appointed and qualified.  The 
resignation of any member shall be filed with the appointing authority and shall be effective when so 
filed.  Vacancies occurring otherwise than by expiration of term of office shall be filled for the unexpired 
term in the same manner as provided for the original appointment. 

7.  The chairperson, vice-chairperson, secretary, and other necessary officers shall be named by a 
majority vote of all the voting members to serve for such period as the members shall decide. The 
chairperson shall preside over the meetings of the authority and shall appoint members of the authority 
to committees established by the authority to assist the authority in carrying out its duties. 

8.  Any member of the authority may be removed by resolution of the entity which appointed such 
member either for cause or for non-compliance with minimum requirements relating to meeting 
attendance and other criteria as may be established by resolution of such entity. 

9.  No person shall be precluded from serving as a member of the authority as appointed by a county 
legislative body, the southern tier west regional planning and development board or the Seneca Nation 
of Indians pursuant to this section because such member is an elected or appointed official of a 
municipality, except that no member of the authority shall vote on any matter before the authority 
which has been the subject of a proposal, application or vote before the municipality where he or she 
serves in such elected or appointed capacity. 

10.  The members of the authority shall receive no salary or compensation for their services, but may be 
reimbursed for authorized, actual and necessary travel and expenditures. 

11.  A majority of the whole number of voting members of the authority then in office shall constitute a 
quorum for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of the authority. 
Notwithstanding any provision of statute or law to the contrary and except as otherwise specified in this 
title, for the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of the authority, the authority shall 
have power to act by a majority of the whole number of voting members of the authority. 

12.  The authority shall be deemed a state agency for purposes of section seventy-four of the public 
officers law, provided, however, that no non-voting member of the authority shall be deemed an officer 
or employee of a state agency. 
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S  2642-d. Purposes of the authority.  

1.  The purposes of the authority shall be the continuance, further development and improvement of 
railroad transportation and other services related thereto within the counties of Chautauqua, 
Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben, in accordance with the provisions of this title. It shall be the further 
purpose of the authority to develop and implement a unified railroad transportation policy and strategy 
for such counties. 

2.  It is hereby found and declared that such purposes are in all respects for the benefit of the people of 
the state and the authority shall be regarded as performing an essential governmental function in 
carrying out its purposes and in exercising the powers granted by this title. 
 
S  2642-e. General powers of the authority. Except as otherwise limited by this title, the authority shall 
have power: 

1.  To sue and be sued; 

2.  To have a seal and alter the same at pleasure; 

3.  To borrow money; 

4.  To invest any funds held in reserve or sinking funds, or any monies not required for immediate use or 
disbursement, at the discretion of the authority, in obligations in which the state comptroller may invest 
pursuant to section ninety-eight or ninety-eight-a of the state finance law; 

5.  To make and alter by-laws for its organization and internal management, and rules and regulations 
governing the exercise of its powers and the fulfillment of its purposes under this title; 

6.  To enter into contracts and leases and to execute all instruments necessary or convenient; 

7.  To acquire, hold and dispose of real or personal property in the exercise of its powers for its 
corporate purposes; 

8.  The authority may, whenever it shall determine that it is not in conflict with the interests or purposes 
of the authority, rent, lease or grant easements or other rights in, any land or property of the authority, 
including the granting of municipal utility easements; 

9.  To appoint such officers and employees as it may require for the performance of its duties, and to fix 
and determine their qualifications, duties, and compensation and to retain or employ counsel, auditors, 
engineers and private consultants on a contract basis or otherwise for rendering professional or 
technical services and advice; such counsel, auditors, engineers, and private consultants, officers and 
employees may not be a member of the authority; 

10.  To make plans, surveys, and studies necessary, convenient or desirable to the effectuation of the 
purposes and powers of the authority and to prepare recommendations in regard thereto; 

11.  To contract for and accept any gifts or grants, subsidies or loans of funds or property or financial or 
other aid in any form from the federal or state government or Commonwealth government or any 
agency or instrumentality thereof, or from any other source, public or private, and to comply, subject to 
the provisions of this title, with the terms and conditions thereof; 

12.  To designate the depositories of its money; 

13.  To establish its fiscal year; and 
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14.  To do all things necessary or convenient or desirable to carry out its purposes and exercise the 
powers expressly given in this title. 
 
S  2642-f. Special powers of the authority. In order to effectuate the purposes of this title:  

1.  The authority may acquire, by purchase, gift, grant, transfer, contract or lease, any railroad facility, 
wholly or partially within the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben or any part 
thereof, or the use thereof, and may enter into any joint service arrangements as provided in this 
section. Any such acquisition or joint service arrangement shall be authorized only by resolution of the 
authority approved by not less than a majority of the whole number of voting members of the authority. 
In addition to and not in limitation of any other power conferred upon the authority by the provisions of 
this title, the authority is hereby empowered and authorized in respect of any property and assets at any 
time owned or held by, or under the jurisdiction of, the state, the Commonwealth, any political 
subdivision thereof, or any private or other public concern, to accept and receive any such interest 
therein as it may have been or may hereafter be designated by the state, the Commonwealth, any 
political subdivision thereof, or any other public or private concern, by law or  other lawful  means to 
receive, and in respect thereof, except as otherwise provided by the designating statute or contractual 
instrument, it shall have and exercise all of the powers and jurisdiction herein conferred upon it in 
respect of any other property, rights, assets, facilities and projects in any other manner acquired or from 
any other source  received by it pursuant to the provisions of this title. 

2.  The authority may on such terms and conditions as the authority may determine necessary, 
convenient or desirable itself establish, construct, effectuate, operate, maintain, renovate, improve, 
extend or repair any such railroad facility, or may provide for such establishment, construction, 
effectuation, operation, maintenance, renovation, improvement, extension or repair by contract, lease, 
or other arrangement on such terms as the authority may deem necessary, convenient or desirable with 
any person, including, but not limited to, any common carrier or freight forwarder or other private for-
profit firm, the state, the Commonwealth, any agency or the state or Commonwealth, the federal 
government, any other state or agency or instrumentality thereof,  any  non-profit  corporation,  any  
public authority of this or any other state or any political subdivision or municipality of  the  state. In 
connection with the operation of any such railroad facility, the authority may establish, construct, 
effectuate, operate, maintain, renovate, improve, extend or repair or may provide by contract, lease or 
other arrangement for the establishment, construction, effectuation, operation, maintenance, 
renovation, improvement, extension or repair of any related services and activities it deems necessary, 
convenient or desirable, including, but not limited to, the transportation and storage of freight and the 
United States mail, feeder and connecting transportation, parking areas, transportation centers, stations 
and related facilities. 

3.  The authority may establish, levy and collect or cause to be established, levied and collected and, in 
the case of a joint service arrangement, join with others in the establishment, levy and collection of such 
fares, tolls, rentals, rates, charges and other fees as it may deem necessary, convenient or desirable for 
the use and operation of any railroad facility and related services operated by the authority or under 
contract, lease or other arrangement, including joint service arrangements, with the authority. 

4.  The authority may establish and, in the case of joint service arrangements, join with others in the 
establishment of such schedules and standards of operations and such other rules and regulations 
including but not limited to rules and regulations governing the conduct and safety of the public as it 
may deem necessary, convenient or desirable for the use and operation of any railroad facility and 
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related services operated by the authority or under contract, lease or other arrangement, including joint 
service arrangements, with the authority. 

5.  The authority may acquire, hold, own, lease, establish, construct, effectuate, operate, maintain, 
renovate, improve, extend or repair any of its facilities. 

6.  The authority, in its own name, may apply for and receive and accept grants of property, money and 
services and other assistance offered or made available to it by any person, government or agency 
which it may use to meet capital or operating expenses and for any other use within the scope of its 
powers, and to negotiate for the same upon such terms and conditions as the authority may determine 
to be necessary, convenient or desirable. 

7.  The authority may do all things it deems necessary, convenient or desirable to manage, control and 
direct the maintenance and operation of railroad facilities, equipment or real property operated by or 
under contract, lease or other arrangement with the authority. Except as hereinafter specially provided, 
no municipality or political subdivision, including but not limited to a county, city, village, town or school 
or other district shall have jurisdiction over any facilities of the authority or any of its activities or 
operations. The local laws, resolutions, ordinances, rules and regulations of a municipality or political 
subdivision in the state conflicting with this title or any rule or regulation of the authority, shall not be 
applicable to the activities or operations of the authority, or the facilities of the authority, except such 
facilities that are devoted to purposes other than transportation purposes. The authority may agree 
with the New York state department of transportation for the execution by such department of any 
grade crossing elimination project or any grade crossing separation reconstruction project along any 
railroad facility operated by the authority or under contract, lease or other arrangement with the 
authority.  Any such project shall be executed as provided in article ten of the transportation law and 
the railroad law, respectively, and the costs of any such project shall be borne as provided in such laws. 
 
S  2642-g.  Cooperation and assistance of other agencies.  

1.  To avoid duplication of effort and in the interests of economy, the authority may make use of existing 
studies, surveys, plans, data and other materials in the possession of any state agency or any 
municipality or political subdivision of the state. Each such agency, municipality or subdivision located in 
or serving some portion of the state is hereby authorized to make the same available to the authority 
and otherwise to assist it in the performance of its functions. At the request of the authority, each such 
agency, municipality or subdivision located in or serving some portion of the state which is engaged in 
railroad or other transportation activities or in land use or development planning, or which is charged 
with the duty of providing or regulating any transportation facility or any other public facility, is further 
authorized to provide the authority with information regarding its plans and programs affecting railroad 
transportation within the participating  counties  so  that the  authority may have available to it current 
information with respect thereto. The officers and personnel of such agencies, municipalities or 
subdivisions, and of any other government or agency whatever, may serve at the request of the 
authority upon such advisory committees as the authority shall determine to create and such officers 
and personnel may serve upon such committees without forfeiture of office or employment and with no 
loss or diminution in the compensation, status, rights and privileges which they otherwise enjoy. 

2.  Notwithstanding any contrary provision of law, every municipality located in the counties of 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany or Steuben is authorized and empowered to consent to the use by 
the authority of any real or personal property owned by any such municipality and necessary, 
convenient or desirable in the opinion of the authority for any of the facilities or projects authorized 
under this title, including such real property as has already been devoted to a public use, and as an 
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incident to such consent, to lease or otherwise transfer and convey to the authority any such real or 
personal property upon such terms as may be determined by the authority and any  such  municipality.  
Every such municipality also is authorized and empowered, as an incident to such consent, to vest in the 
authority the control, possession, operation, maintenance, rents, charges and any and all other 
revenues of any facilities now owned by any such municipality, the title to such facilities remaining in 
such municipality. 
 
S  2642-h. Exemption from taxation.  

1.  It is hereby determined that the creation of the authority and the carrying out of its purposes under 
this title are in all respects for the benefit of the people of the state of New York and is a public purpose. 
Accordingly, the authority shall be regarded as performing an essential governmental function in the 
exercise of the powers conferred upon it by this title, and the authority shall not be required to pay any 
fees, taxes, special ad valorem levies or assessments of any kind, whether state or local, including but 
not limited to fees, taxes, special ad valorem levies or assessments on real property, franchise taxes, 
sales taxes or other taxes, upon or with respect to any property owned by it or under its jurisdiction, 
control or supervision, or upon the uses thereof, or upon or with respect to its activities or operations in 
furtherance of the powers conferred upon it by this title, or upon or with respect to any fares, tolls, 
rentals, rates, charges, fees, revenues or other income received by the authority. 

2.  Notwithstanding subdivision one of this section, the authority or any lessees of the authority shall be 
required to pay water and sewer fees, water and sewer assessments or water and sewer special ad 
valorem levies. 

3.  The authority may pay, or may enter into agreements with any municipality, including school 
districts, to pay, a sum or sums annually or otherwise or to provide other considerations with respect to 
real property owned by the authority located within such municipality. 
 
S  2642-i.  Advances on behalf of authority; transfer of property to authority; acquisition of property 
for authority.  

1.  In addition to any powers granted to it by law, any participating county may by resolution advance 
sums of money to or on behalf of the authority to defray costs or expenses of the authority to be 
incurred prior to the first issuance of bonds. Subject to the rights of any bondholders, the moneys so 
appropriated may be repaid by the authority to the participating county at such time and in such 
manner as may be agreed upon between the authority and the participating county. 

2.  Any participating county or any municipality along the southern tier extension railroad line may by 
resolution give, grant, sell, convey, lend, or license the use of or lease to the authority any property or 
facility which is useful to the authority in order to carry out its powers under this title. Any such transfer 
of property shall be upon such terms and conditions, subject to the rights of any bondholders, as the 
authority and the participating county or the municipality may agree. 

3.  Notwithstanding the provisions of any other law, general, special, or local, real property acquired by 
the authority or any participating county from the state may be used for any corporate purpose of the 
authority. 
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S  2642-j. New York state and local employees` retirement system rights of employees; civil service.   

1.  In accordance with the provisions of section seventy of the civil service law, any officer or employee 
of a municipality transferred to the authority shall be eligible for such transfer and appointment, 
without further examination, to applicable offices, positions and employment under the authority. Any 
such officers or employees so transferred to the authority pursuant to this section, who are members of 
or benefit under any existing pension or retirement fund or system, shall continue to have all rights, 
privileges, obligations and status with respect to such fund or system as are now prescribed by law. 

2.  Nothing contained in this title shall be construed (a) to diminish the rights of employees pursuant to a 
collective bargaining agreement or (b) to affect existing law with respect to an application to the public 
employment relations board seeking a designation by the board that certain persons are managerial or 
confidential. 
 
S  2642-k.  Equal employment opportunity. The authority shall ensure that all employees or applicants 
for employment are afforded equal opportunity employment without discrimination on any basis 
prohibited under subdivision two of section forty-c of the civil rights law.  
 
S  2642-l.  Monies of the authority. All monies of the authority from whatever source derived shall be 
paid to the treasurer of the authority and shall be deposited forthwith in an interest-bearing account in 
a bank or banks designated by the authority. The monies in such accounts shall be paid out or 
withdrawn on the order of such person or persons as the authority may authorize to make such 
requisitions. All deposits of such monies shall be secured by obligations of the United States or of the 
state or of any municipality of a market value equal at all times to the amount on deposit and all banks 
and trust companies are authorized to give such security for such deposits.  To the extent practicable, 
consistent with the cash requirements of the authority, all such monies shall be deposited in interest-
bearing accounts.  Any monies of the authority not required for immediate use or disbursement may, be 
invested in accordance with section ninety-eight or ninety-eight-a of the state finance law. 
 
S  2642-m.  Contracts. 

1.  All contracts for the construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of buildings let by 
the authority shall comply with the provisions of section two hundred twenty of the labor law and shall 
also be subject to the provisions of law applicable to contracts let by a municipal corporation, except as 
otherwise provided herein. 

2.  All contracts for the construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of buildings let by 
the authority shall be in conformity with the applicable provisions of section one hundred thirty-five of 
the state finance law. 

3.  The authority may, in its discretion, assign contracts for supervision and coordination to the 
successful bidder for any subdivision of work for which the authority receives bids. Any construction 
contract awarded by the authority shall contain such other terms and conditions as the authority may 
deem desirable.  The authority shall award any construction contract involving an expenditure of more 
than five thousand dollars to the lowest bidder who, in its opinion, is qualified to perform the work 
required and who is responsible and reliable.  The authority may, however, reject any or all bids or 
waive any informality in a bid if it believes that the public interest will be promoted thereby. The 
authority may reject any bid, if, in its judgment, the business and technical organization, plant, 
resources, financial standing, or experience of the bidder justifies such rejection in view of the work to 
be performed. 
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4.  For the purposes of article fifteen-A of the executive law only, the authority shall be deemed a state 
agency as that term is used in such article, and all contracts for procurement, design, construction, 
services and materials shall be deemed state contracts within the meaning of that term as set forth in 
such article. 
 
S  2642-n.  Annual report and audit. In conformity with the provisions of section five of article ten of the 
constitution, the accounts of the authority shall be subject to the supervision of the state comptroller 
and an annual audit shall be performed by an independent certified public accountant.  The authority 
shall annually submit to the county legislatures, county executives, governor and the state comptroller 
and to the chairperson of the senate finance committee and the chairperson of the assembly ways and 
means committee a detailed report pursuant to the provisions of section twenty-eight hundred of this 
chapter, and a copy of such report shall be filed with the clerk of the county legislature and the county 
executives; provided further that a copy of such report shall be submitted to the southern tier west 
regional planning and development board. 
 
S  2642-o.  Defense and indemnification. 

1.  The authority shall not execute any of its powers except as necessary to commence its corporate 
existence, until it has elected to make the provision of section eighteen of the public officers law 
applicable to its employees (as such term is defined in section eighteen of the public officers law) 
pursuant to subdivision two of such section; provided, however, that nothing contained within this 
section shall be deemed to permit the authority to extend the provisions of section eighteen of the 
public officers law upon any independent contractor. 

2.  Neither the members of the authority, nor any participating county, municipality, officer or employee 
acting on the authority`s behalf, while acting within the scope of his, her or its authority, shall be subject 
to any personal liability resulting from the construction, maintenance or operation of any of the 
properties of the authority or from carrying out any of the powers expressly given in this title; provided, 
however, that this shall not be held to apply to any independent contractor. 
 
S  2642-p.  Action by or against the authority. 

1.  Except in an action for wrongful death, no action or special proceeding shall be prosecuted or 
maintained against the authority, its members, officers or employees for personal injury or damage to 
real or personal property alleged to have been sustained by reason of the negligence, tort or wrongful 
act of the authority or of any member, officer, agent or employee thereof, unless (a) notice of claim 
shall have been made and served upon the authority within the time limit set by and in compliance with 
section fifty-e of the general municipal law, (b) it shall appear by and  as  an allegation  in  the complaint 
or moving papers that at least thirty days have elapsed since the service of such notice  and  that  
adjustment  or payment  thereof  has  been  neglected or refused, and (c) the action or special 
proceeding shall be commenced within one year  and  ninety  days after  the  happening  of  the  event  
upon which the claim is based. An action against the authority for wrongful death shall be commenced 
in accordance with the notice of claim and time limitation provisions of title eleven of article nine of this 
chapter. 

2.  Whenever a notice of claim is served upon the authority, it shall have the right to demand an 
examination of the claimant relative to the occurrence and extent of the injuries or damages for which 
claim is made, in accordance with the provisions of section fifty-h of the general municipal law. 

3.  The authority shall have power to settle or adjust all claims in favor of or against the authority. 
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4.  Any action or proceeding to which the authority or the people of the state may be parties, in which 
any question arises as to the validity of this title, shall be preferred over all other civil causes of action or 
cases, except election causes of action or cases, in all courts of the state and shall be heard and 
determined in preference to all other civil business pending therein except election causes, irrespective 
of position on the calendar.  The same preference shall be granted upon application of the authority or 
its counsel in any action or proceeding questioning the validity of this title in which the authority may be 
allowed to intervene. The venue of any such action or proceeding shall be laid in the supreme court of 
any of the participating counties. 

5.  The rate of interest to be paid by the authority upon any judgment for which it is liable, shall be the 
rate prescribed by section five thousand four of the civil practice law and rules. 

6.  All actions or proceedings against the authority of whatever nature shall be brought in a supreme 
court in any of the participating counties. 
 
S  2642-q. Track, bridge, signal, station and other facility operation and maintenance. The operation, 
maintenance and use of track, bridges, signals, freight stations, passenger stations and other facilities 
shall be public purposes of the authority and the participating counties. The total cost to the authority of 
operation, maintenance and use of each track, bridge, signal, freight station, passenger station and 
other facility within the counties of the district located in the state and serviced by one or more railroad 
facilities of the authority or corporations, including the buildings, appurtenances, platforms, lands and 
approaches incidental or adjacent thereto, shall be borne by the authority. 
 
S  2642-r. State, participating counties, and municipalities not liable for obligations of authority. 

1.  Neither the state, the participating counties, nor any municipality or public corporation shall be liable 
on any bond, note or other obligation of the authority, and such bonds, notes or other obligations shall 
not be debts of the state, the participating counties, nor any municipality or public corporation, and 
such bonds, notes or other obligations shall contain a statement to such effect. 

2.  Nothing in this title shall be construed to obligate the state in any way in connection with the 
operations and obligations of the authority. 
 
S  2642-s. Effect of inconsistent provisions. Insofar as the provisions of this title are inconsistent with 
the provisions of any other act, general or special, or of a county charter, any local law, ordinance or 
resolution of a municipality, the provisions of this title shall be controlling. Nothing contained in this 
section shall be held to supplement or otherwise expand the powers or duties of the authority 
otherwise set forth in this title. 
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By-Laws 
 
Following are the By-Laws of the Authority, as revised March 5, 2012, and current as of December 31, 
2016. 
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BYLAWS OF THE 
 

CHAUTAUQUA, CATTARAUGUS, ALLEGANY, AND STEUBEN 
SOUTHERN TIER EXTENSION RAILROAD AUTHORITY 

 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

THE CORPORATION 
 
Section 1. Name.  The name of the Corporation shall be the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and 
Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority. 
 
Section 2. Seal of Corporation.  The seal of the Corporation shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear 
the name of the Corporation and the year of its organization. 
 
Section 3. Office of Corporation.  The office of the Corporation shall be located in the Town of Great Valley, 
New York, with the mailing address 4039 Route 219, Suite 200, Salamanca, New York 1477, but the Corporation 
may have other offices at such other places as the Corporation may from time to time designate by resolution. 
 
Section 4. Authorization.  The Corporation was created as a public benefit corporation by the State Of New 
York, per Title 28-AA of the Public Authorities Law. 

 
 

ARTICLE II 
 

PURPOSES OF THE CORPORATION 
 
Section 1. Purposes of the Corporation.  The purposes of the Corporation shall be the continuance, further 
development and improvement of railroad transportation and other services related thereto within the Counties 
of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben of New York State and the Counties of Warren and Erie in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, so as to insure a healthy economy for these counties.  It shall be the further 
purpose of the authority to develop and implement a unified railroad transportation policy and strategy for such 
ŎƻǳƴǘƛŜǎΦ  ¢ƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴ ŀƭƭ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ {ǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ 
Commonwealth, and the Corporation performs an essential governmental function in carrying out its purposes and 
in exercising the powers granted by the State of New York. 
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ARTICLE III 
 

POWERS OF THE CORPORATION 
 
Section 1. General Powers of the Corporation.  Section 2642-e of the Public Authorities Law provides that 
the Corporation shall have the following general powers, except as otherwise limited by Section 2642-e of the 
Public Authorities Law: 

1. To sue and be sued; 

2. To have a seal and alter the same at pleasure; 

3. To borrow money; 

4. To invest any funds held in reserve or sinking funds, or any monies not required for immediate use or 
disbursement, at the discretion of the authority, in obligations in which the State Comptroller may invest 
pursuant to section ninety-eight or ninety-eight-a of the New York State Finance Law; 

5. To make and alter by-laws for its organization and internal management, and rules and regulations 
governing the exercise of its powers and the fulfillment of its purposes under Section 2642 of the Public 
Authorities Law; 

6. To enter into contracts and leases and to execute all instruments necessary or convenient; 

7. To acquire, hold and dispose of real or personal property in the exercise of its powers for its corporate 
purposes; 

8. To rent, lease or grant easements or other rights in, any land or property of the Corporation, including the 
granting of municipal utility easements, whenever the Corporation shall determine that it is not in conflict 
with the interests or purposes of the Corporation; 

9. To appoint such officers and employees as it may require for the performance of its duties, and to fix and 
determine their qualifications, duties, and compensation, and to retain or employ counsel, auditors, 
engineers and private consultants on a contract basis or otherwise for rendering professional or technical 
services and advice, provided that such counsel, auditors, engineers, and private consultants, officers and 
employees may not be a member of the Corporation; 

10. To make plans, surveys, and studies necessary, convenient or desirable to the effectuation of the 
purposes and powers of the Corporation and to prepare recommendations in regard thereto; 

11. To contract for and accept any gifts or grants, subsidies or loans of funds or property or financial or other 
aid in any form from the federal or state government or Commonwealth government or any agency or 
instrumentality thereof, or from any other source, public or private, and to comply, subject to the 
provisions of this title, with the terms and conditions thereof; 

12. To designate the dŜǇƻǎƛǘƻǊƛŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƳƻƴŜȅΤ 

13. ¢ƻ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŦƛǎŎŀƭ ȅŜŀǊΤ ŀƴŘ 

14. ¢ƻ Řƻ ŀƭƭ ǘƘƛƴƎǎ ƴŜŎŜǎǎŀǊȅ ƻǊ ŎƻƴǾŜƴƛŜƴǘ ƻǊ ŘŜǎƛǊŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ŎŀǊǊȅ ƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŜȄŜǊŎƛǎŜ 
the powers expressly given in Section 2642 of the Public Authorities Law. 

 
Section 2. Special Powers of the Corporation.  Section 2642-f of the Public Authorities Law provides that 
the Corporation shall have the following special powers: 

1. The Corporation may acquire, by purchase, gift, grant, transfer, contract or lease, any railroad facility, 
wholly or partially within the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben or any part 
thereof, or the use thereof, and may enter into any joint service arrangements for such facility.  Any such 
acquisition or joint service arrangement shall be authorized only by resolution of the Corporation 
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approved by not less than a majority of the whole number of voting members of the Corporation.  The 
Corporation also may accept and receive by any lawful means any interest in any property and assets, 
except as otherwise provided by the designating statute or contractual instrument, and the Corporation 
has and may exercise all of the powers and jurisdiction herein conferred upon it in respect of any other 
property, rights, assets, facilities and projects in any other manner acquired or from any other source 
received by the Corporation. 

2. The Corporation may, on such terms and conditions as the Corporation may determine necessary, 
convenient, or desirable, itself establish, construct, effectuate, operate, maintain, renovate, improve, 
extend or repair any such railroad facility, or may provide for such establishment, construction, 
effectuation, operation, maintenance, renovation, improvement, extension or repair by contract, lease, or 
other arrangement on such terms as the Corporation may deem necessary, convenient or desirable with 
any person, including, but not limited to, any common carrier or freight forwarder or other private for-
profit firm, the state, the Commonwealth, any agency or the state or Commonwealth, the federal 
government, any other state or agency or instrumentality thereof, any non-profit corporation, any public 
authority of this or any other state or any political subdivision or municipality of the State.  In connection 
with the operation of any such railroad facility, the Corporation may establish, construct, effectuate, 
operate, maintain, renovate, improve, extend or repair or may provide by contract, lease or other 
arrangement for the establishment, construction, effectuation, operation, maintenance, renovation, 
improvement, extension or repair of any related services and activities it deems necessary, convenient or 
desirable, including, but not limited to, the transportation and storage of freight and the United States 
mail, feeder and connecting transportation, parking areas, transportation centers, stations and related 
facilities. 

3. The Corporation may establish, levy and collect or cause to be established, levied and collected and, in 
the case of a joint service arrangement, join with others in the establishment, levy and collection of such 
fares, tolls, rentals, rates, charges and other fees as it may deem necessary, convenient or desirable for 
the use and operation of any railroad facility and related services operated by the Corporation or under 
contract, lease or other arrangement, including joint service arrangements, with the Corporation. 

4. The Corporation may establish and, in the case of joint service arrangements, join with others in the 
establishment of such schedules and standards of operations and such other rules and regulations 
including but not limited to rules and regulations governing the conduct and safety of the public as it may 
deem necessary, convenient or desirable for the use and operation of any railroad facility and related 
services operated by the Corporation or under contract, lease or other arrangement, including joint 
service arrangements, with the Corporation. 

5. The Corporation may acquire, hold, own, lease, establish, construct, effectuate, operate, maintain, 
renovate, improve, extend or repair any of its facilities. 

6. The Corporation, in its own name, may apply for and receive and accept grants of property, money and 
services and other assistance offered or made available to it by any person, government or agency which 
it may use to meet capital or operating expenses and for any other use within the scope of its powers, 
and to negotiate for the same upon such terms and conditions as the Corporation may determine to be 
necessary, convenient or desirable. 

7. The Corporation may do all things it deems necessary, convenient or desirable to manage, control and 
direct the maintenance and operation of railroad facilities, equipment or real property operated by or 
under contract, lease or other arrangement with the Corporation.  Except as hereinafter specially 
provided, no municipality or political subdivision, including but not limited to a county, city, village, town 
or school or other district shall have jurisdiction over any facilities of the Corporation or any of its 
activities or operations.  The local laws, resolutions, ordinances, rules and regulations of a municipality or 
political subdivision in the state conflicting with this title or any rule or regulation of the Corporation, shall 
not be applicable to the activities or operations of the Corporation, or the facilities of the Corporation, 
except such facilities that are devoted to purposes other than transportation purposes.  The Corporation 
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may agree with the New York State Department of Transportation for the execution by the New York 
State Department of Transportation of any grade crossing elimination project or any grade crossing 
separation reconstruction project along any railroad facility operated by the Corporation or under 
contract, lease or other arrangement with the Corporation.  Any such project shall be executed as 
provided in article ten of the New York State Transportation Law and the New York State Railroad Law, 
respectively, and the costs of any such project shall be borne as provided in such laws. 

 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

BOARD MEMBERS OF THE CORPORATION 
 
Section 1. Board Members of the Corporation.  The Corporation shall consist of fourteen board members 
όǘƘŜ ά.ƻŀǊŘΣέ ƻǊ άƳŜƳōŜǊǎέύ ǿƘƻ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘŜŘ ŀǎ ŦƻƭƭƻǿǎΥ 

1. The County legislative bodies of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben counties each shall 
appoint three voting members of the Corporation, who each shall be residents of such County, upon the 
recommendation of the chief executive (County Executive or Chair of the County legislative body) of each 
such County. 

2. The Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board, upon the recommendation of the 
Chairperson of such Board, shall appoint one member of the Corporation, who shall be a resident of one 
of the counties of Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany or Steuben. 

3. The Seneca Nation of Indians may appoint a member of such Nation to serve in an advisory non-voting 
capacity. 

 
Section 2. Terms of Board Members.  The term of office of Board members of the Corporation shall be 
three years.  All members shall continue to hold office until their successors are appointed and qualified.  The 
resignation of any member shall be filed with the appointing entity and shall be effective when so filed.  Vacancies 
occurring otherwise than by expiration of term of office shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner 
as provided for the original appointment. 
 
Any member of the Corporation may be removed by resolution of the entity which appointed such member either 
for cause or for non-compliance with minimum requirements relating to meeting attendance and other criteria as 
may be established by resolution of such entity. 
 
No person shall be precluded from serving as a member of the Corporation as appointed by a County legislative 
body, the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board or the Seneca Nation of Indians because 
such member is an elected or appointed official of a municipality, except that no member of the Corporation shall 
vote on any matter before the Corporation which has been the subject of a proposal, application, or vote before 
the municipality where he or she serves in such elected or appointed capacity. 
 
Section 3. Officers of the Board.  The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall have the following 
officers: Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Second Vice Chairperson. 
 
Section 4. Chairperson.  The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Corporation.  Except as 
otherwise authorized by resolution of the Corporation, the Chairperson shall sign all agreements, contracts, deeds, 
and any other instruments of the Corporation.  At each meeting the Chairperson shall submit such 
recommendations and information as he may consider proper concerning the business, affairs and policies of the 
Corporation.  The Chairperson shall appoint members of the Corporation to Committees established by the 
Corporation to assist the Corporation in carrying out its duties. 
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Section 5. Vice Chairperson.  The Vice Chairperson shall perform the duties of the Chairperson in the 
absence or incapacity of the Chairperson, and in case of the resignation or death of the Chairperson, the Vice 
Chairperson shall perform such duties as are imposed on the Chairperson until such time as the Corporation shall 
appoint a new Chairperson. 
 
Section 6. Second Vice Chairperson.  The Second Vice Chairperson will provide assistance to the Vice 
/ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ŀŎǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ±ƛŎŜ /ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ ǇƭŀŎŜ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ ±ƛŎŜ /ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘΦ 
 
Section 7. Attendance.  All Board and Committee members shall be expected to attend the regularly 
scheduled meetings of the Board and Committee.  Should three (3) consecutive absences occur, the Chairperson or 
his/her designate shall contact the absent member regarding his/her intentions of continuing Board and 
/ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎƘƛǇΦ  !ƴȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ǊŜƳƻǾŜŘ ōȅ ǊŜǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ 
which appointed such member either for cause or for non-compliance with minimum requirements relating to 
meeting attendance and other criteria as may be established by resolution of such entity. 
 
Section 8. Selection of chairperson, vice-chairperson, second vice chairperson, and other necessary 
officers.  The chairperson, vice-chairperson, second vice chairperson, and other necessary officers shall be named 
by a majority vote of all the voting members to serve for such period as the members shall decide.  
 
Section 10. Compensation of Members.  The members of the Corporation shall receive no salary or 
compensation for their services, but may be reimbursed for authorized, actual and necessary travel and 
expenditures. 
 
Section 11. Extension of Credit.  The Board is prohibited from extending or maintaining credit, arranging for 
the extension of credit, or an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any officer, Board 
member or employee of the Corporation. 

 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION 
 
Section 1. Officers.  The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a Treasurer, and a 
Secretary, and any other officers that the Board may from time to time create.  Any two or more offices may be 
held by the same person. 
 
Section 2. Chief Executive Officer.  The Chief Executive Officer may also be titled the Executive Director.  
The Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervision over the administration of the business and affairs of the 
Corporation, subject to the direction of the Board.  The Chief Executive Officer shall be charged with the 
management of all projects of the Corporation.  The Chief Executive Officer may be a member of the Board. 
 
Section 3. Treasurer.  The Treasurer may also be titled the Chief Financial Officer.  The Treasurer shall have 
the care and custody of all funds to the Corporation, and shall deposit the same in the name of the Corporation in 
such bank or banks as the Corporation may select.  The Treasurer shall sign all instruments of indebtedness, all 
orders, and all checks for the payment of money; and shall pay out and disburse such moneys under the direction 
of the Corporation.  Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Corporation, all such instruments of 
indebtedness, orders and checks shall be counter-signed by the Chairperson.  The Treasurer shall keep regular 
books of accounts showing receipts and expenditures, and shall render to the Corporation at each regular meeting 
an account of his transactions and also of the financial condition of the Corporation.  The Treasurer shall give such 
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bond for the faithful performance of his duties as the Corporation may determine.  The Treasurer may be a 
member of the Board. 
 
Section 4. Secretary.  The Secretary shall keep the records of the Corporation, shall act as secretary of the 
meetings of the Corporation and record all votes, and shall keep a record of the proceedings of the Corporation in 
a journal of proceedings to be kept for such purpose, and shall perform all duties incident to this office.  The 
Secretary shall keep in safe custody the seal of the Corporation and shall have power to affix such seal to all 
contracts and other instruments authorized to be executed by the Corporation.  The Secretary may be a member 
of the Board. 
 
Section 5. Additional Duties.  The officers of the Corporation shall perform such other duties and functions 
as may from time to time be authorized by resolution of the Board or be required by the Board, by the Bylaws of 
the Corporation, or by the policies and guidelines of the Corporation. 
 
Section 6. Appointment of Officers.  All officers of the Corporation shall be appointed at the annual 
meeting of the Corporation by the members of the Board, and shall hold office for one year or until the successors 
are appointed. 
 
Section 7. Vacancies.  Should any office become vacant, the Board shall appoint a successor at the next 
regular meeting, and such appointment shall be for the unexpired term of said office. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

ADDITIONAL PERSONNEL 
 
Section 1. Additional Personnel.  The Corporation may from time to time employ such personnel as it 
deems necessary to exercise its powers, duties and functions as prescribed by the Title 28-AA of the Public 
Authorities Law, as amended, and all other laws of the State of New York applicable thereto.  The selection and 
compensation of all personnel shall be determined by the Board subject to the laws of the State of New York. 

 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

MEETINGS 
 
Section 1. Annual Meeting.  The Board of the Corporation shall hold an annual meeting of the Corporation 
which shall be held on a date and time as shall be specified by Board of the Corporation, and shall be held at the 
regular meeting place of the Corporation or at an alternate meeting place that shall be designated by the Board of 
the Corporation that is practical for all members and the general public to attend. 
 
Section 2. Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of the Corporation may be held at such times 
and places, as from time to time, may be determined by resolution of the Corporation. 
 
Section 3.  Special Meetings.  The Chairperson of the Corporation may, when he deems it desirable, and 
shall, upon the written request of two members of the Board of the Corporation call a special meeting of the Board 
of the Corporation for the purpose of transacting any business designated in the call.  The call for a special meeting 
may be delivered to each member of the Board of the Corporation or may be mailed to the business or home 
address or each member of the Board of the Corporation at least two days prior to the date of such special 
meeting.  Waivers of notice may be signed by any members failing to receive a proper notice.  At such special 
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meeting no business shall be considered other that as designated in the call, but if all the members of the Board of 
the Corporation are present at a special meeting, with or without notice thereof, any and all business may be 
transacted at such special meeting. 
 
Section 4. Quorum and Voting Requirements.  At all Board or Committee meetings of the Corporation, a 
majority of the voting members of the Board or Committee of the Corporation shall constitute a quorum for the 
purpose of transacting business; provided that a smaller number may meet and adjourn to some other time or 
until the quorum is obtained. 
 
For the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of the Corporation, the Corporation shall have 
power to act by a majority of the whole number of voting members of the Corporation. 
 
For the transaction of any business or the exercise of any power of a Committee of the Corporation, the 
Committee shall have the power to act by a majority of the whole number of voting members of the Committee. 
 
A valid quorum and vote may only be established where such members are physically present at a meeting or are 
present through the use of videoconferencing. 
 
Section 5. Order of Business.  At the regular meetings of the Board of the Corporation, the following shall 
be the order of business: 
 

1. Roll Call. 
2. Reading and approval of the minutes of the previous meeting. 
3. Communications. 
4. Report of the Treasurer. 
5. Reports of Committees. 
6. Unfinished Business. 
7. New Business. 
8. Adjournment. 

 
All resolutions shall be in writing and shall be included in or attached to a journal or minutes of the proceedings of 
the Corporation. 
 
Section 6. Manner of Voting.  The voting on all questions coming before the Corporation shall be by roll 
call, and the yeas and nays shall be recorded in the minutes of such meeting, except in the case of appointments, 
when the vote may be by ballot. 
 
Section 7. Open Meetings Law.  Meetings of the Board and all Committees of the Corporation are subject 
to the New York State Open Meetings Law. 

 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

AMENDMENTS 
 
Section 1. Amendments to Bylaws.  The bylaws of the Corporation shall be amended only with the 
approval of at least a majority of all of the members of the Corporation at a regular or a special meeting, but no 
such amendment shall be adopted unless at least seven days written notice thereof has been previously given to 
all members of the Corporation. 
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ARTICLE IX 
 

COMMITTEES 
 
Section 1. Standing Committees.  The Corporation shall designate an Executive Committee, a Governance 
Committee, and an Audit Committee, which shall be committees comprised exclusively of members of the 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴ ǎƘŀƭƭ ƴŀƳŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘ ŀ 
chairperson of each committee. 
 
Section 2. General.  The Corporation may designate other committees as are needed and appropriate to 
ǘƘŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ Ƴŀȅ ŜƛǘƘŜǊ ōŜ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜƭȅ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜŘ ƻŦ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ 
governing Board, or exclusively comprised of persons who are not membŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘΣ 
or some combination of members and non-ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘΦ  ¢ƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǎƘŀƭƭ 
designate the mission and chairperson of such committees, and the Corporation may decide upon resolution to 
terminate such committees. 
 
Section 3. Executive Committee.  The Executive Committee shall consist of six members and shall be 
comprised of the Chairperson; Vice Chairperson; Second Vice Chairperson; a fourth member, to be a board 
member from the county not otherwise represented on the Executive Committee, to be designated by the 
Chairman and approved by the Board of Directors; a fifth member, to be the board member appointed by the 
Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board; and a sixth member, to be the board member 
appointed by the Seneca Nation of Indians.  The Executive Committee shall be chaired by the Chairperson, or in the 
/ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ ŀōǎŜƴŎŜΣ ǘƘŜ ±ƛŎŜ /ƘŀƛǊǇŜǊǎƻƴΦ  LƴŀǎƳǳŎƘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ōƻŀǊŘ ƳŜƳōŜǊ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ {ŜƴŜŎŀ bŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
Indians statutorily is a non-voting member, this member shall not have a vote on the Executive Committee, nor 
ǎƘŀƭƭ ǘƘƛǎ ƳŜƳōŜǊΩǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴŎŜ ƻǊ ŀōǎŜƴŎŜ ōŜ ŎƻǳƴǘŜŘ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ŀƴȅ ǉǳƻǊǳƳ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ 
Committee.  The Executive Committee shall be authorized to do business for the Board in between Board meetings 
and shall have the authority to execute the powers of the Board when the Board is not in session, provided that 
the Board shall delegate or specify certain matters or powers, or issue specific parameters, so as to give direction 
to or constrain the authority of the Executive Committee in executing the powers of the Board.  The Executive 
Committee shall not have the power to: (i) amend or repeal the bylaws, or adopt new bylaws; (2) amend or repeal 
any resolution of the Board, which by its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable; and (3) fill the vacancies in 
any committee.  Decisions of the Executive Committee shall be ratified by resolution of the full Corporation Board 
at the following meeting of the full Corporation Board. 
 
Section 4. Governance Committee.  The Governance Committee shall be comprised of independent 
ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘΦ  Lǘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ 
Committee to keep the Board informed of current best governance practices, to review corporate governance 
ǘǊŜƴŘǎΣ ǘƻ ǳǇŘŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ƎƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ ŀŘǾƛǎŜ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘƛƴƎ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 
skills and experiences required of potential Corporation Board members. 
 
Section 5. Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee shall be comprised of independent members of the 
/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ .ƻŀǊŘΦ  Lǘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ǘƻ 
ǊŜŎƻƳƳŜƴŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ .oard the hiring of a certified independent accounting firm for the Corporation, 
to establish the compensation to he paid to the accounting firm, and to provide direct oversight of the 
performance of the impendent audit performed by the accounting firm hired for such purposes.  To the extent 
practicable, members of the Audit Committee should be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices. 
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Originally Adopted by Resolution of the 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 

Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 
On February 12, 2007 

 
Amended by Resolution of the 

Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 
Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 

On May 19, 2008 
 

Amended by Resolution of the 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 

Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 
On November 15, 2010 

 
Amended by Resolution of the 

Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 
Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 

On March 8, 2011 
 

Amended by Resolution of the 
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben 

Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 
On March 5, 2012 

 

 
Corporate Secretary 

 
March 5, 2012 

Date 
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Code of Ethics 
 
Following is the AuthorityΩǎ Code of Ethics, current as of December 31, 2016. 
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CODE OF ETHICS 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 

A. This Code of Ethics shall apply to all officers, directors, employees and agents engaged in activities on 
behalf of and/or under the direction of the Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany, and Steuben Southern 
Tier ExtŜƴǎƛƻƴ wŀƛƭǊƻŀŘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ όƘŜǊŜƛƴ ά!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅέύΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ 9ǘƘƛŎǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ƻŦ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ 
governing the performance of these classes of people or other entities with respect to and on behalf of 
and/or under the direction of the Authority. 

B. The Authority is a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation, created as a local 
authority by New York State at the request of the county governments of Allegany, Cattaraugus, 
Chautauqua, and Steuben Counties.  As such, the Authority and the officers, directors, employees and 
agents engaged in activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority, owe a duty to the 
State, these counties, and the citizens thereof to adhere to high standards of public service that 
emphasize professionalism, courtesy, and avoidance of even the appearance of illegal or unethical 
conduct at all times, acting at all times in accordance with the standards of behavior prescribed herein. 

C. This Code of Ethics shall serve as a guide for official conduct and is intended to enhance the ethical and 
professional performance of the Authority's officers, directors, employees and agents engaged in 
activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority and to preserve public confidence in the 
AuthoriǘȅΩǎ ƳƛǎǎƛƻƴΦ 

D. This Code of Ethics is intended to supplement, but not replace, any applicable state and federal laws 
governing ethical and appropriate conduct, including but not limited to conflicts of interest, applicable to 
public authorities. 

 
2. Definitions 
 

As used in this Code of Ethics, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 
 

A. AGENT - Includes every individual acting officially at the request of or at the direction of or otherwise on 
the behalf of the Authority, whether compensated or uncompensated, and whether under explicit 
contract or not under contract. 

B. CONFLICT OF INTEREST - Includes any action or omission which is in conflict or gives the appearance of 
conflict with the performance of official Authority business or government.  A conflict of interest is a 
situation in which the financial, familial, or personal interests of an officer, director, employee or agent 
engaged in activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority come into actual or 
perceived conflict with their duties and responsibilities with the Authority.  Perceived conflicts of interest 
are situations where there is the appearance that an officer, director, employee or agent engaged in 
activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority can personally benefit from actions or 
decisions made in their official capacity, or where an officer, director, employee or agent engaged in 
activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority may be influenced to act in a manner 
that does not represent the best interests of the Authority.  The perception of a conflict may occur if 
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circumstances would suggest to a reasonable person that an officer, director, employee or agent engaged 
in activities on behalf of and/or under the direction of the Authority may have a conflict. The appearance 
of a conflict and an actual conflict are treated in the same manner for the purposes of this Policy. 

C. DIRECTOR - Includes every member of the Board of Directors of the Authority, whether compensated or 
uncompensated, and whether voting or non-voting. 

D. EMPLOYEE - Persons who are not officers, but whose salaries are paid in whole or in part by the Authority. 

E. FAMILY - Includes a spouse and unemancipated minor children residing in the same household with their 
parents. 

F. OFFICER - Includes every officer of the Authority, whether compensated or uncompensated. 

 
3. Treatment of the Public 
 

A. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority always shall conduct the activities of the 
Authority in full compliance with the law and in an honest, fair, equitable, and courteous manner. 

B. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall maintain good relationships with all 
members of the public, whether a person, private business, or other organization. 

C. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not permit personal preferences and 
dislikes to affect decisions related to their duties. 

D. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall treat all members of the public, whether a 
person, private business, or other organization, with equal consideration and without special advantage. 

E. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall also endeavor to pursue a course of 
conduct which will not raise suspicion among the public that he or she is likely to be engaged in acts that 
are in violation of his or her trust. 

F. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall reflect these standards of conduct in their 
oral and written statements representing the Authority with all members of the public, whether a person, 
private business, or other organization. 

 
4. Responsibilities of Officers, Directors, Employees, and Agents 
 

A. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall manage all matters within the scope of 
ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŀƴȅ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŀŦŦƛƭƛŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƻǊ ŜƳǇƭƻȅƳŜƴǘΦ  5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ŜȄ 
officio board members, and employees employed by more than one unit of government shall strive to 
fulfill their professional responsibility to the !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ōƛŀǎ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
mission to the fullest. 

B. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not engage in any act that is in conflict 
with their duties toward the Authority or its mission, or that gives the appearance of such a conflict of 
interest, or that creates a situation where their own private interests are brought into conflict with that of 
the Authority. 

C. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall perform their duties with transparency 
and without favor; must conduct themselves at all times in a manner that avoids any appearance that 
they can be improperly or unduly influenced, that they could be affected by the position of or relationship 
with any other party, or that they are acting in violation of their public trust; and must avoid any other 
circumstance that may or appear to make it difficult for the individual to exercise independent judgment 
and properly exercise his or her official duties. 

D. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall refrain from engaging in outside matters 
of financial or personal interest, direct or indirect, in any person, firm, corporation or association which 
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has or will have a transaction, agreement or any other arrangement in which the authority participates; 
shall refrain from engaging in any business transaction or professional activity, including other 
ŜƳǇƭƻȅƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŎǊŜŀǘŜ ŀ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŎƻƴŦƭƛŎǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭΩǎ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΤ 
shall refrain from incurring any obligation of any nature, for which the officer, director, employee or agent 
ǿƛƭƭ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǝŀƛƴ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊΩǎΣ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎΣ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜΩǎ ƻǊ ŀƎŜƴǘΩǎ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻǊ 
authority, or that could impair independence of judgment, and prevent the proper exercise of their 
official duties, or that is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of their duties; and shall not use 
his or her position, confidential information or the assets of the Authority, to his or her personal 
advantage. 

E. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not disclose, without proper authority, 
confidential information acquired in the course of their official duties concerning the property or affairs of 
the Authority in a manner inconǎƛǎǘŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ {ǘŀǘŜ ƻǊ ƭƻŎŀƭ ƭŀǿ ƻǊ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
goals. 

F. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not directly or indirectly, use, make, 
advise, or assist any person to make any financial investment based upon information available through 
ǘƘŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊΩǎΣ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎΣ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜΩǎ ŀƴŘ ŀƎŜƴǘΩǎ ƻŦŦƛŎƛŀƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƻǊ ƻǘƘŜǊ 
private interest of said officer, director, employee, or agent or others or create any conflict of interest 
between their public duties and interests and their private interests 

G. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority may not engage in any official transaction with 
an outside entity in which they have a direct or indirect financial interest that may reasonably conflict 
with the proper discharge of their official duties, and shall not obtain, receive, possess any financial 
interest in any sale to or by the Authority of any service or property, when such financial interest was 
received with the proper knowledge that the Authority intended to purchase such property or obtain such 
services. 

H. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not (1) engage in or accept private 
employment or engage in any business transaction or professional activity or (2) solicit or receive any gift 
or gratuity or free service of any amount or (3) make any investment, under any circumstances that (1) 
will impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of his or her official duties, or (2) will 
interfere in any manner whatsoever with the discharge of his or her official duties, or (3) will compete 
with or operate against the purposes of the Authority, or (4) will create a reasonable inference that such 
private employment, business transaction, professional activity, gift, gratuity, free service or investment 
(a) was intended to influence him/her, or could reasonably be expected to influence him/her, in the 
performance of his/her official duties or (2) was intended as a tip, reward, or sign of appreciation for any 
official act by the individual.  This prohibition against gifts, gratuities, and free services extends to any 
form of financial payments, services, loans, travel reimbursement, entertainment, hospitality, things or 
promises from any entity doing business with or before the Authority. 

I. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not use or attempt to use their official 
position with the Authority to secure unwarranted privileges or special treatment or private benefit for 
themselves, members of their family or others, including employment with the Authority or contracts for 
materials or services with the Authority. 

J. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority shall not use Authority property, including 
equipment, telephones, vehicles, computers, or other resources in furtherance of their personal or 
private interests. 

K. Directors and employees are prohibited from appearing or practicing before the Authority for two (2) 
years following employment with the Authority, consistent with the provisions of Public Officers Law. 

L. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority who exercise any functions or responsibilities 
ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ƻǊ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ ƻŦ ŀƴ ǳƴŘŜǊǘŀƪƛƴƎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Ŏƻƴǘracts or 
operations shall not participate in any decision relating to that contract if the decision affects his or her 
personal pecuniary interest. 
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M. Should any situation arise in which a member of the family of an officer, director, employee or agent of 
the Authority is involved in any business transaction or professional activity or makes any investment that 
ǿƛƭƭ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊΩǎΣ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎΣ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜΩǎ ƻǊ ŀƎŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
independence of judgment in the exercise of his or her official duties, or that will interfere in any manner 
whatsoever with the discharge of his or her official duties, or that will compete with or operate against 
the purposes of the Authority, or that will create and actual or potential conflict of interest, or any other 
circumstance that may or appear to make it difficult for the officer, director, employee or agent to 
exercise independent judgment and properly exercise his or her official duties, the officer, director, 
employee or agent of the Authority shall declare such actual or potential conflict, and directors shall 
abstain from voting or otherwise officially acting with respect to the subject matters affected.  No board 
member or employee may participate in any decision or take any official action with respect to any matter 
requiring the exercise of discretion, including discussing the matter and voting, when he or she knows or 
has reason to know that the action could confer a direct or indirect financial or material benefit on himself 
or herself, a relative, or any organization in which he or she is deemed to have an interest.  Board 
members and employees must recuse themselves from deliberations, votes, or internal discussion on 
matters relating to any organization, entity or individual where their impartiality in the deliberation or 
vote might be reasonably questioned, and are prohibited from attempting to influence other board 
members or employees in the deliberation and voting on the matter. 

N. The foregoing acts are listed by way of example and are by no means to be deemed all-inclusive.  Every 
officer, director, employee and agent of the Authority shall endeavor to pursue a course of conduct which 
will not raise suspicion among the public that he or she is likely to be engaged in acts that are in violation 
of his or her trust. 

 
5. Implementation of Code of Ethics 
 

A. This Code of Ethics shall be provided to all officers, directors, employees, and agents of the Authority 
upon commencement of appointment or employment or agency designation, respectively, and such 
individuals shall be required to acknowledge in writing that they have read, understand and are in 
compliance with the terms of the policy. 

B. Officers, directors, employees, and agents of the Authority should review on an ongoing basis 
circumstances that constitute a conflict of interest, the appearance of a conflict of interest, or other 
violation of this Policy and shall abide by this policy and seek guidance when necessary and appropriate. 

C. The Board may designate an Ethics Officer, who shall report to the Board and shall have the following 
duties: 

ω Counsel in confidence officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority who seek advice 
about ethical behavior. 

ω Receive and investigate complaints about possible ethics violations. 

ω Dismiss complaints found to be without substance. 

ω Prepare an investigative report of their findings for action by the Chief Executive Officer or the board. 

ω Record the receipt of gifts or gratuities of any kind received by an officer, director, employee or agent 
of the Authority, who shall notify the Ethics Officer within 48 hours of receipt of such gifts and 
gratuities. 

D. The Board may assign the following duties to the Governance Committee: 

ω Counsel in confidence officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority who seek advice 
about ethical behavior. 

ω Receive and investigate complaints about possible ethics violations. 
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ω Dismiss complaints found to be without substance. 

ω Prepare an investigative report of their findings for action by the Chief Executive Officer or the board. 

ω Record the receipt of gifts or gratuities of any kind received by an officer, director, employee or agent 
of the Authority, who shall notify the Ethics Officer within 48 hours of receipt of such gifts and 
gratuities. 

E. The Board may designate that the Board, or the Governance Committee, or the Ethics Officer may have 
responsibility for investigating reported violations of this Policy.  The Board shall require that all such 
reported violations ultimately must be reported by the investigating designate(s) to the Board, and 
discussed in open meeting, with final disposition of the matter to be the responsibility of the Board. 

F. The minutes of the AǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǿƘƛŎƘ possible unethical behavior or acts or 
circumstances inconsistent with or in violation of this Code of Ethics (including perceived or actual 
conflicts of interest) is disclosed or discussed shall reflect the name of the interested person, the nature of 
the behavior, acts, or circumstances, and a description of how the situation or conflict was resolved. 

G. This Code of Ethics shall be reviewed annually by the Governance Committee, which shall make 
recommendations to the Board for revision as it deems appropriate. 

 

6. Reporting Behavior or Acts or Circumstances Inconsistent with the Code of Ethics 
 

A. Officers, directors, employees and agents of the Authority are required to promptly report in writing and 
in good faith any material facts relating to possible unethical behavior or acts or circumstances 
inconsistent with or in violation of this Code of Ethics to the Authority Board (including information about 
the nature of the behavior, acts, or circumstance, and information about the violation or actual/perceived 
conflict), to his or her supervisor, to the AǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ Ethics Officer, to the Governance Committee or any 
member thereof, to general counsel, ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ human resources representative, or to another 
designate(s) of the Board, in accordance with this Policy and the AǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ²ƘƛǎǘƭŜōƭƻǿŜǊ tƻƭƛŎȅ ŀƴŘ 
Procedures. 

B. The Governance Committee and/or Ethics Officer shall advise the individual who appears to have a 
conflict of interest how to proceed.  The Governance Committee and/or Ethics Officer should seek 
guidance from counsel or New York State agencies, such as the Authorities Budget Office, State Inspector 
General or the Joint Commission on Public Ethics (JCOPE) when dealing with cases where they are unsure 
of what to do. 

C. Individuals and other entities may file ethics complaints anonymously and are protected from retaliation 
by the policies adopted by the Authority. 

 
7. Penalties for Violations of Standards of Conduct Policy 
 
A. Any director or employee that fails to comply with this Policy may be penalized in the manner provided for in 

law, rules or regulations. 

B. Any individual willfully violating either Article 18 of the General Municipal Law or any provision of this Code of 
Ethics shall be subject to the civil penalties herein and may also be guilty of a misdemeanor according to public 
law. 

C. Directors and officers of the Authority determined to be in negligent or intentional violation of this Code of 
Ethics shall be subject to immediate removal from such appointment. 

D. Any employee or agent determined to be in negligent or intentional violation of this Code of Ethics shall be 
subject to penalties up to and including termination from employment or agency relationship and/or loss of 
Ǉŀȅ ƴƻǘ ǘƻ ŜȄŎŜŜŘ ƻƴŜ όмύ ƳƻƴǘƘϥǎ ǎŀƭŀǊȅ ƻǊ ƻƴŜ όмύ ƳƻƴǘƘΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎ ŘǳŜΦ 
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E. In addition to the sanction for aiding, abetting, seeking or requesting a violation of this Code of Ethics, any 
person or organization that willfully attempts to secure preferential treatment in its dealing with the Authority 
by offering any valuable gifts, whether in the form of a service, loan, thing or promise, in any form to any 
officer, director, employee or agent of the Authority shall be subject to having its current contracts with the 
Authority canceled and shall be subject to not being allowed to bid on any other Authority contract for a 
period of two (2) years. 

 
Adopted on December 7, 2015 by Resolution of the 

Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben 
Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority 

  
Name    

  Secretary   
Office    

  December 7, 2015  
Date    
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Description of the Authority and its Board Structure 
 
 
Names of Board Members and Biographical Information 
(as of December 31, 2016) 
 

Michael Brisky 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Employed by New York State Senator Joseph Giglio 
 

Seth Corwin 

¶ Resident of Steuben County 

¶ Affiliated with Operation Lifesaver 
 

Richard Dixon 

¶ Resident of Chautauqua County 

¶ Chief Financial Officer of the County of Chautauqua Industrial Development Agency 
 

Terry Everetts 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Traffic Manager for rail shipping company Dresser Rand Inc. in Cattaraugus County 
 

Adam Gorczyca 

¶ Resident of Chautauqua County 

¶ Purchasing Supervisor for rail shipping company RHI Monofrax in Chautauqua County 
 

Jay Gould 

¶ Resident of Chautauqua County 

¶ Chairman of Chautauqua County Legislature 
 

James Griffin 

¶ Resident of Steuben County 

¶ Executive Director of the City of Hornell Industrial Development Agency 
 

Steven Havey 

¶ Resident of Allegany County 

¶ Tourism Specialist for the Greater Allegany Chamber of Commerce 
 

Robert Keis 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Board member of appointing entity Southern Tier West RPDB 
 

John Malter 

¶ Resident of Steuben County 

¶ Steuben County Legislator and certified public accountant 
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Earl McElfresh 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Small business owner and former Cattaraugus County Legislator 
 

Jerry Scott 

¶ Resident of Allegany County 

¶ Member of the Board of Directors of Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development 
Board 

 
Vacant 

¶ Member to be appointed by Allegany County 
 

Vacant 

¶ Non-voting member to be appointed by the Seneca Nation of Indians 
 
 
Names of Officers of the Board 
(as of December 31, 2016) 
 

Terry Everetts, Chairman 
Jay Gould, Vice Chairman 
James Griffin, Second Vice Chairman 

 
Names of Committees, Committee Members, and Committee Chairpersons 
(as of December 31, 2016) 
 

Executive Committee 
Terry Everetts, Chairman 
Jay Gould 
James Griffin 
Jerry Scott 
Vacancy (Allegany County) 
Vacancy (Seneca Nation of Indians) 
 
Audit Committee 
James Griffin, Chairman 
Jay Gould 
Robert Keis 
Earl McElfresh 
Vacancy, Allegany County 
 
Governance Committee 
Terry Everetts, Chairman 
Seth Corwin 
Adam Gorczyca 
Jerry Scott 
Vacancy (Allegany County) 
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Finance Committee 
STERA has not created a Finance Committee as it never has issued debt. 
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Lists of Board Meetings and Attendance for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
The Authority had scheduled four (4) meetings of its Board of Directors during 2016.  All meetings were 
ǇǊƻǇŜǊƭȅ ƴƻǘƛŎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎΦ  aƛƴǳǘŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ŦƻǳƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ 
web site.  Authority Board attendance for each meeting was as follows: 
 

March 7, 2016 STERA Board Meeting 
 

Board Members In Attendance   Representing   
Crystal Abers     Cattaraugus County 
Michael Brisky     Cattaraugus County 
Seth Corwin     Steuben County 
Rich Dixon     Chautauqua County 
Terry Everetts     Cattaraugus County 
Steve Havey     Allegany County 
Jerry Scott     Southern Tier West RPDB 

 
Board Members Not In Attendance  Representing   
Adam Gorczyca     Chautauqua County 
Jay Gould     Chautauqua County 
James Griffin     Steuben County 
Randolph Weaver    Steuben County 
Vacant      Allegany County 
Vacant      Allegany County 
Vacant      Seneca Nation of Indians 

 
June 6, 2016 STERA Board Meeting 

 
Board Members In Attendance   Representing   
Crystal Abers     Cattaraugus County 
Michael Brisky     Cattaraugus County 
Seth Corwin     Steuben County 
Rich Dixon     Chautauqua County 
Terry Everetts     Cattaraugus County 
Jay Gould     Chautauqua County 
James Griffin     Steuben County 
Robert Keis     Southern Tier West RPDB 
Jerry Scott     Allegany County 

 
Board Members Not In Attendance  Representing   
Adam Gorczyca     Chautauqua County 
Steve Havey     Allegany County 
Randolph Weaver    Steuben County 
Vacant      Allegany County 
Vacant      Seneca Nation of Indians 
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October 3, 2016 STERA Board Meeting 
 

Board Members In Attendance   Representing   
Seth Corwin     Steuben County 
Rich Dixon     Chautauqua County 
Adam Gorczyca     Chautauqua County 
Jay Gould     Chautauqua County 
James Griffin     Steuben County 
Steve Havey     Allegany County 
Robert Keis     Southern Tier West RPDB 
Earl McElfresh     Cattaraugus County 
Jerry Scott     Allegany County 

 

Board Members Not In Attendance  Representing   
Michael Brisky     Cattaraugus County 
Terry Everetts     Cattaraugus County 
Randolph Weaver    Steuben County 
Vacant      Allegany County 
Vacant      Seneca Nation of Indians 

 

December 5, 2016 STERA Board Meeting 
 

Board Members In Attendance   Representing   
Michael Brisky     Cattaraugus County 
Seth Corwin     Steuben County 
Terry Everetts     Cattaraugus County 
Adam Gorczyca     Chautauqua County 
Jay Gould     Chautauqua County 
Steve Havey     Allegany County 
Earl McElfresh     Cattaraugus County 
Jerry Scott     Southern Tier West RPDB 

 
Board Members Not In Attendance  Representing   
Rich Dixon     Chautauqua County 
James Griffin     Steuben County 
Robert Keis     Southern Tier West RPDB 
Randolph Weaver    Steuben County 
Vacant      Allegany County 
Vacant      Seneca Nation of Indians 
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Board Attendance Evaluation for the year ending December 31, 2016 
 
 
The following is an alphabetical attendance report for the members of the Authority Board of Directors 
for meetings of the Board of Directors held in 2016.  All members were active participants at meetings 
of the Authority Board of Directors that they attended. 
 
 

Number of Meetings  
In 2016 for which the  Number of Percentage of 
Member was a Member Meetings Meetings 

Board Member  of the Board of Directors Attended Attended 

Crystal Abers   2    2  100% 
Michael Brisky   4    3  75% 
Seth Corwin   4    4  100% 
Richard Dixon   4    3  75% 
Terry Everetts   4    3  75% 
Adam Gorczyca    4    2  50% 
Jay Gould   4    3  75% 
James Griffin   4    2  50% 
Steven Havey   4    3  75% 
Robert Keis   3    2  67% 
Earl McElfresh   2    2  100% 
Jerry Scott   4    4  100% 
Randolph Weaver  4    0  0% 
Vacant (Note 4)   4    0  0% 
Vacant (Note 4)   1    0  0% 
Vacant (Note 5)   4    0  0% 
 
Note 1:  Mr. Scott represented Southern Tier West RPDB at the March meeting.  At the June and 
subsequent meetings, he represented Allegany County. 

Note 2:  Mr. Keis was appointed to represent Southern Tier West RPDB at the June and 
subsequent meetings. 

Note 3:  Mr. McElfresh was appointed to represent Cattaraugus County at the October and 
subsequent meetings, replacing Ms. Abers. 

Note 4:  Allegany County had one membership vacancy for all four meetings in 2016, and a 
second vacancy for the March meeting. 

Note 5:  Member to be appointed by the Seneca Nation of Indians ς position vacant throughout 
2016; no meeting attendance during 2016. 
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STERA Annual Board Performance Evaluation Report 
 

Prepared for the Year Ending December 31, 2015 
Reviewed/Approved March 7, 2016 

 

Criteria Agree 
Somewhat 

Agree 
Somewhat 
Disagree Disagree 

1. Board members have a shared understanding of the 
mission and purpose of the Authority.  11 0 0 0 

2. The policies, practices and decisions of the Board are 
always consistent with this mission.  11 0 0 0 

3. Board members comprehend their role and fiduciary 
responsibilities and hold themselves and each other to 
these principles.  10 1 0 0 

4. The Board has adopted policies, by-laws, and practices 
for the effective governance, management and operations 
of the Authority and reviews these annually.  11 0 0 0 

5. The Board sets clear and measurable performance goals 
for the Authority that contribute to accomplishing its 
mission.  10 1 0 0 

6. The decisions made by Board members are arrived at 
through independent judgment and deliberation, free of 
political influence, pressure or self-interest.  11 0 0 0 

7. Individual Board members communicate effectively with 
executive staff so as to be well informed on the status of 
all important issues.  11 0 0 0 

8. Board members are knowledgeable about the 
!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ 
requirements, and other transactions.  9 2 0 0 
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9. The Board meets to review and approve all documents 
and reports prior to public release and is confident that the 
information being presented is accurate and complete.  11 0 0 0 

10. The Board knows the statutory obligations of the 
Authority and if the Authority is in compliance with state 
law.  10 1 0 0 

11. Board and committee meetings facilitate open, 
deliberate and thorough discussion, and the active 
participation of members.  11 0 0  0 

12. Board members have sufficient opportunity to 
research, discuss, question and prepare before decisions 
are made and votes taken.  11 0 0 0  

13. Individual Board members feel empowered to delay 
votes, defer agenda items, or table actions if they feel 
additional information or discussion is required.  11 0 0 0 

14. The Board exercises appropriate oversight of the CEO 
and other executive staff, including setting performance 
expectations and reviewing performance annually.  11 0 0 0 

15. The Board has identified the areas of most risk to the 
Authority and works with management to implement risk 
mitigation strategies before problems occur.  11 0 0 0 

16. Board members demonstrate leadership and vision and 
work respectfully with each other.  11 0 0 0 

     Total 171 5 0 0 
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Descriptions of Major Authority Units and Subsidiaries 

 
The Authority had no major operating units or divisions, nor any subsidiaries during the year ending 
December 31, 2016. 
 
 
Names of Officers of the Corporation and Biographical Information 
 

Corporate Officers 
 

Richard Zink Chief Executive Officer 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Executive Director of the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board 
 

Robert Keis Chief Financial Officer 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Board Chairman of the Southern Tier West Regional Planning and Development Board 
 

Thomas Barnes  Secretary 

¶ Resident of Cattaraugus County 

¶ Senior Regional Economic Development Coordinator of the Southern Tier West Regional 
Planning and Development Board 

 
 
Number of Employees 
 
The Authority did not have any employees during 2016. 
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Organizational Chart  
 
Following on the next page is an organizational chart of the Authority.  ¢ƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 
organizational structure is comprised solely of the Board of Directors, its committees, and Corporate 
Officers.  There are no employees.  There are no subsidiary or affiliate organizations. 
 
The six entities indicated in the topmost level of the chart on the next page have legal authority for 
appointing members to the STERA Board of Directors.  This appointment relationship is denoted by a 
dotted line between the topmost level and the STERA Board of Directors immediately below.  However, 
ǘƘŜ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘƛƴƎ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǊƳŀƭƭȅ ŀ ŎƻƳǇƻƴŜƴǘ ƻŦ {¢9w!Ωǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΦ 
 
hǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ ²Ŝǎǘ wŜƎƛƻƴŀƭ tƭŀƴƴƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ƭŜƎŀƭ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ to 
ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘ ƻƴŜ όмύ ƳŜƳōŜǊ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘΣ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ 
²Ŝǎǘ wŜƎƛƻƴŀƭ tƭŀƴƴƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ .ƻŀǊŘ ƛǎ ŀƴ ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ 
exclusively to the provision of staffing and administrative services by Southern Tier West to the 
!ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΦ  !ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎƭȅ {ƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ¢ƛŜǊ ²Ŝǎǘ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǊƳŀƭƭȅ ŀ ŎƻƳǇƻƴŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 
organizational structure. 
 
The next level below the STERA Board of Directors contains both committees and Corporate Officers. 
 
{¢9w!Ωǎ ōȅƭŀǿǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŦƻǊ ŦƛǾŜ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜǎΤ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊ, STERA has not yet created a Finance Committee, 
inasmuch as it never has issued any debt.  All STERA committee members are members of the STERA 
Board of Directors.  Members and chairpersons of each committee are appointed by the Chairperson of 
the STERA Board, and appointments are ratified by the STERA Board.  The Nominating Committee is a 
temporary committee that is appointed annually to propose a slate of Board and Corporate Officers for 
election at the Annual Meeting. 
 
The Corporate Officers (CEO, CFO, and Secretary) report to the STERA Board.  These Corporate Officers 
are not employees of STERA.  STERA has no employees. 
 
At present, there are no other internal hierarchical relationships in the STERA organizational structure.  
STERA also has no subsidiaries or affiliates. 
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STERA Organizational Structure 
 
 

 
 


